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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

ANNUAL REVIEW

The year 2019 marked the first full financial year following the
Company’s shares having been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 12 November 2018. It was a year in
which opportunities and pressure coexisted and it was also a
rewarding year in which a glorious brand-new chapter was unveiled.
Pursuing the Group’s annual and medium and long-term goals,
all employees worked hard together, putting in untiring efforts,
made bold adjustments, carried out various work with a down-to-
earth attitude to achieve steady progress, which has laid a solid
foundation for the future rapid development of the Group.

“Hengda (1B#£)”is a reputable brand name in the real estate industry
in Xuchang City. Thanks to the vigorous efforts it has devoted
over the past 27 years of development, it has become one of the
leading real estate development companies in Xuchang City, Henan
Province. It is believed that with the Group’s extensive experience
in the real estate industry, coupled with its highly-recognized brand
and high-quality professional services, the Group will continue to
seize development opportunities in the real estate industry and
further expand its business, thereby consolidating and enhancing
the Group’s market position.

The Group continued to extensively explore Xuchang region over the
past year, taking advantage of its popularity and rich management
experience in the region to speed up its expansion. Meanwhile, in
the face of pressure arising from market and economic regulations,
the Group strived to make quality and services to advance in
parallel, increased the turnover rate, and continued to consolidate
and enhance market share in the local region. The Group proactively
sought suitable development opportunities through the brand power
of a listed company while strengthening market development efforts
in other regions of the province, making unremitting efforts for the
realization of medium and long-term goals.

Under the overarching principle that “residential properties are
for living, not speculation” implemented by the Group in 2019,
the Group took the initiative to facilitate the urban redevelopment
and responded to inelastic demand for housing to contribute
to the society. As such, we delivered spectacular results to our
shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s total revenue
was approximately RMB1,974.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately 4.8% from approximately RMB1,883.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the net profit was approximately RMB290.8
million, representing an increase of approximately 26.5% from
approximately RMB229.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2018.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

OUTLOOK

China’s real estate industry in 2020 will have its focuses made
along the line of “stable” and “balance”. Against the backdrop of
intensifying downward pressure of the national economy and in
the face of the outbreak of novel coronavirus, COVID-19, that has
swept across the country, which posed challenges to the anti-
pressure capability of market-oriented economy. It is fundamental
that the real estate industry should stand up to stabilize the
market under such circumstances. The balance between supply
and demand will also pose an issue in the later stage. In the short
term, the real estate transaction volume nationwide will shrink due
to the epidemic, but the inelastic demand for housing may increase
following the end of the epidemic. Therefore, the real estate industry
is required to make dynamic adjustments to stabilize the market.

The approval of a series of national and local positioning, such as
the overall strategy of “Rise of Central China (% &BUg #£)”, promotion
of Zhengzhou City to be China’s central city, and the “Integration of
Zhengzhou and Xuchang” proposed by the relevant governmental
authorities have provided guidelines for the development direction
of Henan Province and Xuchang City. As China’s restrictions on
settlement policy for most cities are loosened, Henan Province,
being a populous province in China, will obviously reap the
benefits brought by this policy. In addition, various localities have
adopted suitable real estate policies to support reasonable housing
consumption, which will further stabilize the real estate market.
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There are new challenges coming out in the new year. Impacted by
the outbreak of novel coronavirus across China, all industries have
been under great pressure. As a responsible enterprise, the Group
also assumes corresponding social responsibilities.

Looking forward, the Group will continue striving to further adjust
the reform plan, improve efficiency, raise quality, and increase brand
awareness. In the coming year, the Group will, (i) increase marketing
efforts to accelerate the return of funds to minimize impacts during
the time of the epidemic; (ii) increase operational management
efforts to achieve a balance between plan and progress amid
operational efficiency of various projects within the shortest possible
time; (iii) enhance the efforts in the training of talents and adjust
the staff structure in order to nourish multi-talented personnel in
management and technology and build up core competitiveness;
and (iv) foster innovative thinking by seeking cooperation, M&A
and investment opportunities through flexible methods, taking
advantage of its brand influence in Henan Province to promote the
healthy and stable development of the Group.

In 2020, the Group will strive to seize opportunities and proactively
cope with challenges. The Group will pursue progress while
ensuring stability. | believe that, we will mount new height while
marching forward and make new contributions to the Group and
shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
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our shareholders, business partners, customers and suppliers for
their support and trust on behalf of the Board. | also thank the
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Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
Li Xiaobing
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2019, China maintained its stability-oriented real estate policy,
with full implementation of policy being carried out in specific cities,
which fell into three aspects from the analysis of the policy. The
first was to stabilise the real estate market, gradually loosening
settlement policy in cities; the second was to narrow the sources of
funding of capital for the real estate industry; and the third was not
to utilize real estate as a short-term stimulus to the economy while
re-emphasizing the market orientation of “residential properties are
for living, not speculation”. The real estate industry’s basic operating
system has been improving, laying a solid foundation for further
implementation of long-term real estate management mechanism.
On the whole, the operating policy environment for China’s real
estate market in 2019 was difficult due to tightening of policy as
compared with previous years.

In 2019, the real estate industry grew at an accelerated pace, major
real estate enterprises nationally or regionally were proactively
seizing opportunities, adopting flexible policies to improve efficiency
and grasp returns. The industry’s financing channels contracted
with corporate financing becoming more difficult. Major real estate
enterprises nationally or regionally strengthened cash control to
ease capital pressure. In general, policy adjustment and tightening
of financing have become two major headwinds faced by the real
estate industry.

In 2019, Henan’s economy maintained an overall stable and positive
growth trend. Investment in real estate development increased by
about 6.4%; the gross floor area (“GFA”) of commercial housing
sales was approximately 140 million square meters, an increase of
approximately 2.1% over last year; sales of commercial housing
reached approximately RMB901.0 billion, an increase of about
11.9% over last year. The Group’s contracted sales of commercial
housing in 2019 was approximately RMB2.5 billion, a year-on-year
increase of approximately 1.9%. Facing the severe environment of
property industry in 2019, the Group’s contracted saleable GFA
decreased slightly, but the contracted sales of commercial housing
increased, reflecting the contracted ASP increased steadily and the
Group’s regional strength and anti-pressure capability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2019, Xuchang City boasted considerable development
momentum, taking a big step towards high-quality development.
The “1718” investment promotion plan, being the 171 key projects
prioritized by the city, was implemented across the city, achieving
annual investment of more than RMB100.0 billion, and striving to
drive the city’s fixed asset investment growth rate of more than
8.0%. The plan will continue to increase effective investment,
constantly introduce changes in quality, efficiency and capabilities
with regard to economic development, providing strong support for
Xuchang to lead the way in the Central Plains of the PRC.

The “Integration of Zhengzhou and Xuchang” has opened up new
opportunities for Xuchang City to integrate into the development
of Zhengzhou. It has also brought about a unique opportunity
for Xuchang City to undergo a new round of rapid development
whose ranking in terms of city development in China has been
continuously on the rise. Possessing strong industrial strength
locally, Xuchang City kept its employment level stable and its
income level increasing. The overall development of the city was
improving. The level of this city’s development in the province or
even, to the extent, in China has been soaring, thereby supporting
the stable development of Xuchang’s real estate industry and also
bringing ample room for imagination and development momentum
for the property market.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

By continuing to adhere to the principle of “Integrity Management,
Fulfilling Every Promise”, the Group, with outstanding innovation
spirit and untiring efforts, makes due contributions to society with
sincerity, kindness and responsibility. In 2019, the Group was
awarded the “Top 100 Private Enterprises in Henan Province” (A &
RZ1™21005%) by the Industry & Commerce Association of Henan
Province (A1 F4& T4 2), and was again awarded the “Top 100
Modern Services in Private Enterprises in Henan Province”(jal Fa R

S EIRRAREZE10058).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has been working towards its annual and mid to long-
term goals by making progress in internal management, project
operation, brand promotion, standardization, and information
construction. In 2019, the Group continued its expansion, acquiring
a total of approximately 248,854 square meters of land through
the process of bidding invitation, auction or listing, of which (i)
approximately 124,213 square meters of land was acquired in
Xuchang City; (ii) approximately 57,200 square meters of land
was acquired in Yuzhou City; (i) approximately 25,533 square
meters of land was acquired in Changge City; (iv) approximately
6,199 square meters of land was acquired in Yanling County; and
(v) approximately 35,709 square meters of land was acquired in
Xiangcheng County.

In 2019, we took the initiative to launch different solutions in respect
of sales of properties, of which the sales of Mingmen Xijun, Jinhui
Plaza and King of the North were satisfactory with increased total
contracted sales as compared with 2018. At the same time, the
Group continued to develop projects, including Hengda Lanjun (18
ZBEF), Hengda Heyuan (183 #1H), Jinhui Plaza Commercial (&
M Z 5 2E) and Yuzhou Binhefu (&1 T& A /), providing steady
growth momentum for our sales and performance in the coming
years.

The Group adhered to the business model of developing mixed
residential and commercial properties, which significantly increased
the overall value of residential projects and enhanced the Group’s
brand image and reputation. At the same time, by renting out
commercial properties and properties for sale, the Group can
generate stable income streams from rents and generate cash flows
at the same time, which can also spur the final sale of properties
for sale.
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Land reserves

Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2019, the GFA of the Group’s land reserves was

approximately 3.9 million square meters (“sq.m.”). The table below

sets forth a summary of the land reserves as at 31 December 2019

EEEFRE

Tk fEE

AT

R2019% 128318 » REE M FEENE
HEEBELNAEFHK (TEFK]) - T
FEFFR2019F 12 A31 BRI S| o r £

by geographical location: AL E -
Under Future
Completed development development
BRI g RRBIE
Completed
saleable/
leasable GFA GFA under Planned Total land % of total
remaining unsold development GFA reserve land reserve
BTREEMN
AHE A B g HE Mt hHE L
ERIEEER BEEE BEEE EX] mEAD
sq.m. sg.m. sg.m. sg.m. %
FRK FIHAR FrK FHK %
Xuchang City HEm
Weidu District HiE 51,327 596,686 405,518 1,053,531 27.1
Jian’an District B 67,265 86,530 146,930 300,725 7.7
Yuzhou City &N T 27,5614 587,583 1,198,680 1,808,777 46.5
Changge City REM 30,745 232,060 250,687 513,492 13.2
Yanling County Boh 5% 14,154 112,727 - 126,881 3.3
Xiangcheng County 23445 - - 87,850 87,850 2.2
Total et 191,005 1,615,586 2,084,665 3,891,256 100.0
Note: Land reserves equal the sum of (i) total completed saleable/leasable Wizt THREESEROBR T REENATH

GFA remaining unsold, (i) total GFA under development and (iii) total

planned GFA held for future development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Contracted Sales

The table below sets forth a breakdown of our major types of
contracted sales and contracted average selling price (“ASP”):

BEKEERE

TREINBMETZHEAINAREEENE
RFHEE ([FHEE]) 1A

For the year ended

31 December % change
BZ12A31HLLEE SEEDL
2019 2018 +/-
20194 20184 +/-
Contracted sales attributable to: UTRIBEREEREER !
Residential units (RMB, million) FEBEM (AREBAET) 2,260.5 1,954.5 +15.7%
Commercial units (RMB, million) BEEL (AREBET) 267.1 547.7 -51.2%
Car parking spaces (RMB, million) BEEL (AREBET) 74.4 146.4 -49.2%
Others (RMB, million) Hi (AREFET) 7.6 9.4 -19.1%
Total (RMB, miliion) it (ARBBESET) 2,609.6 2,658.0 -1.8%
Contracted saleable GFA/Lot attributable to: A T &IEREEARTHE
BEmE /8
Saleable GFA (sg.m.) AHERERE (FHXK) 378,235 381,793 -0.9%
Car parking space (Iot) EEA (@) 941 1,067 -11.8%
Contracted ASP attributable to: UTREREERTHERS
Saleable GFA (RMB/sq.m.) AHEEERE
(ANREETL/ FHK) 6,703 6,578 +1.9%
Car parking space (RMB/lot) FEf (AR, /@) 79,065 137,192 -42.4%

Our contracted ASP per sq.m. of saleable GFA increased by 1.9%
to approximately RMB6,703 per sg.m. in 2019. The increase in
2019 was mainly due to the increase in market price of properties
in Henan Province.

Our contracted ASP per lot for car parking space decreased by
42.4% to approximately RMB79,065 per lot in 2019 due to the
lower ASP of the car parking spaces at the Jinhui Plaza in 2019.
The high ASP of the car parking spaces at the Jinhui Plaza in
2018 was due to the rising market demand in last year, whereas
the normal ASP has been restored to adapt market demand since
2019. In addition, the ASP of car parking spaces in other projects
was stable in 2019 as compared to 2018.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results

The financial performance and results for the year ended 31
December 2019 were satisfactory. Key financial ratios have met
the expectation of the management.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue of the Group
reached approximately RMB1,974.1 million (2018: RMB1,883.6
million), representing an increase of approximately 4.8%.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB765.3
million (2018: RMB629.9 million), representing an increase of
approximately RMB135.4 million, or approximately 21.5%.

Gross profit margin was approximately 38.8% in 2019 (2018:
33.4%), representing an increase of approximately 16.2% as
compared with that in 2018.

Profit for the year increased by approximately RMB60.9 million, or
26.5%, from approximately RMB229.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMB290.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue

Our revenue was derived from (i) sales of properties and (ii) rental
income. The following table sets forth the breakdown of the revenue
and their respective percentages of contribution to the total revenue
for the years indicated:

BEE WA

Bt %5 [o] iR
ES

HE2019F 12 A31H It FEMFHERIE M
EESAME - T2 B REDEEE
TEHR -

REZE2019F12A31B LFE - KEEK
NED AR 974 1HETT (20184F : A
R#1,883.6 & L) ' #EMN494.8% °

AEEBRENHDARKISIBEE T
(2018%F : AR¥629.9B&T) © H MK
AR#135.48 8T (3#121.5%) °

2019F By £ F| & %) £38.8% (20184 :
33.4%) » B2018FER#A)16.2% °

FEFBHEZ2018F12A31HIEFEER
W ANR#220.9F B LI N AR #6097
BT (5026.5%) 2# £2019F12A318 1+
FEHHARE200.8B8T -

L ON
BAIRW AR B () EHE KBS UA -

TREIRFARFENRARALER R
PGB A B DL

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HLEE

2019 2018 % change

20195 20184 HEEH DL

RMB’000 % RMB’000 % +/-

ARETT % ARETFT % +/-

Sales of properties ¥ 4E 1,971,020 99.8 1,881,364 99.9 +4.8%
Rental income He WA 3,040 0.2 2,239 0.1 +35.8%
1,974,060 100.0 1,883,603 100.0 +4.8%
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The tables below set out the revenue from the sales of properties,

the total GFA units of properties recognised and the overall

TRFINEDEBRFNEDOMEHEW
A FRERMEMRREEE  BAAK

recognised ASP of our properties by property types: NEAEZIELY EERFHEE -
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2019 2018
20195 20184

GFA Recognised GFA  Recognised
Revenue recognised ASP per sq.m Revenue recognised ASP per sq.m
EHER EHER
BER  STHX BER  §TIK
A BEEE FHEE WA BEEE THER
RMB’000 sq.m. RMB RMB’000 sq.m. RMB
AREFTT FHK ARMT ARETT FK ARET
Residential = 1,710,974 305,165 5,607 1,247,429 233,765 5,336
Commercial EES 193,339 18,608 10,390 548,565 54,563 10,054
Storage HEE 10,290 4,178 2,463 11,149 3,852 2,894
1,914,603 327,951 5,838 1,807,143 292,180 6,185
Units Recognised Units  Recognised
Revenue recognised ASP per unit Revenue recognised  ASP per unit
2R EHR
[BY i+ BEN ER FE
O B THER WA B THER
RMB’000 lot RMB RMB’000 lot RMB
AREFR 182 AR%ET ARETFT G4 ARET
Car parking spaces {Z &1z 56,417 711 79,349 74,221 664 111,779

Sales of properties, which accounted for approximately 99.8%

(2018: 99.9%) of our total revenue for the year ended 31 December

2019, were contributed by the sales of residential and commercial

properties, storages and car parking spaces recognised in the year.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

HE2019F12A31HIEFE - MEHE
B 4915 M9 48 1R A #999.8% (20184F -
99.9%) * THRZFERRTEREEY
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our revenue increased by approximately RMB90.5 million or 4.8%
from approximately RMB1,883.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB1,974.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which was principally attributable to
the result of approximately RMB463.5 million increase in the sales
of our residential properties during the year ended 31 December
2019 despite partially offset by approximately RMB355.2 million
decrease in the sales of our commercial properties during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The increase in sales of residential properties was mainly due to the
effect of increase of GFA recognised from approximately 233,765
sg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
305,165 sqg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2019, representing
an increase of approximately 30.5% year-on-year.

The decrease in the sales of our commercial properties during
the year was primarily due to the effect of decrease in GFA
recognised for commercial properties of approximately 65.9%
principally attributable to the decrease in sales of Hengda Weiyuan
which contributed approximately RMB357.6 million in sales of
commercial properties for the year ended 31 December 2018 while
approximately RMB28.9 million in sales of commercial properties
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

EEEFRE

AT

R A B E E2018F12A318 14
EMHANREE1,883.6F 8 LI K AR
90.58 Bt (314.8%) =& =2019F 128
SIBLEFEMNHARE197418E T
DEZEHREE2019F12A31B EFER
MHEEMHEEEEMHARKI63.588
T BEDMHIWEE2019F12A31H EF
ERPMBEEDEHE TN ARES355.2
BE T -

FEVEHEEE MDD EEANCERESR
EERE E2018F 128318 IEEEND
233,765 F 7 KB I E#H E20195F12 431
HIEFER%I305,165F A K @ RIEG R
30.5% °

FRNEEMEHERD HEEZHNEER
RHERDSHEMECHRBEEDBER
L #965.9% - HRNE £2018F12H318 Lt
FEERTHARBIST6EBETLHEEY
EHEE  MEZE2019F12A318 EFE R
R THARME28.9E ETTHEEMEE

® o
=
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Gross profit and gross profit margin EMNREF R

The table below sets out the revenue, gross profit and gross profit TRESIZEBEREHHOWA - EFREF
margin by types: &R

Year ended 31 December

HZ12B31ALEE
2019 2018
20198 20186
Gross Gross
Cost of Gross profit Cost of Gross profit
Revenue sales profit Margin  Revenue sales profit Margin
KA HERK 5 EFZ WA HERA 7 EH=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000 %
ARETT AREFT AREFT % ARETT ANEEFT ARETTL %
Sales of properties MEHE
- Residential -fFE 1,710,974 1,040,085 670,889 39.2 1247429 940,640 306,789 24.6
- Commercial ES 193,339 95,424 97,915 50.6 548,565 265,902 282,663 5ilf5
- Car parking spaces - BB}
and storages REE 66,707 73,262 (6,555) (9.8) 85,370 47,179 38,191 44,7
Subtotal INet 1,971,020 1,208,771 762,249 38.7 1,881,364 1,258,721 627,643 334
Rental e 3,040 - 3,040 100.0 2,239 - 2,239 100.0
1,974,060 1,208,771 765,289 38.8 1,883,603 1,253,721 629,882 33.4

The overall gross profit margin of sales of properties and gross )2 E R B2 E F K B2018F B &Y
profit margin of sales of residential properties increased from 33.4%31% f1 E=20194F #938.7% * X EFEF|
approximately 33.4% in 2018 to 38.7% in 2019 and approximately & 20184 K #724.6%1E i1 220194 H)
24.6% in 2018 to 39.2% in 2019, respectively. 39.2% -

The gross profit margin of commercial properties slightly dropped Y E M EF E H2018F 1Y 4951.5%H8
from approximately 51.5% in 2018 to 50.6% in 2019, representing F£ZE2019F #950.6% * RIELB A HI1.7% o
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.7%.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The negative gross profit margin of sales of car parking spaces
and storage in year 2019 was due to the combined effects of (i)
decrease in market price of car parking spaces of certain project
in Xuchang City; and (ii) write-down of value of car parking spaces
of approximately RMB25,742,000 in 2019.

Profit for the year was approximately RMB290.8 million (2018:
RMB229.9 million), representing a growth of approximately
RMB60.9 million. It was mainly due to the (i) increase of our revenue
from approximately RMB1,883.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB1,974.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019; (ii) increase of other gain due to the
waive of interest payable to Mr. Lin Peiging, father-in law of Mr. Li
Xiaobing; and (iii) the improvement of our overall gross profit margin
from approximately 33.4% for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately 38.8% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Fair value gains on investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December
2019 by an independent professional qualified valuers, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued.

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s selling and
marketing expenses amounted to approximately of RMB63.5 million
(2018: RMB44.0 million), representing an increase of approximately
44.4% as compared to that in 2018. The increase was mainly due
to addition promotion activities and campaign for brand building
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

BEE WA

R019F HEREN BB AMENEREE
HR()R2019FFFEmMAE TIEE NIEEA
METER: (IFELBEMBNARE
25,742,000TTHI4R & R B FTEL ©

FRFBEL A ARM290.8F &t (2018
F: ARM200E5ET)  BERHARK
B0.9E BT ° ZEEREZHMNOHBEMAUKA
HAEZE2018F 12 A1 L FEMHARKE
1,883.6 8 & 7T 1 £ # £2019F 12 A31H
miEE@%@AE%,gMJE%ﬁ (i) 7
HMEEMN T NKEENEIMEELE
B I B, T B B i U s 3 0 ¢ (i) B API AY
BEENRABET2018F12A31BILF/E
M %133.4% 12 = EH £2019F 128318 1t
FEMXI38.8% °

REMEN D FEY S

REBWTEMER2019F12 A31 BB
S EESEREERL AR EER
NEEITHE  ZAREAERITMNEEH
BERERI Y ATEENIRE Y ¥ A 2L
EATHEE -

HERMBHERAX

REE2019F12A31H L FE - A& H
FSEHERTBERERINAARKE35H
BL (2018F : AR¥44.058 L) ' &
2018F R A)44.4%  ZIBMPIEEHK
REZ2019F12A31ALFERARES R
IR E RS EEE -
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately 9.4% from
approximately RMB100.0 million in 2018 to approximately RMB90.6
million in 2019, the decrease of administrative expenses was mainly
due to the decrease of listing expenses.

Finance costs - net

Finance costs primarily consisted of (i) interest expenses on bank
and other borrowings; and (i) interest on pre-sale deposits received,
less interest expenses which were capitalised to the extent that
such costs are directly attributable to property development
projects. Our finance costs increased by approximately 63.9% from
approximately RMB44.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately RMB72.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. Such increase was mainly due to the increase
in interest capitalised on pre-sale deposits received for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily attributable to
the increase in proceeds from pre-sale properties (record as
“contract liabilities”) from approximately RMB2,030.5 million as
at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB2,716.3 million as at
31 December 2019.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly comprised of the PRC corporate
income tax expense and land appreciation tax arising from our
PRC subsidiaries. Income tax expenses increased by approximately
15.7% or RMB30.7 million from approximately RMB195.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 to the approximately RMB226.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was in line
with increase of our profit in 2019.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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TR

THH X B2018F M4 A R100.08 8
TOR A 499.4% ZE2019F M AR EQ0.6H
B TBRAIBAI T EEHR LELTHXE
WAFTEL -

BRAE — FHE

BT RR AR E ERIE()RTT R E A B A F B
A RiliCWESZReOHNE - IKRE
BAREOFERL  EUAEEK AR R A
MHEFREZEBAABERE - RAOEBK AR
MEZ2018F12A31H L FENHARE
44 3E BT INAI63.9%E H £2019F12
A1RLEFEMHARKE726EBE T - %
BN EZERRTBEMEEHRIE (AR
ET&EE&E]) H2018F12 A31BMH A
R #2,030.58 & L& M E20195F12 431
BEHARE2,716.38 B TBUEEH E2019
F1I2A3IBLEFEMNERBERSHER
LRSI -

FRiSHiBE

FERAYETZRRETBENBRAREED
PRCEMESHRAS R HIZER - 15
B BEZ=2018F12A31H L FE ML
ARE195.98 BTG IN4915. 7%k AR
30.7E B TLEEHE2019F12A31BILEE
R AR 226.6E BT+ 15 8% 2019
FRBIE AT o



Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity, financial resources and capital resources

As of 31 December 2019, the cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB245.2 million (31 December 2018: RMB419.5
million), of which approximately RMB242.6 million (31 December
2018: RMB372.8 million) was denominated in Renminbi and
approximately RMB2.5 million (31 December 2018: RMB46.7
million) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2019, the restricted cash amounted to
approximately RMB115.7 million (31 December 2018: RMB125.9
million), all restricted cash was denominated in Renminbi.

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB1,066.1 million as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
RMB1,070.5 million), of which approximately RMB633.8 million
was classified as current liabilities (31 December 2018: RMB467.3
million). Approximately 42.0% (31 December 2018: 57.0%) out of
the Group’s total borrowings was fixed interest rates.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

EEEFRE

AT

RBEE MBERRERER

HZE20190F12A318 - Re kREEEY
HAANR245.28 & 7T (2018F 12 A 31
H: ARB419585E8 L) EFHARK
242.68 B 7T (2018F12H318 : AR
372.8EETL) MARKEE - HARKE25
BEJT (2018F12A318 « AR®46.78
E7T) LWBTTEHE ©

201912 A31H - XBHBFLHAAR
¥115.78 & Jt (2018F12A31H : AR
12508 B T)  MAXRBIFESHEAA
R¥EEE -

HZE2019F 128318 » AEBMERAE
W B ARE1,066.1EETT (2018512 31
BH: AR¥1,0705B87m) HFAHAR
¥633.8E B LN EAREEE (20184
1283180 : ARM467.3HETT) - AEH
& AR P 4942.0% (201812 A31H
57.0%) BEEFE o

20194 %2018 12331H - A & H &
R T R EE

As at 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2018

#2019%12431H #2018%12A31H

Between Between Between Between
Within 1t02 2t05 Within 1102 2t05 Over
1 year years years 1 year years years 5 years
1ER 122% 285% £/ 1226 2E5%F 5EN
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBFT AEBTLT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Bank borrowings BITER 291,000 - - 196,000 29,000 - -
Other long-term borrowings A RHER 342,752 171,128 261,220 271,340 262,960 250,210 61,000
633,752 171,128 261,220 467,340 291,960 250,210 61,000
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Current, total and net assets

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had current assets of
approximately RMB6,266.8 million (31 December 2018: RMB5,030.7
million) and current liabilities of approximately RMB4,831.2 million
(31 December 2018: RMB3,584.6 million), there was no material
change on net current assets value from approximately RMB1,446.1
million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB1,435.6
million as at 31 December 2019.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB6,526.4 million (31 December 2018: RMB5,204.5
million) and total liabilities of approximately RMB5,292.9 million (31
December 2018: RMB4,207.0 million), representing an increase of
net assets or total equity from approximately RMB997.5 million as
at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB1,233.5 million as at
31 December 2019.

Charge on assets

The majority of the Group’s bank borrowings and certain other
long-term borrowings from third parties are secured by properties
held or under development for sale of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of these purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees
will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance and transfer of the
real estate ownership certificate, or (i) the satisfaction of mortgage
loans by the purchasers of the properties.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

HZE2019F12A31H - AEBHMARDE
B AR #6,266.88 8 7T (2018412 A
318 : AR¥5,030.788T) B aE
AR #4,831.25 & T (201812 A31
H: AR%¥35846B8L) mBEEF
E 20185 12A31H W #H) A R #1,446.1
BE T B2019F12A31B MO AR
1,435.6B 870 WEEBAXEH) -

HE2019F12A81H  AEBHBRE
BE# AR ¥6,526.48 & T (20181248
31 : ARM52045658T) A E
AR #5,20295 & T (2018F 12 A31
H: AR®4207.0887T) FEEHR
25 A2018F12 831 B MY 4y A B #9975
AETEIMNE2019F12A31ANH AR

e —

1,233.5E&TT °
BEEMA

AEBORZHBRITEE=DERRET
Hip & HE R AN EE N E L S %
FREYREER -

RREME

AEECRAEEMENETERLHR
TRE  THMERNERTETRMER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principal together with accrued interest
owed by the defaulting purchasers to the banks and the Group
is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties after the relevant legal procedures. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the date of grant of mortgage. The
Directors consider that the likelihood of default of payments by
the purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial guarantee
measured at fair value is immaterial.

Key financial ratios:

BEE WA

BEERER  EZEBEREXIZBER
B AEEAAERARTEEENERE
REOZBASERETFE  MASEER
HEZERETREERE ﬁﬁﬁ%%m P
ERLFARE - ASENERPEEDIER
BAMBRAK ZEZIRABREXTREN

AL MR - B ?“$EJEMWW
BRITERKX -

TR R

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A1BLEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
Profitability ratios BRI =
Return on assets B E R E 5.0% 4.7%
Return on equity B R = 26.1% 31.6%
Net profit margin 7 71 2R 14.7% 12.2%
As of 31 December
M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Liquidity ratio TENEEE =
Current ratio MBNEE & 1.3 1.4
Capital adequacy ratios BEXFTEEE
Gearing ratio (note 1) BB (1) 86.4% 107.3%
Debt to equity ratio (note 2) &Mk (M722) 66.6% 65.3%

Note 1:  Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings and
other long-term borrowings, as a percentage of total equity.

Note 2:  Debt to equity ratio is our total debts, minus cash and cash
equivalents, as a percentage of total equity.

Hrart - BERLEERSRANETRE (BRER
??f%r/\&ﬁmﬁﬁﬁfﬁti) Ih ez
BOL

stz . BEBEELERBFIMEBEERR
ERBREEFEMLHEEENEDLL
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KEY RISK FACTORS

All of our projects are located in Henan Province, the PRC. Our
business continues to be heavily dependent on the performance of
the property markets in Xuchang City and Henan Province. These
property markets may be affected by local, regional, national and
global factors, many of which are beyond our control and could
include economic and financial conditions, speculative activities
in local markets, demand for and supply of properties, availability
of alternative investment choices for property buyers, inflation,
government policies, interest rates and availability of capital. The
selling price per sgq.m. and gross profit margins of our properties
vary by the type of properties we developed and sold, and affected
by various factors including the market demand of the properties
located, prevailing local market prices, the cost of properties
constructed and sold.

The property market in the cities in which we have operations or
plan to expand our operations has been competitive. Our existing
and potential competitors include both major national and regional
property developers with expansive operations in the cities or
markets in which we operate as well as local property developers.
We compete with them with respect to a number of factors, including
land acquisition, geographic location, management expertise,
financial resources, access to transportation infrastructure, size
of land reserves, product quality, brand recognition by customers,
customer services and support, pricing and design quality. We may
seek to further enhance our market presence in these cities amid
intense competition.

In addition, our business is also subject to the general social
conditions in the regions where we operate and in the PRC in
general. Any occurrence of force majeure events, natural disasters
or outbreaks of epidemics, including those caused by avian
influenza, swine influenza, severe acute respiratory syndrome,
SARS, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus, MERS-CoV
or COVID-19 in the regions where we operate or in the PRC in
general, which are beyond our control, depending on their scale,
may cause different degree of damages to the economy, social
conditions, infrastructure and livelihood of the people of the regions
we operate or in China in general.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group has not
hedged its cash flow or fair value interest rate risk.

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
business in the PRC with almost all transactions denominated
in Renminbi. In addition, the majority of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. Accordingly, the Group is
not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, except for the bank
deposits denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group closely monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will take actions when necessary.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or
assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this report, there
are no current plans to acquire any material investment or capital
assets other than in the Group’s ordinary business of property
development.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings and
other long-term borrowings, as a percentage of total equity.
As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 86.4%, representing decrease of approximately
20.9 percentage points as compared with approximately 107.3%
as at 31 December 2018, which was mainly due to: (i) receipt of
proceeds from pre-sale and delivery of pre-sold properties; and (ii)
repayment of outstanding loans gradually during the year.

EEEFRE
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AEBAAZOMN SRR T B RE
Koo AFBF KRG B ERERNRE AT
BenEfEREE - LEFE N X EHE
REAKEAZ X FENERAR - NEE
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ERBBRHEHESHE

RNEZE2019F 128318 LFE - KEEH
EETTHNEBNBRR BERAHE
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FBREARENELFEEMNARNRE
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FE A EEEI - B AL &S BB EM
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2019F12H31H  AEEMERLEN A
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TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource of the
Group. As of 31 December 2019, the Group had a total workforce
of 483 employees (31 December 2018: 426). The remuneration
policy is reviewed by the Board from time to time. Emoluments of
Directors are determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company after considering performance of the Group, individual
performance and comparing with market conditions. In addition to
basic remuneration, the Group also provides medical insurance,
social insurance contribution plans or other pension schemes, and
other benefits in kind to the employees. The Group adopted five-
day week policy applying to our certain back office staff to execute
the philosophy of work-life balance.

To intensify personnel training and development, the Group
provides a series of employee training programmes, which aims
to accelerate professional growth and identify competences and
talents of diversified teams. High potential staff are preferred and
developed intensively according to the promotion plan towards the
management level. In order to attract and retain suitable candidates
for business development, the Group adopted the share option
scheme as incentive since November 2018.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO

As at 31 December 2019, the net proceeds from the IPO were
fully utilised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FORWARD LOOKING

Benefiting from the expansion of property size over the year that
has just past, China has seen significant increase in sales and
growth rate of commercial properties. Impacted by the outbreak
of novel coronavirus, COVID-19, China’s real estate industry faces
tremendous pressure right after stepping into 2020, nevertheless,
there is an overall demand in the industry. In the long run, the
impact brought by the epidemic on real estate industry will be
relatively less profound than some other industries.

2020 marks the last year of China’s 13th Five-Year Plan. The
construction of high-specification systems such as the National
Housing Information Network (2 B{E 5 {5 2 H48) and the National
Land Planning System (HtZ=fREIBX) is expected to be
more or less completed by 2020, which will push forward land
planning and real estate development into a new era of more
sustainable systematic development while at the same time the
growing population will continue to provide strong support for the
development of the real estate industry.

Given the fact that Henan Province has a population of over 100
million, there is a great domestic demand in the real estate industry
brought by the huge local market, evidenced particularly by the
growing population in Henan Province, where urbanization rate
is not high. With the further implementation of national and local
strategies such as the Rise of Central China (#F &BUEE), and the
Integration of Zhengzhou and Xuchang and as a local brand, we
will take the advantages to grasp market opportunities with the
combination of hard power and soft power to make outstanding
contributions to the development of the city.

As an enterprise with integrity and responsibility, the Group will,
in the future, continue to adhere to the principle of “Integrity
Management, Fulfilling Every Promise”, enhance the quality of the
city with premium buildings and craft quality living with ingenuity.
By dedicating more valuable real estate projects to a large number
of property owners, the Group will continue pushing forward urban
development, opening a new chapter in urban construction and
corporate development.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Xiaobing, aged 42, is the executive Director and Chairman
of the Company and was appointed as a Director on 22 July 2016.
He is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Li joined
the Group in October 2004 as the manager of the purchasing
department (BRBEZ04%I2) of Xuchang Hengda and has since then
served a number of managerial and directorship positions of various
members of the Group. Mr. Li has over 11 years of experience
in strategic planning, operational management and corporate
administration of property development business in the PRC. He
is also a director of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited, which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

In December 2006, Mr. Li obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
EERRIFAE) in Wuhan. In June 2017, he became one of the
awardees of the title of “Innovative Xuchang Top-10 Economic
Figures of Influence” (BIZ & &+ R&ERZE A YD) jointly conferred
by the Henan Economic Newspaper Office (i EG#& &R+ t) and
Zhongyuan Economic Net (RR£EE#AS), in recognition of his
entrepreneurial contributions to the innovative development of the
Central Plain area (1 JR#[&) of the PRC. In May 2018, he obtained
a certificate of 2017 Entrepreneurial Excellence Awards (2017 &
EBHEPERFEZE), which was granted by The People’s Government
of Xuchang City (FF&m ARBM). In February 2019, Mr. Li was
awarded the title of Outstanding Entrepreneur of Xuchang City
FFETMEBSLER) by the People’s Government of Xuchang City
(FFEMARBAT). In April 2019, Mr. Li received the certificate of
Xuchang City Model Worker (5T & M4 )15 #i) from the People’s
Government of Xuchang City (5 & ™ ARBT). In April 2019, Mr.
Li was awarded the honorary title of “Charity Model” (3 & 1551) of
Xuchang City in 2018 by the Propaganda Department of Xuchang
Municipal Party Committee (5 & ™ Z& = {&3).
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Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, aged 51, is the executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. He is also a member of the Legal
Compliance Committee. Mr. Z.F. Wang joined the Group in May
2002 and has been the general manager (#4£I2) of Xuchang
Hengda since November 2006, the director of Xuchang Hengda
since October 2007, the director of Henan Dadi since August
2012 and chief executive officer (#%() of Xuchang Hengda since
February 2013. Mr. Z.F. Wang has over 13 years of experiences in
strategic planning, operational and financial management as well
as corporate administration of property development businesses
in the PRC.

Mr. Z.F. Wang obtained an undergraduate degree in industrial
economics (T E#4) from Henan University of Finance and
Economics* ()7 Fa 81 £ BUE K E2) (the predecessor of Henan Institute
of Finance* (A EBA4&£E20%)) in June 1992. He then attained the
qualification of accountant in the speciality of enterprise accounting
(> ¥ 25 as conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC* (F2 2%
AR A BB B ER) in May 1996, and also obtained the qualification
lawyer certificate (fZENE KL EE) from the Review Committee of
Lawyer Qualification under the Ministry of Justice of the PRC*
(FEARZEMB A ZMEBBEZESE) in July 2001. He has
become a non-practising member (FEBLEE &) of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (T B3+l & 51 17 €) since
June 2012.

Ms. QI Chunfeng, aged 47, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. In November 1993, Ms. Qi joined
the finance department (8175%F) of Xuchang Weidu Guesthouse
Company Limited* (which was a subsidiary of Henan Dadi prior to
disposal of the entire equity interests therein to Hengda Investment
in September 2016) and has been a director as well as deputy chief
executive officer (8|#8%L) of Xuchang Hengda since January 2002
and March 2010 respectively. Ms. Qi has extensive experiences in
financial supervision, operational management as well as corporate
administration of property development businesses in the PRC.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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Ms. Qi completed her tertiary studies in the speciality of computing

accountancy (£ & & 1t) at Xuchang Vocational Technical College
(FFEBFEFMZET) in January 2007.

Mr. WANG Quan, aged 46, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as a
Director on 19 May 2017. Mr. Q. Wang joined Xuchang Hengda in
March 2002 and has since been a deputy chief executive officer (&)
#E) of Xuchang Hengda since April 2005, as well as a director and
general manager (4 1) of Henan Dadi since August 2012 and
February 2016 respectively. Mr. Q. Wang has extensive experiences
in operational management and corporate administration.

Mr. Q. Wang completed his tertiary studies in the speciality
of production mechanics craftsmanship and equipments (#
Sl TE N K E) at the Technical College of Northern China*
(FEAE TEBR) in July 1996. He then attained in May 2001 the
professional and technical qualification of assistant engineer
(Bh¥E TF2AM) in the speciality of mechanics (###) as evaluated
by the Elementary Professional and Technical Role Assessment
Committee of State-owned 9676 Factory (Engineering Series)*
(B NANEAMIER VIR EXTMBHETZEZE) and conferred
by the Commission of Science, Technology and Industry for
National Defence of Henan Province* (A& BRI 2T TEE 8
). Moreover, Mr. Q. Wang also obtained the intermediate level of
economics (%) in the speciality of business administration (L& &
32) as conferred by the Ministry of Personnel of the PRC* (R AR
HABE AZEEB) in November 2001, as well as the intermediate level
of finance (£ /&%) and the intermediate level of fiscal taxation (817%
) as conferred by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the PRC* (P B A J ERMT 2 RIEEL) respectively in
May 2015 and April 2016. Furthermore, Mr. Q. Wang undertook
a number of qualification examinations for securities practitioners
(BEMEANEBEBKER) and was granted passing certificates (A%
4B A 15 3) by the Securities Association of China (TEIE 5% E).

*

English name for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun, aged 36, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Legal Compliance Committee. Mr. Lee is currently an independent
non-executive Director of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (
BEFFEEER AR A7), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 6829) and Wing Chi Holdings Limited(5& 22 A% A IR A
7)), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6080),
the chief financial officer and company secretary of Summi (Group)
Holdings Limited (%3 (£E) ZRABR AR (formerly known as
Tianyi (Summi) Holdings Limited(Xi (Fx3) 1ZRER A7),
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 756) and a
director of Prism CPA Limited ({82 & 5Bl BT AR A 7). Mr. Lee
has over 13 years of experience in accounting, audit, corporate
finance and financial management. Mr. Lee has been appointed as
the company secretary of Solis Holdings Limited (572532 /%A R A
7)), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2227),
with effect from 23 December 2019.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the University
of Hertfordshire in 2006. He is a practising member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate
member of the The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries.

Mr. WEI Jian, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Wei is currently the Deputy CEO of the China
Minsheng Financial Holding Corporation Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 245). He had also served as a
banking officer and a foreign exchange and money market trader of
treasury department of the Bank of China Sydney Branch, a foreign
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exchange hedge trader and the risk manager of CMC Markets
Asia Pacific Pty Ltd., the senior risk manager as well as associate
director of City Index Australia Pty Ltd. and the vice president of
the treasury department (EE7%EBEI42#) and an executive officer (
*%& A8) of China Minsheng Banking Corporation Limited, Hong
Kong branch (FBRARITROER A EEDTT). Mr. Wei has
over 10 years of experience in asset management, business
development, financial market operations, corporate advisory and
securities dealing.

Mr. Wei obtained from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
an Advanced Diploma of Business (Marketing) in October 1999
and a degree of Bachelor of Business (Economics and Finance)
in December 2000, and subsequently the Postgraduate Diploma
in Finance and the Master of Financial Management from The
University of Melbourne in August 2002 and in December 2002
respectively.

Mr. FANG Cheng, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He is
also the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Legal Compliance Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Fang is currently the
responsible officer of Syner Wealth Capital Limited (/& AH R A
B]) on regulated activity of advising on corporate finance covered
under type 6 licence granted by the SFC. He had served for a
number of financial institutions such as South China Capital Limited
(FERME B R AT, Lombard Capital Limited BARE B EBRE LD
A1), Masterlink Securities (Hong Kong) Corporation Limited (JT & &
% (&%) BMR2AR]), CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited ({5 (&
) EARER A 7)), Freeman Corporate Finance Limited (R R > %&b
B HBR R T]), Hong Kong International Capital Management Limited
(BEBBEBEEANEE AR A F), Huarong International Capital Limited
(FEREEREARRAR) and Huarong International Securities
Limited CERLEIBRFESBRAR]). Mr. Fang has over 13 years of
experience in investment banking and corporate financing activities.
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Mr. Fang obtained a bachelor’s degree in transportation engineering
and management (@ TIZEEEE) from Feng Chia University
(EFKE) in Taiwan in June 1992 and subsequently a degree
of Master of Business Administration from the Cleveland State
University in the United States in September 1995.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Shixun, aged 48, has been the managing deputy chief
executive officer of our Company since 25 May 2017. He is
primarily responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of our Group. He possesses over ten years of
experience in the administration and enterprise planning of property
development businesses.

Mr. S.X. Li completed, on part-time basis, his tertiary studies in the
speciality of fine arts at Henan Radio & Television University* (8]
BEEEHRAE) in July 2005.

Mr. S.X. Li joined our Group in November 1999 as the external
business manager of the operations department (484 Z8%4HNEE
4518) of Xuchang Hengda, and from March 2000 to February
2001 he served as the deputy manager of the enterprise planning
department (1> %% 2|50 B4 3#) of Xuchang Hengda before being
promoted to become the manager of the said department in
February 2001. After serving the enterprise planning department
for more than four years, he was appointed in August 2004 as the
manager of the human resources department (A /] & JRE04E3E) of
Xuchang Hengda. In April 2005, he joined the Jian’an District branch
office (EZE D A7) of Xuchang Hengda as the deputy general
manager (&2l #4¢%), and was subsequently appointed in November
2006 to serve as the sales director (‘& §5#48 E5) of Xuchang Hengda
for more than three years. From November 2009 to February 2010,
from March 2010 to December 2010 and from August 2016 to May
2019, he also served as the deputy general manager (& 7% 8l 424X 12)
of Xuchang Hengda, the deputy chief executive officer (8I48%) of
Xuchang Hengda and the executive director and manager (#1772
= L #%38) of Yuzhou Hengda, respectively. Mr. S.X. Li has been the
managing deputy chief executive officer (& #5842 %) of Xuchang
Hengda since January 2011.
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Mr. LEUNG Kam Fai Anthony, aged 35, has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary of our Company since
December 2016. He is primarily responsible for accounting, financial
as well as company secretarial matters of our Group. He possesses
over ten years of experience in handling transactional, annual
auditing and review engagements for public companies.

Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2008. Mr. Leung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since March 2013 and he has become
a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since September 2018.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in
submitting herewith their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Review of the business of the Group during the year under review,
a discussion on the Group’s future business development and
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
5 to 7 and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 8 to 25 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2019 using financial performance indicators is provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 8 to 25 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are property development and
property investment in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group seeks to uphold high standard of integrity in all
aspects of business and is committed to ensuring that its affairs
are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory
requirements and has formulated and adopted various internal
control measures, approval procedures and training within all
business units at all levels of the Group. During the year, there has
been no violation or breach of relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group.

Directors’ Report
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RESULTS AND RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements of the Group on pages 115 to 282.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019.

SHARE CAPITAL

No share had been issued by the Company during the year and
details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Group’s and the Company’s
reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, notes 14 to 16 and in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements respctively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, there was no reserves available for
distribution to equity owners of the Company. After the end of the
reporting period, the Directors do not propose the payment of a
final dividend.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown on pages 285 to 290 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to our shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 283 to
284 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this Directors’ report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. QI Chunfeng

Mr. WANG Quan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WEI Jian
Mr. FANG Cheng
Mr. LEE Kwok Lun

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
WANG Zhenfeng, Mr. WEI Jian and Mr. FANG Cheng will retire from
the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 26 to 32.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years; and is
subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in
the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years;
and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set
out in the letter of appointment.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this Directors’ report and in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors, the
entity connected with the Directors, controlling shareholders and
any subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders of the Company
had a material beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
parent company or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to their duties, responsibilities and
performance and the Group’s results.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS EERFTETHAERAEAAT
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, ®/SEMBEBEIENRKRE - A8
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF AROREEZTEENERZR
THE COMPANY AND/OR ANY ASSOCIATED ##&

CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2019, being the end of the reporting period M2019F 128318 » Bl ERE B R
under review, the interests or short positions in the shares, ARRBEREBITHRAEBRARRR,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and/or its S EEEEAE (EEREHFRBERNE
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) XVER) MRk - RO K EEETHE
that Directors and chief executive of the Company as recorded RIZFES LB KR EISEFENES LM

in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, Fracek » sKiRBZEESFAIZANEM T XA
or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange SARNAIMBRZMNERSOARE - FHIE W
pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows: N

Interests in shares of the Company
RARRR RN ER

Approximate

Number and class of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest securities et shareholding
EZ4B B/ BRME EFNHE RER RESNED L
Mr. LI Xiaobing Settlor of a discretionary trust 855,000,000 71.25%
ordinary shares (L) "ee?
FNkEE PRETVELEA 855,000,0008%

ERBRL() 7

Interest of a controlled corporation 45,000,000 3.75%
ordinary shares (L) "¢
REEEER 45,000,000

BRRBHO) 7
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Notes:

1.

The letter “L” denotes to the person with long position in the shares.

These shares were legally and beneficially held by Ever Enhancement
Enterprise Company Limited as at 31 December 2019. Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is a corporate controlling
shareholder which is legally and beneficially wholly-owned by Ever
Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited is the
trustee of the family trust, established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole
settlor for the benefit of a list of discretionary beneficiaries including
Mr. LI Xiaobing himself and any persons or classes of person (save
for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s father and mother) to be appointed by and at the
sole discretion of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee) from
time to time. Given that Mr. LI Xiaobing is the sole settlor of the family
trust, he is therefore deemed to be interested in any shares in which
Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested by virtue
of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2019, these shares were legally and beneficially
held by Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited of which the
entire issued share capital was, in turn, legally and beneficially held by
Mr. LI Xiaobing. Mr. LI Xiaobing is therefore deemed to be interested in
any shares in which Ever Enrichment Enterprise Limited is interested
by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the

Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed

to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of the Company and/or its associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded

in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,

or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, shareholders (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRREAQFAHRDRABR
DHRERNERS

MR2019F 124310 * RE (EE XA AR F]
EEITHABRIN) RAR R AR S AHRES
B&1D R B AR IR B 5 MR E AR B SEXVER 2
MIDBREARRNRARHEE @ LRBEES
KEE KA 33615 E T RENELMATRE
B SAR BT

Number and Approximate

class of percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest securities (Vote 1) shareholding
HENEAE

RERER B REEME KRl a1 REMAOB DL

Ever Enhancement Enterprise Beneficial owner 855,000,000 71.25%

Company Limited

ordinary shares (L)

BARERRAR EnlAA 855,000,000%
LR

Ever Commitment Interest of a controlled corporation 855,000,000 71.25%
(PTC) Limited Mete2) ordinary shares (L)
BHIAGETEER AT Wiz R LEER 855,000,0004%
TmRAR ML)

Ms. LIN Wei Nete3) Interest of spouse 900,000,000 75.00%
ordinary shares (L)
WY 2+ () Ao B 900,000,0000%
T AR AR 9 (L)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person/entity with long position in the
shares.

2. As of 31 December 2019, Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company
Limited was one of the controlling shareholders and was wholly-owned
by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited
is deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever Enhancement
Enterprise Company Limited is interested pursuant to the SFO.
Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the family trust
established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for the benefit of
a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI Xiaobing himself
and any other person or classes of person (save for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s
father and mother) to be appointed by and at the sole discretion of
Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee) from time to time.

3. Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing. Given that Mr. LI Xiaobing
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Ever Enhancement
Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company
Limited by virtue of the SFO, she will likewise be deemed to be
interested in any shares held by both Ever Enhancement Enterprise
Company Limited and Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited
by virtue of the SFO.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees
based on current industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are
awarded to staff based on the performance of the Group and
performance of individual staff. In addition, share options may be
granted to eligible employees in accordance with the terms of the
Company’s share option scheme.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement
plans which cover the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and a
mandatory provident fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong.

The PRC operating entities participate in retirement schemes
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government
authorities, whereby the PRC operating entities are required to
make contribution at defined rates required by different local
government authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the retirement schemes.
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The Group also operates a mandatory provident fund scheme under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The mandatory provident fund scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the
mandatory provident fund scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HKD30,000.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 22 October 2018, which shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 12 November 2018,
subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting
or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentives to Eligible Person (as defined below) and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the
Eligible Person have had or may have made to the Group. Under
the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant an option
to any employees, executives or officers (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the
Group and any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, agents
to the Group and related entities who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Group (collectively
the “Eligible Person”).

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
shares available for issue under options which may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue immediately following completion of the IPO (but
taking no account of any shares which may be allotted or issued
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option (as defined
in the prospectus)), being 120,000,000 shares. The total number
of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to each
Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
number of shares in issue as at the date of grant unless approved
by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by
the Board provided that it shall not be less than the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share.

To accept the option, the grantee shall pay HK$0.01 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant within 30 days from
the date of grant. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date
upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and
prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised
more than 10 years after it has been granted. The Board may in
its absolute discretion determine a minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.

No option was granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme during the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2019. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this Directors’ report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ Report

EEEWE

REBBREFSRLZEASERREZ
BORBERRESTSET - ETBIR
THEReSE : (WELBEM (EAARER
B) - BXMEARES R HRZ BT
B:(EXRLAMAAELERABR
P B ESIR SR B Y E
Keiii) LA 2 E{E

REMBRAE  ARAANR L B
30H AMA R A 10.018 TTIE BRI
Pt 2 18 - BRI Rl IR BB AT 81 2 15
FREREASERIIEEMEARES
% B R+ F & A IR T o Bk
BZUTEHHESZS2RNITETE - T
CHARLERTF EFSZERNBE
FERBER A TERM AR AN REHR -

201941 A1 B 22019412 A31H 8 [ -
RRRBEBRBERESSIRDBERE -
MEAAEREREBRETERD - 17
- FEEHARR -

BHEAEELREBEH  BIEBRETE
Al BT 2 B () 48 80 & 120,000,000R% - 1
KRB B BEITRAL10% -

EEEN
BRI EARAR B

EMERBOEHZBEERITREHK AR
ZEH -

2019 Annual Report
ZE-NEFER

43



44

Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, no rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company were granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors,
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate for the year ended
31 December 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

ESRBRODEET ZEF

RAFERAITAWEES - BE2019F12
ABTALLFE  BERAEMNEEIRES
BZEBHRMISHRTFHAEEERBEAR
AR REEEMER <A - HEEFH
BITRARBEN  HAREREAEMAKNEB
RAETER AR R BEEFTARF
& BH BB R M 185 F R ME [ H AR
ABERESHERER -

FERFRHEER

REAMRFERN  BRAAEESRIRER
BEPRMERFEHE RRBOHEHNT

Percentage of the Group’s total
HAREENATEEAE 2B

Sales Purchases
HE i
The largest customer RREF 0.8%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAR 2.4%
The largest supplier =AM ER 28.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAHERERT 39.9%
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing connected
transactions” on pages 47 to 48 of this annual report, at no
time during the year have the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of issued share capital of the
Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers
and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2019. Details of the
transactions are set out below:

Connected transaction in relation to the sale of property units in
the PRC

On 10 October 2019, Xuchang Hengda and Songji Dadi (the
“Vendors”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
entered into the respective property sale and purchase agreements
with (i) Ms. QI Chunfeng, an executive Director, and MS. ZHANG
Fan, the daughter of Ms. QI Chunfeng, and (i) Ms. LIN Wei, the
spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing, the executive Director and controlling
shareholder of the Company (the “Purchasers”), pursuant to which
the Vendors agreed to sell, and the Purchasers agreed to purchase,
the respective property units (being certain units located at Jinhui
Plaza, Qinglin Yuan or Hengda Weiyuan) at a total consideration of
approximately RMB23,566,356. For further details please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 10 October 2019.

Mr. LI Xiaobing is an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company and Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of Mr.
LI Xiaobing. Therefore she is an associate of Mr. LI Xiaobing and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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Ms. QI Chunfeng is an executive Director of the Company and
therefore she is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Ms. ZHANG Fan is the daughter of Ms. QI Chunfeng and therefore
she is an associate of Ms. QI Chunfeng and a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the sales of the property units constitute connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules. Since certain
applicable percentage ratios for the sales of the respective property
units to Ms. LIN Wei calculated on aggregated basis are above
0.1% but less than 5%, the sales of the respective property units
to Ms. LIN Wei are only subject to reporting and announcement
requirements and are exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

In addition, since certain applicable percentage ratios for the
sales of the respective property units to Ms. QI Chunfeng and Ms.
ZHANG Fan calculated on aggregated basis are above 0.1% but
less than 5%, the sales of the respective property units to Ms. Ql
Chunfeng and Ms. ZHANG Fan are only subject to reporting and
announcement requirements and are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, all consideration has been fully settled
and all respective property units have been delivered.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Property management services

On 10 October 2018, Hengda Property Management and our Group
entered into a master property management service agreement
(“Master Property Management Service Agreement”) for a term
commencing from the 12 November 2018 and ending on 31
December 2020, pursuant to which Hengda Property Management
shall continue to provide, among other aspects, security and
cleaning services for (i) sales centres of property development
projects (of which the demand varies depending on the status of
completion/sale of such projects over time) as well as (i) self-used
premises (of which the demand remains more or less constant) of
our Group. The service fees payable by us to Hengda Property
Management were mutually agreed following the arm’s-length
negotiations between the relevant parties with reference to the
prevailing market price of the similar services of a comparable scale
in the PRC. Payment for a particular calendar month has been
made to Hengda Property Management by way of bank transfer
on 15th day of the same month.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees charged by Hengda
Property Management for the provision of the services under the
Master Property Management Service Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB6,401,000, which was within the annual cap of
RMB6,946,000 for the same period.
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company and they confirmed that the aforesaid transactions were
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group, (i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties, and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention which causes them to believe the continuing
connected transactions abovementioned:

i

) have not been approved by the Board;

(i) have not been entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) have exceeded their respective annual caps.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
in the normal course of business were set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. For the year ended 31 December
2019, save for those transactions set out in the sections headed
“Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”
above, none of these related party transactions constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of 31 December 2019 are set out in notes 17 to 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
of the Company is currently in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group that were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Li Xiaobing, Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited, Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited (each a “Non-Compete Covenantor”)
has entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) dated 22 October 2018 in favour of the
Company, pursuant to which they have undertaken with the
Company that they shall not, and shall procure that their respective
associates shall not, directly or indirectly, be interested, involved or
engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly with
the core business of the Group from time to time.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of the
Non-Compete Covenantors in respect of their compliance with
the Deed of Non-Competition and the connected transaction
agreements during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Non-Compete Covenantors’ compliance with the Deed of
Non-Competition. The independent non-executive Directors
confirmed that the Non-Compete Covenantors were not in breach of
the Deed of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A report on the environmental, social and governance is set out on
pages 52 to 80 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 81 to 99 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public from
the date of listing up to the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material events were
undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

During the vyear, the Group made charitable donation of
approximately RMB1,338,000.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO

The net proceeds from the IPO after deducting underwriting
commissions and related expenses were approximately RMB309.8
million. As at 31 December 2019, the net proceeds from the IPO
were fully utilised.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board

LI Xiaobing
Chairman and Executive Director

30 March 2020
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PURPOSE AND CRITERIA OF THE REPORT

To comply with the requirements set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules, the Group hereby presents its Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The purpose of the Report is to identify and disclose the major
issues of the Group in relation to the environment, society and
governance as well as its key performance indicators while
illustrating its pursuit of sustainable development and practice of
its social responsibility in every aspect.

SCOPE AND PERIOD OF THE REPORT

The Report discloses the major issues and key performance
indicators of the main key projects in the operations and real estate
development business of Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries
in respect of environmental management, social responsibility and
governance during the year of 2019.

Looking forward, Ever Reach believes that sustainable development
will continue to play an important part in business operation. In
the future, the Group will continue to improve its data collection
and reporting system on environmental management, social
responsibility and governance performance, and gradually enhance
the quality and comprehensiveness of the Report in the long run.

DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY

The data used in the Report comes from the relevant functional
departments of Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

CONCERNS OF THE STAKEHOLDERS

The Group attaches great importance to its social responsibility
and sustainability and tries its best to understand the concerns
of its stakeholders and meet their expectations and requirements
through operations and various communication channels, so as to
grow strong together with them and contribute the greatest value

- HERERRE
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to the community.

Stakeholders
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Concerns

BOXHEE

Response of the Group
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Government Operation in
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Economic growth
Community

construction
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The Group adheres to the business philosophy of honesty and
integrity. It has actively fulfilled the obligations of corporate
citizens, and promoted the harmonious development of society,
so as to become a model for corporate citizenship.

We maintain strict compliance with the laws and regulations,
paying taxes honestly, fighting corruption, money laundering and
bribery; we give full play to our strengths in resource integration
while “enacting measures according to local conditions and
applying them on well-chosen targets”; we will further optimize
our real estate development business and strive to establish a
strategic presence in the development of high-end homes and
smart communities.
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Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
A BENEE SEEHEE
Customers Product The Group insists on thinking from the perspective of customers,
quality & safety creating value for customers, and taking a customer-oriented
Experience & approach. Using this as a source, we have developed the ideal
customer services housings for different groups of people, and meet the needs of
Privacy & our customers now and in future through continuous innovation.
confidentiality
We strive to build high-quality houses and smart living
environment in accordance with the strict quality standards
for housing and building materials. We have set up multiple
customer communication and feedback channels to listen to their
opinions and handle inquiries or complaints. We have in place
multiple protection measures for the privacy of customer data,
with those who have direct access to the customer information
required to sign a Customer Data Confidentiality Agreement.
B EmEERTEEE SEHRBUERFAERE REFPRIEEBE —UNUERAT
B L E PR Do RIERIR - RPERTRAABEOITEREBARE - WHBHE
SR BIFTm R EPIRAEMARNTF K -
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Response of the Group
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The Group is accountable to all investors and strives to provide
them with reasonable, sustained and stable returns on their
investments.

We are making great efforts to capture the market trend
while constantly enhancing our management capabilities, our
brand influence and value. We maintain close and transparent
communication with our investors and the market through
investor meetings, shareholders’ meetings and release of annual
reports and interim reports. We have in place a rigorous risk
management and internal control system in cooperation with
the internal audit function, so that the management and audit
committee can focus on the adequacy and effectiveness of our
risk management and internal control system.
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The Group believes that its employees are the most valuable
assets. We fully respect the rights and interests of our
employees, and provide them with a platform to exert their
talents and achieve their career development, such that our
employees can grow together and share the operating results
with the Company.

We strive to create a competitive work environment, a sound
performance appraisal system and a remuneration and welfare
system while constantly improving our training and development
system, so as to help our employees blend into the long-term
development of the Group, spark off their potentials and enhance
their satisfaction and sense of belonging.
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Response of the Group
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IMPORTANCE OF THE TOPICS

The Group has conducted an assessment of the importance of
the topics in this environmental,

social and governance report.

We have in place a well-maintained supplier management
system, which enables a clear division of the supervisory
functions and combines supplier assessment and approval,
supplier selection and performance evaluation to oversee the
supply chain management in all aspects.

BATENHEREESE  BRETBEMNHEST - HERD
AHEREL  HEREERRATE KSE T HEEHRERE
# -

We are committed to the long-term and ambitious development
of our business and creating more job opportunities for the
community. We will try our best to gradually reduce emission
and consumption of energy, reduce greenhouse gas emission
and improve energy efficiency while vigorously practicing our
corporate social responsibility and promoting the development of
philanthropy in the regions where we operate.
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The factors for consideration include the strategic objectives and TEEES B IRABUR - 1TRRE - AEMNE
policies of the businesses of the Group, industry standards, legal EEE BBERE BERFRA E=E
and regulatory responsibilities, environmental protection, resource T BREREBEEES UMEEHSNEES

utilisation, quality control and employee protection, etc. with the o BBmE
aim of helping the Group identify important issues. Through such
an assessment and analysis, the Group has identified various major
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MBI E BRANEE -

issues and has described the Group’s response to such important

issues in a more complete and accurate way in the Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE

A.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group has been committed to ensuring strict compliance
of its business activities with local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of People’s
Republic of China” and the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Wastes”. It also imposes stringent requirements
on the management measures for environmental protection
and discusses the reduction goals with its contractors and
requires them to strictly follow the environmental protection
principles. The Group has also formulated a series of
environment protection measures to reduce emissions and
energy consumption, prevent dust and reduce noise, so as to
integrate environmental management into its daily operation
and strive to minimise the impact of its operations on the
environment.

A1 EMISSIONS

Emission reduction is an important issue in the Group’s
environmental protection program, for which it is making
constant efforts to reduce emission in its daily operations
and enhance its energy efficiency. In our daily operations,
we used environment-friendly devices such as OA office
automation system and water-saving products. The
Group also installed a video conference system this year
to reduce business trips and improve work efficiency.
Therefore, the above measures were effective in reducing
emissions of greenhouse gases and other air pollutants,
as a result of which the distance of business trips covered
by air this year was dramatically shorter than that of last
year.
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During the year, the Group included in its assessment the SEBAFEARMEEHTE
emissions of greenhouse gas and other air pollutants by ZOEBERAEREBRAEMER
its core projects of the real estate business and collected VSR BE U A REE - St R
data by region and development projects. The Group’s LERBHETHELKSE - £E
emissions of greenhouse gas and other air pollutants for REERERBREMERTE
the year are set forth as follows: YIBE R BUE -
Increase/
Type Unit 2018 2019 Decrease (%)
)1
gk By 20185 2019 RALESH
Type 1: Direct emission of greenhouse gases Tonne 2,300.52 1,191.27 -48.22%
HEAEZAERBEEN T4
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) from vehicles Tonne 2,099.66 908.88 -56.71%
kB EEHRAT(NOX) I
Sulfur oxides (SOx) from vehicles Tonne N/A 195.7 N/A
kB EEWH AL 7(SOxX) I A3 B AN B
Total consumption of other gaseous fuels Tonne 200.86 86.69 -56.84%
HibmEBREDERT R RE S A
Direct emission of greenhouse gases
(per employee) Tonne 5.40 1.31 -75.74%
HERRAERBHEN (BLZET) 17
Type 2: Indirect emission of greenhouse gases
(Yuzhou Hengda and Jiari Baocheng) Tonne 312.86 339.15 8.40%
HR2EEHRETRBHN (RMNEERRAESR) A
Total indirect emission of greenhouse
gases of the Group Tonne N/A* 857.73 N/A
SEREERAEREEN T4 NEA AN iE
Energy intensity (per employee) Tonne 0.09 1.84 N/A
BERRE (B 8T) i iE
Type 3: Indirect emission of other greenhouse
gases (emissions from air travel) Tonne 3.10 0.61 -80.32%
SEESHMEZ R E R (MERITHR) A
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RIS - wERERHE

There were no statistical data for other subsidiaries among
the statistics for indirect greenhouse gas emissions and
sulfur oxides (SOx) from vehicles of the Group in 2018. The
statistics for indirect greenhouse gas emissions in 2019
included eight subsidiaries of the Group, namely, Henan
Dadi Property Development Company Limited, Xuchang
Hengda Property Group Company Limited, Yanling Hengda
Property Development Company Limited, Yuzhou City
Hengda Property Company Limited, Changge City Hengda
Property Company Limited, Xuchang City Jian’an District
Hengmu Property Company Limited and Xuchang Jiari
Baocheng Property Company Limited.

The Group is committed to energy saving and emission
reduction, and reduced vehicle utilization in 2019, thereby
bringing down the total direct greenhouse gas emissions
by 48.22% as compared to 2018. The Company also
installed an advanced video conferencing system, which
has cut back on the number of business trips by air and
reduced indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 80.32%
as compared to 2018.
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In respect of the construction works, the Group adopted a

variety of environment protection measures, for example,

in the stage of planning and construction in real estate

development, the Group tried to reduce land excavation

and

mountain damage through careful planning and

design. In addition, the Group transported the wastes to

a specific centralized disposal site for processing. The

g
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SEEREL T ERXA T SERRE
Tt PINER M EFRENRE
MEREERT  KEBRBRER
STABRUR A £ 77 FE AL g8
T o phh SESERYINESR
FEMNSETREMNEE  ~AFE
PO A8 AR ONE [0 Yo BRI R SERE R )

total amount of construction waste which was recycled EEREAMEIRNT ¢
and processed during the year is recorded as follows:

Increase/
Disposal of wastes Unit 2018 2019 Decrease (%)

i,
BEHERE By 20184 20195 BB
Total amounts of non-hazardous wastes kg 1,434.51 1,442.50 0.56%
JEfElRRERI A8 TR
Paper consumption
(Yuzhou Hengda and Jiari Baocheng)

BREEEZ (RMNEERBRESR)
Total consumption of the Group kg N/A* 4,817.73 N/A
SEARERR = TEA~ TiEA

Save for Yuzhou Hengda and Jiari Baocheng, there was
no statistical data from other subsidiaries of the Company
for paper consumption in 2018. The statistics for paper
consumption in 2019 included eight subsidiaries of
the Group, namely, Henan Dadi Property Development
Company Limited, Xuchang Hengda Property Group
Company Limited, Yanling Hengda Property Development
Company Limited, Yuzhou City Hengda Property Company
Limited, Changge City Hengda Property Company Limited,
Xuchang City Jian’an District Hengmu Property Company
Limited and Xuchang Jiari Baocheng Property Company
Limited.

* o EE2018F AR BT B
B ZEBMNEZEREBEE
2RF RBEEMFRARNEK
& 2019F WM RBERBER
BTRETBARFRA A
MAMEMEREAR AT -
FEEEFRHMEEBARA
A BEEEFHEMZEAR
AAE - BMTEERMEAR
BERA RETEEEME
BERBEERR FETERRE
EBAFEHWERRLA  FER
HEZ2EXERADA -
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5

A2

- HERERRE

Compared with 2018, there was no excessively high
fluctuation in paper consumption by Yuzhou Hengda
and Jiari Baocheng in 2019. The Group will continue
to adhere to the policy of energy conservation and
emission reduction, reduce paper consumption in an
appropriate and proper way and encourage employees
to use electronic equipment to record information or cut
back on unnecessary printing.

The Group did not produce any hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has formulated the “Administrative Measures
for Energy Conservation and Consumption Reduction” to
encourage its employees to reduce unnecessary paper
consumption. As required, the use of office paper is put
under strict control, the both sides of paper are used for
printing, and the non-confidential wastepaper is reused.
In terms of business engagements, the Company mostly
uses telephone communication to reduce the demand
for using vehicles, upholds the mindset of “saving being
a glory, waste being a shame”, and actively implements
the energy conservation strategy of the Group.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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In addition, the Group attaches great importance to
cultivating employees’ awareness of energy conservation
and calls on its employees in various departments to
jointly resist the waste of energy. The Group requires each
employee to switch off computers, lights and other office
equipment at the end of each working day. When the
natural temperature is appropriate, the air conditioners or
fans should not be used. When the outdoor temperature
in summer is higher than 30°C, the air conditioners can
be turned on. The air conditioners should be set at
above 26°C and adjusted to low wind, and the indoor
temperature should be maintained at 25 to 26°C. In
winter, when the outdoor temperature is lower than 8°C,
the air conditioners can be turned on and set at about
20°C. The room temperature should be maintained at
18 to 20°C. When the air conditioners are not in use,
they should not be left in the standby state, and security
guards should be sent to take a patrol after the office
hours on a daily basis to check and confirm that all the
lights and other unnecessary power-consuming devices
on each floor have been switched off. In the event that
any energy wastage is found, the Group will charge the
related employees a fine according to the corresponding
punishment mechanism.

B HEgRERRE

S EETHEEEEEIN
Bige B MRS EPIEIHRRA
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RIS - wERERHE

During the year, the Group included various types of
energy consumption by its core projects of the real
estate business into the assessment and collected data
by region and development projects. The data on energy
consumption by the Group during the year is set forth

SESAFEARHMEXK TR
20 IR B M B RBERB A ARTY
- SR M EREREITH
Bl E - REARFEREERE
FERVEIRLAT -

as follows:
Increase/
Use of energy 2018 2019 Decrease (%)
i,
BEIR BV £ 20184 20194 WO BEDE
Total energy consumption (kWh)
(Yuzhou Hengda and Jiari Baocheng) 496,605.00 538,334.00 8.4%
ek (TRE) (BMNEZREAEZR)
Total energy consumption (kWh) (the Group) N/A*  1,361,471.00 N/A
maeE (TRE) (£EH) @A TiEA
Energy intensity (kWh per employee) 734.42 2,921.61 N/A*
feReE (BUEITRE) T

* Save for Yuzhou Hengda and Jiari Baocheng, there was
no statistical data from other subsidiaries of the Company
for energy consumption in 2018. The statistics for energy
consumption in 2019 included eight subsidiaries of
the Group, namely, Henan Dadi Property Development
Company Limited, Xuchang Hengda Property Group
Company Limited, Yanling Hengda Property Development
Company Limited, Yuzhou City Hengda Property Company
Limited, Changge City Hengda Property Company Limited,
Xuchang City Jian’an District Hengmu Property Company
Limited and Xuchang Jiari Baocheng Property Company
Limited. Therefore, the energy intensity per employee
was calculated based on the number of employees of the
subsidiaries.
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RIE  HERERRE
The Group will continue to monitor its employees’ energy SERBEEEEETEHNAE -
saving in an effort to reduce energy consumption, achieve LURL A 8EFE - BIRET R HE -
energy conservation and emission reduction and create EHERE -
a green corporate.
Increase/
Others 2018 2019 Decrease (%)
i,
Ht 20184 20194 HAOBEDE
Water consumption (cubic meters) (Xuchang Hengda) 15,302.00 7,895.00 -48.41%
kg (IFAK) (FrEE#E)
Water consumption of the Group (cubic meters) N/A* 27,166.00 N/A
S®E@rEKkE (LK) iE A T iE A
Air travel distance (km) 27,200.00 8,417.00 -69.06%

FZEIRITEERE (FK)

Save for Xuchang Hengda, there was no statistical
data from other subsidiaries of the Company for water
consumption in 2018. The statistics for water consumption
in 2019 included eight subsidiaries of the Group, namely,
Henan Dadi Property Development Company Limited,
Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company Limited, Yanling
Hengda Property Development Company Limited, Yuzhou
City Hengda Property Company Limited, Changge City
Hengda Property Company Limited, Xuchang City Jian’an
District Hengmu Property Company Limited and Xuchang
Jiari Baocheng Property Company Limited.

Xuchang Hengda’s water consumption in 2019 decreased
by 48.41% as compared to that of 2018, which shows the
effectiveness of Xuchang Hengda’s water conservation
actions. The Group will continue to monitor water
efficiency and effectiveness. In addition, the overall air
travel distance in 2019 was cut down, as evidenced by
the Group’s determination to save energy and reduce

emissions.

* £ E2018F MK EHFEL &
B BBEFEBEARE
B HAMF AR A EIE 2019
i%$§%ﬁ%ﬁ@%?ﬁl
TBARFA /Tﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%
tﬁgFﬁaﬁﬁé“ﬁﬁﬁ FEEE
%tﬁé%*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ - BipElE
EEHEREARAA - HM
MEERMERSRET QA
REMEEEHEARIER
—\ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmé
BRA ntFEi BREBERE%X
BRA

2 & 18 3% A A120194 [ 2018
FFEKERD T48.41% » EF
A THFEBEQREGHAKT
BHARE - EEBEELEER
IKFREETREE © SN 2019F &
B 48 B8 f 22 TRAT BE B R A IR R 3B
TEEETBERBER R ©
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A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In order to respond positively to the national strategic
policy which requires speed-up of construction of
conservation-oriented society and implement the
Company’s administrative measures for energy
conservation, make the Company become an efficient,
conserving and energy-saving example, and regulate
the specific management of energy conservation and
consumption reduction of construction enterprises, the
Group actively promotes environment-friendly concept
and instills it in every stage of the whole construction
project, i.e. planning, design, construction and
sale, striving to integrate the concepts of green and
environmental protection into the architectural style of the
Group. The Group also cooperates with the outstanding
design institutes to integrate the architectural design with
the surrounding natural conditions, and strives to create
a comfortable living space and provide ecological green
homes for customers.

The Group complies with the national and local
environmental protection laws and various types of
environmental protection laws and regulations promulgated
by the PRC as it carries out its project development. In
the stage of planning and construction in real estate
development, the Group proactively communicates with
contractors and advocates green construction work
and strives to save resources and reduce the impact of
construction work on the environment through scientific
management and technological advancement.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERRE

A3 REEXARER

AREBREREREL MRER
BB HEEIMEXR FEA
AIEKBERE RN EEIE - £
RAEKBB  BR - SRR R
o RBEECEMERENE
BEETIE - SEREBPESRE
B Bt REEFNEME
BERBNHRE R BT
HESEERES  BRBERMARM
ASENZERNE - SEE—R
RetbrA1F - BREREFE
B AR RN - 1R h & AT B A
EEER REPRHELRZE
ENI

pu}

i

3}

SERTERMM T WRERE
ENBERBEENTRREREDN
EEER ETTHRBERE - HERE
WERBENRELERE - £E
HARHEBRASE  BER
BT BARNBEEMEME
¥ ZFEHMOERIBRDETE
BEHRIRWTE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIETY

B1 EMPLOYMENT

The Group always believes that our employees are
important assets of the Group. The Group adheres to the
people-oriented philosophy and guarantees employees’
rights and benefits. By creating a pleasant and healthy
work environment, improving the salary and welfare
systems, and increasing the training opportunities,
we encourage employees to actively carry out career
planning, motivate employees’ enthusiasm for work, and
enhance employees’ sense of belonging.

Policies on Employee’s Compensation and Benefits

In order to attract and retain talents, the Group takes the
characteristics and needs of the posts and positions into
full account when it is hiring people, forbidding gender
discrimination and promoting gender equality. In addition,
for the protection and welfare of its employees, the Group
tries its best to provide them with good protection and
care, including competitive remuneration, equal and
fair pay, a comfortable and safe work environment, and
annual free body examination etc.

We provide social insurances for employees such as
pension, medical care, unemployment and maternity
insurance according to national and local provisions, and
maintain insurance coverage against person injuries and
accidents for employees in special positions. In winter,
heating fees will be distributed and in summer, cooling
fees will be distributed. We will also provide allowances
for medical care and missed meals, and title subsidies.

- HERERRE
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The Group contributes to the social insurance and
housing accumulation fund for its female employees in
line with national provisions, particularly during their three
special periods (pregnancy, delivery and lactation). The
Group allows maternity and breastfeeding leave during
female employees’ pregnancy, delivery and lactation
and pays their salaries, such as relocation subsidies,
home renting subsidies and other special subsidies as
well as allowance for transportation, communication,
missed meals and sunstroke, etc. in accordance with
the regulations.

We take the realisation of “internal equity” and “external
competitiveness” as our fundamental principle. The Group
establishes and improves its remuneration system through
“three matchings”, which refer to that the remuneration
matches the value of the position, the remuneration
matches the ability, and the remuneration matches the
performance.

The remuneration of an individual will be determined
with reference to the employee’s personal qualifications,
education background, length of service in relevant
professional fields, actual years of experience and
professional qualification. The salary scale is assessed
according to the employee’s position, responsibility and
obligation, value and experience.

The Group will conduct a fair and open performance
appraisal for all employees through assessment on the
results of relevant companies and job performance.
Appraisees prepare and summarise the completion of
monthly priorities and record in the form of “Completion
of Monthly Working Plan”, which will be signed by the
appraisers for confirmation. It is an important evidence
for appraisers when making appraisals for appraisees
in respect to the completion of their priorities at the end
of year.
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Salaries of employees are paid on an annual or monthly
basis, both of which are composed of fixed salary and
performance bonus. The fixed salary is determined mainly
based on the assessment result of the value of employees’
positions, and the performance bonus is determined
mainly with reference to the appraisal results. The salary
of employees being paid on an annual basis comprises
of monthly payment part and year-end payment part. The
specific payment method is implemented according to
the terms agreed by both parties in the acceptance letter.

Equal Opportunity

The Group adhered to the principle of openness, justice
and fairness in recruitment and a unified principle without
discrimination in employment standards and selection
procedures. The Group takes the characteristics of the
posts and positions into full account when hiring people
and fights against gender discrimination. Those who have
made significant contributions in daily work would be
rewarded based on the reward & punishment measures
for employees. Outstanding employees would be given
priority when opportunities for promotion or improvement
came up during annual employee appointment.

Employee Diversity

The Group cares about the diversity of its employees and
constantly expands its recruitment channels (campus
recruitment, social recruitment, headhunting, internal and
external referrals, etc.), aiming to maintain the diversity
of its employee structure in such aspects as employee
education, working background and specialties. The
Group analyses the diversity of its current employee
structure on a regular basis to provide guidance for the
follow-up recruitment.
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Anti-discrimination and Anti-harassment

The Group’s labour and employment procedures are
strictly aligned with national policies, requirements and
standards on anti-discrimination and no discrimination
against religion, ethnicity, race and gender is found in
policies for recruitment and daily employment procedures.
The Group also strictly adhered to and observed related
institutional norms and ensured the execution was in place
in various ways including regular reviews, random checks,
feedback, notification, rectification and self-inspection in
each subsidiary in daily work.

The Group has also set clear regulations to severely
punish different kinds of discrimination and harassment
behaviours in violation of the regulations and encouraged
employees to report behaviours that were against the
regulations or incidents harmful to the Group’s interests.
Employees may report related behaviours through various
channels at any time. As phone numbers and emails of the
Group’s management and head of each department were
open to employees, employees may report anonymously
or in their real names at any time. Human resource and
administrative personnel would collect employee opinions
and suggestions in such ways as making questionnaire
among all employees and doing individual interviews to
gather related information from our employees. During this
reporting year, the Group has not received any report on
discrimination/harassment incidents. The Group would
strictly deal with such reports in accordance with the laws
and regulations once any reports were submitted.
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Employment Highlights EIBHIR
By the end of 2019, the total number of employees of HE_Z—NFK SBEMNET
the Group was 483, and all of them were engaged with HRH BASIA i’:jl%%@]éi\l (A &9
labour contracts. AR

Key Performance Indicators (for current employees)
ERERENER (ET)

Number of current employees

ERETAY
Male Female
5 z
Age<30 FEAEIOIA T 63 66
Age 30-50 F#30-505% 183 137
Age>50 FHREBIBS0BR 28 6
Number of employees by gender ZHERBEIDHE T AE 274 209
Total number of employees BT/ 483
Male-to-female ratio of the number of FL BT AZLLH
employees 1.31
Ratio of remuneration between male BLEBIHSHEX
and female employees 1.86

Key Performance Indicators (for current employees)
ERERENEZR (EI)

Rate of turnover of employees

BEIRE=
Male Female
£ z
Age<30 FHTESOBLIA T 18 15
Age 30-50 FHR30-505% 35 17
Age>50 Fhe B E505% 2 0
Rate of turnover of employees EURESHE TRE
by gender 55 32
Total rate of turnover of employees ETERER 87
Ratio of employee turnover to total =l Ejjiéﬁi,% 48 BH E R
number of employees 0.18
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B2

- HERERRE

In 2019, the Group recruited talents and attracted people
from all walks of life to join the Group. Compared with
2018, the number of employees of the Group increased
by 13% this year. The Group’s salary ratio for male and
female in 2019 decreased. The Group is committed
to promoting gender equality in the workplace with
appointments to be made on a merit basis. With regard
to age, the number of employees with working experience
between the ages of 30 and 50 increased by 26% in
2019, pouring vitality into the Group and expanding its
talent pool.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group provides our employees a comfortable
and safe work environment with well-equipped office
hardware. The office building is spacious and clean with
abundant ancillary resources including meeting rooms,
resting areas and etc. The Group carries out fire drills
regularly and always reminds our employees of paying
attention to public safety.

Occupational Health and Safety Protection

In respect of employee health and medical protection,
the Group provides free health checkup services each
year for employees, and also provides social insurance
for employees, among which includes relevant insurances
for major diseases, accidents, work-related injuries,
outpatient and inpatient medical care.

The Group has been complying with all laws and
regulations relating to health and safety. The Group also
has specific safety requirement documents. It conducts
safety inspections on site each year to ensure the health
and safety of employees at the workplace.
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RIE  HERERRE

B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING B3 #ERiE5

The Group highly emphasises employees’ professional
skill improvement, training and learning and allows
employees to fully utilise their specialty and potentials
at different positions. The Group encourages individuals
to combine their own specialty and habits with the
Group’s business development and proactively strive for
opportunities. In addition, the Group also encourages
employees to take internal job rotation and develop
across functions. The Group has already set up a mature
training and learning system including hierarchical and
classified training and learning maps, matched with all
sorts of training projects. The Group also has diversified
resources and patterns to support employees’ training
and learning, such as online learning platform, internal
training, external training and so on.

The Group ensures the pertinence and practicability
when designing training plans. Every year the Group
combines with the need of business development and
sets up corresponding learning projects according to
different business sections, specialties, titles and levels,
job categories so as to make sure employees of various
positions can obtain corresponding training and learning
opportunities and resources according to their job types.
Every year the Group formulates annual training plans
according to the need of businesses and employees and
regularly reviews the plans to make proper adjustments
in order to ensure learning arrangements conform to the
need of business and employee development.
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RIE  HERERRE

In the annual training plan, the Group will formulate REEEIFEIFR - EEEHEM
exclusive internal and external learning plans and HEPEREEABNEM %
opportunities aiming at the present status and business BB - BIFTEIEE B AN
challenges faced by middle-level and senior management HEEFENKE  FHRERE
so as to make sure middle-level and senior management BAEBLHEREYENETH#
also has rich learning opportunities. For all the internal g - SERNIMAEIEEHS
training projects, the Group conducts research before EATHI AT AN TS - B
training and makes evaluation after training, listens to B2MAEEREBLHNE
opinions and suggestions of attendants about learning RAEE - RRESEIIEK
arrangements, meanwhile makes relevant adjustments RS FAEEEZ - SEMNEI
to the arrangements based on the results and outcomes FTE - RRIEIIEE R - FI
of training. The Group’s training plan, notices about ERENRENSRBLREER
detailed training programs and reports after training will REEMET - LT AEERR
be informed to employees timely via a variety of channels. HHANE TEFIHIINENRT
The following is the record of employees’ average training B - RBAKRMRIE D

hours of the Group during the reporting period, which is
categorised by rank and gender:

Key Performance Indicators of Training and Development (for employees)

BIMBRERERER (BET)

Number
e

Employees being trained Male Female
BIEIMET E z
Senior management SHREBEAR 5 1
Managerial personnel EEAB 19 12
Employees E@ET 47 29
Training ratio of employees by gender bi-d ksl | PR eddr=ll ey

BTHED 25.91% 20.09%
Training ratio of total employees EBEXEIMET

mEA 23.40%
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Key Performance Indicators of Training and Development (for employees)

BINBREREANER (8T)

Number
HE

Average Training Hours Male Female
3955 3 05 £ z
Senior management SHRERAB 23 6
Managerial personnel EEBAE 45 38
Employees TimEe 102 66
Training ratio of employees by gender 2RI 2D I

BETHDE 25.91% 20.09%
Training ratio of total employees EXBIMETRER N 23.40%

During the year, the number of managerial personnel
and employees of the Group’s subsidiaries being trained
and related training hours both increased. The Group is
committed to providing work support to employees, and
actively conducting training to help employees achieve
career development and personal growth.
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

Recruitment

The Group adopts internal competition for certain
positions and prioritises the deployment or selection of
suitable qualified employees inside the Group. The Group
advocates employees to participate actively pursuant to
competition conditions and procedures, and encourages
each department to support employees to participate in
internal competition without barriers. The Group would
also apply open elections, regardless of qualifications,
sources and backgrounds, all applicants must follow
the Group'’s recruitment principles and pass the required
inspections from all aspects and our Group only recruits
qualified applicant. The Group takes the Company’s
culture and value as the basic recruitment criteria, and
mainly focuses on the adaptability and also takes into
consideration the future development potential.

The labour policies and standards of the Group conform
to all sorts of national regulations and rules. Related
labour environment, employment duration, working time,
rest and vacation and other rules all complied with
laws and regulations. Meanwhile, the Group clarified in
labour contracts and also kept employees informed about
labour protection, labour conditions and occupational
hazard protection. The Group also complied with the
requirements of national and local regulations and policies
in aspects of labour handling procedures, procedure
completeness and procedures thereof. The Group will
closely monitor the latest status of related governmental
laws and regulations and make corresponding adjustment
and update about its internal systems and procedures.
At the beginning of every year, the Group also conducts
analysis and evaluation on current systems and policies
and makes optimization and adjustment accordingly.
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Measures for Prevention of Child Labour or Forced
Labour

As for prevention of child labour or forced labour, the
Group ensures that applicants have the right to interview
and apply for a job voluntarily. Meanwhile, it sets up
a strict approval procedure for labour employment.
Before employment, all sorts of credentials, files and
information should be complete and shall undergo strict
inspection. Employment should also get approval from
all levels of management so as to effectively avoid child
labour or other nonstandard labour employment. The
Group also complies with equal and voluntary labour
employment. When signing contracts or agreements with
employees, the Group will completely and accurately
convey necessary statutory information such as labour
working location, time, salary and so on. Both parties sign
labour contract or agreement under the voluntary principle
in order to avoid forced labour.

SUPPLY-CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has in place a well-established supplier
management system, including a clear division of
supervisory function, supplier assessment and approval,
supplier selection and performance evaluation, and
supervises the supply-chain management from various
aspects. When selecting suppliers, the Group would
inspect their contract performance, honesty and legal
compliance, meanwhile incorporate proper appraisal so as
to make a comprehensive evaluation. Through contractual
agreements, the Group required that all the suppliers
must comply with national and local environmental laws
and regulations and the Group properly evaluated them to
make sure they complied with all the environmental and
social requirements and fulfilled their environmental and
social responsibilities.
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product Quality Management

The Group highly emphasises product quality management
and establishes a strict product quality management
system within the Group. Every quarter, the Group carries
out a third-party inspection to make sure the quality of all
products met standards. The Group also attaches great
importance to provisions of the laws and regulations
applicable to our products, and continuously pays close
attention to and complies with them. The construction
materials that our Group uses are of high quality, which
satisfy the relevant requirements in terms of construction
and environmental protection on one hand, and promote
environmental-friendly and power-saving construction on
the other hand.

The Group also has a complete repair and maintenance
mechanism. Once product defects are found, the Group
would be responsible for repair at its own costs, and
would arrange delivery only upon the completion of
repair works. If customers suffer a loss due to quality
defects, or if there are still quality problems that seriously
affect the normal residential use of the customer after
various repeated repairs, the Group would definitely
follow up carefully and pay compensation or arrange
the return of the house if appropriate. On the other
hand, the Group also has post-disaster response
measures, upon encountering natural disasters such as
typhoons, earthquakes and fires, the Group will conduct
comprehensive inspection towards buildings and public
facilities, including aluminum doors and windows, entry
doors, railings, curtain walls, public decoration, various
water & electricity systems and equipment, etc., as well
as carrying out repair or reinforcement works according
to the damage level.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION B7 REF

The Group operates its business in accordance with
high ethical standards and adopts good practices in
the industry in respect of prevention of bribery and
anti-corruption. The Group has always complied with
applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption.
The Group has in place the “Measures on Integrity and
Self-Discipline Regulation”, which provides guidelines to
employees on how to handle business transactions with
business-related entities and interest-related entities.

According to the guidelines, it is strictly forbidden to
provide any form of payment, gift or offer by means
of bribery or corruption. It is not allowed to abuse
the position to encroach on the Company’s property,
misappropriate public funds, and abuse power for
personal gain.

All the employees and representatives of the Group
shall operate the business and perform their duties in
accordance with the integrity requirements set out in the
“Measures on Integrity and Self-Discipline Regulation” and
in an ethical manner. The Group understands the potential
risks brought by unethical practices to our business and
has zero tolerance to any form of corruption (including
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy,
misappropriation of public funds and collusion). All
employees are required to attend the training on the
“Measures on Integrity and Self-Discipline Regulation”.
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B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Ever Reach always keeps in mind its social responsibility
as an enterprise when growing its business. As an
accountable and proactive member of the community, the
Group is fully committed to making positive contributions
to help the underprivileged and those in need.

Ever Reach cooperates with different social organizations
and proactively contributes to community work. In 2019,
Ever Reach donated more than RMB3 million in total to
social organizations, including but not limited to:

—  Weidu Charity Federation

—  Xuchang Charity Federation

—  Shijiazhuang Aixin Art Ensemble (the Disabled
Persons’ Federation)

—  China Glory Society, Guangcai Foundation

Meanwhile, the Group actively participated in education
and charity. In 2019, the Group carried out “Financial
Donation to Education”, and Mr. Li Xiaobing, chairman of
Ever Reach, distributed student grants to some students.
Ever Reach always believes that making donation to
education is a current philanthropy that can benefit the
society for generations. In the future, the Group will
continue to repay the society with a positive attitude and
fulfill its corporate social responsibility.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December
2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good
corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate
its business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency
and accountability.

The Company has devised its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and practices as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
which are applicable to the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year period ended 31
December 2019, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model
Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaobing (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng

Ms. Qi Chunfeng

Mr. Wang Quan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun

Mr. Wei Jian

Mr. Fang Cheng
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Corporate Governance Report

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 26 to 32 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by
Mr. Li Xiaobing and Mr. Wang Zhenfeng respectively. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses
on the Company’s business development and daily management
and operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors

are appointed for a specific term of 3 years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

SREERE

EENEREENERBEARAFRFE206EE
FEREMNEEREREBABZREE]

— 8 o
EEEXBRILZRABERE -
ERRBE

R MABEBA S BBk E R TR
BRAEEE - TFEERE  UBRRES
CNBARCEENES - BE—RBINA
NAEMEBERMAFERREE -

BAFHITES

HE20190F12A31BLtFEE EEE—
EFALTRBEEZEEEL =RBILIE
BITES (hESE=92—A8) MH
P RBUFRITESEABEENTE
BRSNS ERM S EREERMNMATE -

ARBEWRBSBUIFERNTEERIEL™
HAIES A MG E M B 138 5 L E B
MERXWFEEERMER L - ARARRHA
BEMIFRTESARBULAL -

ZERERES

HITESMBYIFATEEA=FMIETE
EHERE - HAIRNERTEHERRER -

2019 Annual Report
ZE-NEFER

83



84

Corporate Governance Report

TEERBE

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three of a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall
be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent
judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses
for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to date of this report are summarized as follows:

HZE2019F12A31ALFE EEE &
BEREESHEUREERIIRESEE
MEBEIEERNLE  BEARER
H - BT -

Type of Training "t
R

Directors

=}

Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Li Xiaobing NKGEE
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng FiRIE A
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BERZ T
Mr. Wang Quan THEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHBITEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR E
Mr. Wei Jian ekt
Mr. Fang Cheng FEfE

Note:
Types of Training

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefits to achieve diversity on the Board. During the year ended
31 December 2019, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy
for the purpose of ensuring that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high
standards of corporate governance.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

A/B
A/B
A/B
A/B

A/B
A/B
A/B

Hiat -
E=IIEER

A HEEY BEETRABNE - i
2 - 2ZRIES

B: BIEEMHEAM W= M7 M
BEETIY

EFTESTLBER

ARRRAREZERESSLLINE
ZRERE - REIE2019F12A318 IE
FE EFSHEMNEFTSZITECKE - MU
BREFSEMTERRE  KRURBHD
Zalb T EEINEENTE  KMREAE
EENAREETRESFENREED
IKIE o



Corporate Governance Report

The Nomination Committee of the Board has the primary
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board based on various measurable objectives with
reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs,
including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural and
educational background, industry and professional experiences.
All nominations and appointments of the member of the Board will
be made on merit basis taking into account the business of the
Company needs from time to time.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy
and the measurable objectives at least annually, and as appropriate,
to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board in support of
the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted nomination policy sets out the
objectives, selection in criteria and nomination procedures for
identifying and recommending candidates for appointment or
re-appointment of Directors in order to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level. During the year ended 31
December 2019, no candidate was nominated for directorship.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Legal Compliance Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial information and reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee
held three meetings to review the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope
of works and, connected transactions and arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without
the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Fang Cheng is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
31 December 2019 to consider the relevant matters regarding the
remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Li Xiaobing, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng and Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Xiaobing is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Directors’
nomination procedures, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence, time commitment and
other relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2019 to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, and to consider the qualifications of the retiring
directors standing for election at the Annual General Meeting.
The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Legal Compliance Committee

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Wang Zhenfeng, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng
and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Fang Cheng is the chairman of the Legal Compliance Committee.
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The principal duties of the Legal Compliance Committee include
monitoring, identifying, reviewing and assessing the key compliance
issues in relation to or arisen in the course of the Group’s
business operations such as, among other aspects, usage of
all acquired parcels of land as well as construction process and
sales arrangements regarding property development projects; and
conducting regular review on the compliance matters identified by
the committee itself, senior management members of the Group
and/or other relevant parties.

The Legal Compliance Committee held twelve meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2019 to monitor, identify, review and
assess the key compliance issues related to various aspects of the
Group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Functions

The functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code
are performed by the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met three times to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate
governance report.

SREERE

ERERZEENIEREEREEE &
Al et R EEREARERGEESR
Bpt (KR ERE) ARSI RE
ERFREBYMERERENBEELHM
EENTIREREE REMRIZES
B AEESREBERER LHEM
HETEANARER

HZE2019F12A31BIEFE - AREBE
BE2ERATZIAEBUESR - #H7 BF
R HEAEEEBEES T EARANE
ZEMEH -

ERLZEgRITH
D.3.1FTE A B AE

o

RER BREZEERITZREH  UR
EEAN/N TMi%amﬁ &%ﬁ‘ﬁ%&
SREEENBIIREEEEER AQ
BIEETFEREARATHTENRERE
B HRETFAIREESEMEIEIIMNETE
T ARNBREHSEERTRMETERA
RRAARBEE GRS TENIRE -

2019 Annual Report
ZE-NEFER

91



92

Corporate Governance Report

TEERBE

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the

EEWHFETR

TREFSEENEHE2019F128318 1
FERITNANRNEESEREETLZESS
FURBRRE KGR L ERLER

table below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HE/ BEERE
Legal Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Compliance General
Name of Director Board  Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
£33 Ezg  EHNZE% HHMzse REZEE AEAKZEE  RREFAE
Mr. Li Xiaobing ZINKEE 56  NAZTER N/A T 17 N/A TR 111
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng TREEE 56  NAZTEE N/A RER N/A 1R 12112 17
Ms. Qi Chunfeng ERRELL 55  NATER N/A &R N/A i N/A MR 17
Mr. Wang Quan TERE 5/5 N/A NER N/A FER N/A MER N/A R A 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEBEE 5/5 3/3 n 11 12/12 1N
Mr. Wei Jian el 5/5 33 17 N/A TR N/A R 01
Mr. Fang Cheng FiERE 5/5 313 i i 12/12 1N
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS R EE R KNIPEE

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting, human
resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes and are reviewed by the Board on annual basis:

e the Board is responsible for and has general oversight of
the management and conduct of the business of the Group,
and is in charge of the overall risk control of the Group.
Any significant business decision involving material risks are
reviewed, analysed and approved at the Board level to ensure
a thorough examination of the associated risks at the highest
corporate governance body.

e the Board and senior management are in charge of overall
business operations and risk monitoring of the Group, and
are responsible for the supervision of the respective fields
of operations as well as the supervision and approval of
any material business decisions of the Group’s project
companies. Procedures and policies are established setting
out clear reporting lines and responsibilities with a view to
facilitating efficient communications among the Board, regional
headquarters and the project companies. A standardized
property development process that governs each step of the
property development activities was also developed.

e the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others,
maintaining a satisfactory control environment and an effective
system of internal control (including any arrangements for
internal audit) and to review the Group’s financial information,
by monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts and half-year report and to
review significant financial reporting judgements contained in
them.
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the Group’s city and site selection decisions are made by the
Board. The project management department at Henan regional
headquarters is in charge of formulating feasibility studies for
development plans and investment strategies, which takes into
account and involves the participation of other departments,
including the finance department, engineering management
department and costs control department.

for certain operational and market risks, control measures
are adopted at an operational level. For example, major
construction risks are minimised by reviewing background
information on general construction contractors before their
appointment and imposing strict contractual requirements,
while adhering to regular quality control measures overseen by
the Group and third-party construction supervision companies.

the Company has adopted various internal policies and
procedures for individual employees in respect of different
aspects of the property development process based on the
operational needs. The Company also provides both in-house
and external training to the employees in order to enhance
their industry knowledge to manage the operational risks.

the Company has established anti-fraud and corruption policy
and whistle blowing policy. The policies have listed out the
guideline, activities considered as fraud and corruption and
whistle blowing mechanism for internal staff. The reporting
channel is posted on the Company’s website for external
parties’ reporting. The complaints or report can be filed
through postage or email.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

REENBT MR BERTHES
SEH - R MEREAHNERE
EEHEAMER (BEMHH - Tk
B LKA ES ) BFARFE
FEE IR E R AT -

mETEELRTSRRME - HAE
LEEE RIS - fla0 0 A
FREETREERBDRMTESR
ERETENLEMEBNARR
X RARBEEHTHEARERE=]
BREEENTEENTEREEIEHE
ERBEREEERTAR -

ARRIERBEEEFT K REHMER
AR N[ 77 E B E B RIS
ROARBEREIERF - NRAF TR
BRHEAE RN - IR EETT
EHE - wmERESERR -

RRBHE T REGF KRB R
BBHEK - ZFEBR /A ETHIA
MHRETE S| - AR ERRRE R B R & B
KRB o RRRBUFIE T BR
REAK IS BRER 5 - RAF LB WA
BB EF Y FXEFHMRER -



Corporate Governance Report

e the Company has also established the policies of financial
reporting and month end financial closing which list out the
guideline on preparing the monthly financial pack, the duties
of different departments, and the procedures of reviewing and
submission of the financial related documents. The policies
also listed out the segregation of duties of the financial
record preparation within the finance department, reporting
channel within the Group and the monthly financial closing
and monitoring procedures. The finance department of the
subsidiaries is responsible for preparing the financial record
on a day-to-day basis and perform monthly financial closing
based on the monthly financial closing checklist. The monthly
financial pack including the financial statements, cash flow
forecast and the key supporting schedule are reviewed by
the finance manager of each subsidiary before submitting to
the Group’s finance department for final review. The Group’s
finance department further reviews and approves the financial
pack received from the subsidiaries before submission to the
Executive Directors for review. The Board would further discuss
the financial performance on a monthly basis.

The Company has engaged independent consultant to perform the
internal audit function for the Group. The independent consultant
has conducted its internal audit review activities according to the
internal audit plan during the year. The Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee, the independent consultant as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31 December 2019, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.
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Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 100 to 114.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
RMB2.16 million. There was no amount incurred for non-audit
services of auditor.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Leung Kam Fai
Anthony, who is an employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the year ended 31
December 2019, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

ARREEBMEERRF  BREERLE
RESRERATHEE

EERBMBHRRNER

EEEREEANAREE2019F12H31H
IEFERBHHRERNET -

BT AEAL T AR A BT 2
T 4 3] 48 B A B 56 B0 B K TR S A
;RIO

RAB B ZHMERESMBBRENE
FEPEHFNBILZHEMREFI00BEES
114H -

BT =

AATMEINEZEENE ERUOKESETAD
EHRMESHE2019F12A318 L FER
HHEZRBEI SN e BARE2168
BT o BEE B AZ A 8 IR BRI EE £ T
A FIE -

DNRWE

WL ERBRRAMATME - FAN
AAEEBETHMARATNAESE RE
FE2019F12H31BLIEFE - HBIRE EMHR
BIZE3.292 M D15/ R AE E %

ol



Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on requisition of
one or more shareholders holding, at the date of requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition should be
made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting should be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
or the Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1409, Floor 14, Leighton Centre, 77 Leighton
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (For the attention of
the Board of Directors/Company Secretary)

Email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com
For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(www.everreachgroup.com), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.
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The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code which sets out
the factors in consideration of the payment of dividend. The Board
endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable
dividend policy and will continually review the same and make
modification when appropriate.
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To the Shareholders of
Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Ever Reach Group
(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 282, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31

December 2019;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then

ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year

then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Our Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

1 Recognition of revenue from sales of properties; and

2 Assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

iRk K 38

P

FRETER

MRETFEEREAMNERHE - R
REARPEEVBRRNBAR/SEEN
FH e cEFHREERMEAEREEM
BHRREEDABRRETREN - BRM
" EHELEREHERNER

BMESSFEANNERETZER AN
T
1 HERVEHEEFRERA &

2 FHERBEFVXERFELERIYE
MR B3R FE



Independent Auditor’s Report

.

pwc

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter 1

B E T SR

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

BRUREERTERA

Refer to Notes 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and
judgements’ and Note 22 ‘Revenue’ to the consolidated
financial statements.

2R e VB mEM T4 [EZE G5 R AE | R
22 [WA -

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance under a sales
contract does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date;
otherwise, the revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. For the year ended 31 December 2019,
revenue of the Group from sales of properties was
RMB1,971.0 million, of which RMB63.1 million was
recognised over time and RMB1,907.9 million was
recognised at a point in time.
MEHEMBRAREREREESRETHEARE
BUHESEAREREANEE  MESEFRGINT
WM ES B H B FRIERRER EER B RIWAE
BEXMBRIMEEFIENE —RFEER - B1E2019
F12A31BILFE  EEEVERHEMBRABAR
#1,971,000,0007T * EH A E#63,100,0007T B &
FERR - T AR1,907,900,000 0 % — R BERERR o

R CE e

FRFITEE (F)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESTNARERRETER

Our procedures in relation to identifying sales contracts
subject to revenue recognised over time include:
BHAMEMENARREEARANEESRNEFE
SCE

e Understood management’s process in identifying
sales contracts with or without enforceable right
to payment.

o THREBRERMHESRAERGIENITEBKEK
R °

e Read the key terms of sales contracts, on a sample
basis, to assess the presence of enforceable right
to payment based on the contract terms.

e HEHEARNBERGR GRHMEEE) URES
R GRRFT i 2 B 17 AE W R SR IE O 58 | AT THE ©

e Obtained and read the letter of the Group’s
legal counsel, in particular, the legal counsel’s
interpretation of the applicable laws and evaluated
the implication on the management assessment of
the enforceability of the right to payment.

e EBEKMEBESSEIAZEMXY  LHEEZE
S 10 8 PR K 2 B R R I BT (i B R B M M R A
BRI SR G AT IRV R E -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter 1 (continued)

BAEFEEE1 (H)

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties
(continued)

BABMEEERSERA ()

For revenue from sales of properties recognised over
time, the Group recognises revenue by measuring
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation at the end of the year. The
progress is measured by the percentage of the contract
costs incurred up to the end of the year to the total
estimated costs. We focus on this because significant
judgements and estimations are required in determining
the estimated total costs, the allocation of total costs
and the accuracy of progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation at the end
of the year.

PMEERRERNMEHERATS - ERERBFTEF
RETKBEHNEENERZERRA - BALEEREEF
REENSRKNMEEEXNETN L HIFE - HFAAE
UL TR EEE M ET AR ~ BRAN S IE R FRE
TRBRAOBEENERNERIERT2ELE ARG R
it e

We also focus on revenue from sales of properties
recognised at a point in time because of the significant
volume of transactions which require significant
audit time and effort. The Group recognises revenue
when effective control of ownership is transferred to
the buyers, which is dependent on the contractual
arrangements for the sale and the laws and regulations
in the relevant jurisdiction.
HREARZGEFTEAEEFTRERIME - HMATAE
RE—BSHERNMEHERA - EEEEMERENE
BRIEGIEEREEREERRA - EEURNHEN SR
ZHE R R ERRADERIER ©

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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REEtEE (&)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWETNAEEREETSE

Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of
properties recognised over time include:

B A RERER R EHEWANERF B

e Understood, evaluated and tested the key internal
controls over the approval of calculation of project
total costs, cost allocation and unit cost.

o T FMERABABILETRBANAE KA
MBI KAFTE T EE RS A ERES o

e  Checked estimated budget cost of projects, on a
sample basis, to related development contracts
and compared with the budget approved by
management.

e BREMEERZESRNMFEBEERAR GRRE
£) - WEEREMENTBEEETEHLL

e Checked the development costs of projects
incurred during the year on a sample basis to
the supporting documents including construction
contracts, invoices and progress reports.

s BMEFAELEMIERRBERANIFHXG (Rl
%) (BEEEaR  BREEERE) -

e Checked material variations, on a sample
basis, to the projects budgeted costs during
the construction period, by examining relevant
supporting documents including revised
construction contracts or variation orders.

o EBREMEIENH (BELEFTRESRSE
EQ) mERNERPHABIEREEXAMELNE
ANEE (RHEEE) o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BARETEE (&)

Key Audit Matter 1 (continued) How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEETERE1 (F) BEMNFANAIEEBERETSE

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties ¢ Checked the mathematical accuracy of the

(continued) calculation of cost allocation and completion
BRAUEHETFTURA (&) progress of the property projects.
o BREVEFARANRRBRTRENFHIEE
i o

Our procedures in relation to revenue from sale of
properties recognised at a point in time include:

BAEARE —RHERMEHERANEF B

° Understood, evaluated and tested the key internal
controls over the recognition of revenue from sale
of properties at a point in time.

o T FERAREENKE SR EHENR
SHA T E B RA SR A ERE S

e Selected sales transactions of properties
recognised at a point in time, on a sample basis,
and performed the following procedures:

e ERRE-REHIKNMEHERS (RHEKE
) - WRFATIREF :

a) Read the signed sales and purchase
agreements to evaluate contractual
arrangements relating to effective transfer of
control.

a) BIEDERBNEBBREATLE @A BITSE
ERNERTHE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BREETEE (F)
Key Audit Matter 1 (continued) How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEEE1 (&) BANES NN EERERETSE
Recognition of revenue from sales of properties b) Checked the transfer of effective control of
(continued) ownership to relevant documents, including
BRAYMEHETFTURA (&) completion certificates, occupation permits

or customer acceptance.
b) WEMAENERZEGIEEENMEEXE (8
FRTIEE  FEFUBXRFPBRKE) -

c) Agreed the sales amount of transactions to
the amount set out in the signed sales and
purchase agreements and bank statements.

c) RRXINHECREERIEEWAMIED
BMIRITHRE —B -

Based on our audit procedures, we found that
transactions tested were supportable by the evidence
we obtained.
REBEHFNETIEF > BRMABRMAANKZZATAEE
BPESEIBRA R o

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter 2

BAREEIE2

Assessment of net realisable value of properties

under development and completed properties
held for sale

AR PR R B ELHERTYRN TR R FE

Refer to Note 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and
judgements’ and Note 10 ‘Properties held or under
development for sale’ to the consolidated financial
statements.

B2 EVBIRERN T4 [EEGFHEG KA R
10 [HfEHEXAEREFEYME] -

The properties under development (“PUD”) and
completed properties held for sale (“PHS”) of the Group
amounted to RMB3,822.3 million and RMB1,281.8
million respectively as at 31 December 2019, which
are significant to the Group’s total assets. The carrying
amounts of PUD and PHS are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value (“NRV”).
R2019F12A31H - EEEREF YR ( [FHEH
ME] ) RFEELERIYE ( [BELERIY
%) NEES R AARES,822,300,0007T & A R ¥
1,281,800,0007T ' G EREAEEN KNI D - FEF
)3 K FF VR R T 5 10 BRTE (B (B DA AR I AT B4 3R %
B ( [ATERFE] ) PHREETE -

R CE e

BRFITEE (H)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAEERREETSEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s NRV
assessment on PUD and PHS include:
BMEAEREEHMETYERFELERTYERAA
B FENF ENEFRLE

e  Obtained the management’s calculation schedules
on provision for PUD and PHS, and tested the
completeness of development projects and the
mathematical accuracy of the schedules.

e RIEEREHRBETYWELFIEHERTIMETR
BENFER  WARFEEENTIRERE
FREVERENE -

e Tested management’s key estimates, on a sample
basis, for:

o AIFHEREENBRMGE GRmaEE) - BR:

a) Selling price which is estimated based on the
prevailing market conditions. We compared
the estimated selling price to recently
transacted prices by making reference to the
Group’s selling price in the same or similar
projects or the prevailing market price of
comparable properties with similar type, size
and location.

a) ERBITHRMEHEERE - HFIKMHEHE
BRETHZSGERETLR  W2ZEZE85E
HRESEUEENEE  SBLERE RARE
LB AL ENRITTIHER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter 2 (continued)

BMEErEE2 (H)

Assessment of net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties held
for sale (continued)

FHERRPURRSFELERTYRNTRRFE (&)

Determination of NRV of PUD and PHS involved critical
accounting estimates on the selling price, variable
selling expenses and, for PUD, the estimated costs
to completion. Given the significant balance of PUD
and PHS and the involvement of critical accounting
estimates, the assessment of NRV of these properties
is considered a key audit matter.
EEREPYERBEHERIMENAEERFEL R
BREHEER  FIZHEEER  ULRFERYRNMG
ARIKAELNERGFHEA - ERFERYE R
EHERTYXENBRBER - RPRERGEHE - &K
PRATEZENENAIER FES - HAREAF
I8 o

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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c)

BRFITEE (H)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAEEREETSEE

Variable selling expenses which are estimated
based on certain percentage of selling price.
We compared this estimated percentage
with the actual average selling expenses to
revenue ratio of the Group in recent years.

AEHEERARGHEERN — T XRE
1Tl - RMAIGZ AT REE S BT F R
ERFEHEERERANL T EITLER -

Estimated costs to completion for PUD. We
compared the estimated costs to completion
to the budget approved by management
and examined the construction contracts
or compared the anticipated completion
costs to the actual costs of similar type of
completed properties of the Group.

PR R M EETR TR o« BPIKEETRT
RATE IR EHUENTEEEITI S - WinERE
FEF - HFBABRIAAEEEERBRE
RIMENERKATETHLR ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BARETEE (&)

Key Audit Matter 2 (continued) How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEETER2 (F) BEMNFANAIEEBERETSE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties ¢ Compared the NRV assessment and provision

under development and completed properties held for impairment provided in prior years, on a
for sale (continued) sample basis, with the subsequent actual written-
FEFERPMERSEHERTYENTRIRFE (&) off and investigated if any significant variance

exists, to assess, historical estimation accuracy
for NRV assessment and impairment made by
management.

o BAIERFEMNEREFHHRAIBERE (R
B%) HBERETERMELE - WHFENER
BAREZRETRAE - UFTEBEEEMEREEREE
aT i SR B B s BB 1T 5T ) ZE M I o

Based on our audit procedure, we found the key
estimates used in the assessment of NRV of PUD and
PHS were supportable by the evidence we obtained.
REHRFANETTIZF > ROABRBRFEFEDIYRR
FELERIYMEN A R FEMRBRE G ABBR
PIEFHB BN

2019 Annual Report
“g-neem 109



110

Independent Auditor’s Report
38 M A% BAD R

-

pwc

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the 2019 Annual Report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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iRk K 38

P

Hib &R

ENRESAHEMERAS - EMER
BIE2019F FHMAFH M2 ILER (B E
iR E M sk BB P H0 it B B A 42 ZEm

WE)

BB GEAHRERNERIL NREEAM
BF - RATHZEEMENBEREANTY
AHETEW ©

BARMYBERE W BRROFRT - HMAW
BEERMEBEMER  UHEMEERES &
BEAMEREEBEA M HRAIKME
BARRETR T BB FEEANEEX
EUFFEEAFERRANIFER

ERBMPAATHIE BREMI/E
fERFEERERRL - ROAFTEHRE
ZEE - BMAEETEREENTERS -

ESRERZEERGREMBEHR
ARENER

BERAEFARERREFTEGMAEMR
e BB B 1S 2 R R E B 2 R R G
BERETREEEMTP SEOKRAMBR
F O UHEARRRESSPBRRAOER
TEERRKRFFRERMEMNERER
BURLPT R ABEHIB & -



Independent Auditor’s Report

.

pwc

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

R CE e

BRpKRE

EERBELZEENGEUBERR
ARENERE (F)

EREGEEUBHRRN  EFRETHE
SESEKENREN  XEBEBRBR TH
FASBKEBANER  URERFE
REDEER  RIEFAEMELE
BRYE LKL HFELBERNER

TTER e

ERZBSARAEBEESENYKER

BREBMRERGRS W BRRAAE
MEE

BHWER  RHSRAMBRRERBES
TEEARKFFERERMEMNEAHER
RABRGBAERE THASREMAER
MZBERE - RAERET (FREBE
BERMOER - R ZINRIRE B EE
it B #) o I TS ARE AT RIEMR
Hi AL & ESAEEAEE - SEFRE
ERKTORE - ETRRBREEE
EAETHES AR - BAHERBLE
FERY BB B3R o $HRRIRUM AT DA B BRF S R
Rl MRESEBHEMEBRELRL
KAlgew BERaMBRREMERBEZF
RAEMBHRRELNCERE - MEBEN
§H R PR AT AR K ©
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

BRRRAKE

BRBMRERGS BB RAAE
MEE (&)

EREEEEDEAR TR BRS
RIERTHELHN - RETHLERE
B o Rl

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

R CE e

BRpKRE

BB ERGES BB RAAE
MEE (&)

s HEERAFEKLSTERMKE
HEH &R - RIRIEFIERAEL R
& EERAFHERERAIBAAMH
MBATHEEN  EMAeERHE
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MREMRBESFEERTHEEME - Al
BUBEZBERETRFBEREE
BREAMBRRTPOMBARE - AR
ERRNEETR  RAIRMAEERR
FERBER - HAWGEmEENZ
AR E B LGB BEME
oo R RREFRLIBERATEE

BEEETRFELE -

o HESAMBMRHNERII®mSN
BENAR  BREE  UREEY
BHREEETERREBRXHMER -

e MESEAERAXBKIHOUKE
HERGEE - BENENRE - UE
HEAMBHREAERER - HMAE
SEFENTM - EBMMIT - M
REFERERERPEE -

BMEEZZEQBATENETHR
- BRREREREFESR  BREEM
FEZRFT o 38 Rl H e fa] B K 7 AP 42 1 BR B
FFH -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Kwok Wai, Jimmy.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt AREFT AT T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB MERE 6 40,685 41,031
Investment properties REME 7 96,700 75,250
Deferred tax assets BT IBEE 21 102,947 57,590
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 6(b) 19,214 -
An investment accounted for using the — fEAREZET|RAIZE
equity method 8 - -
Total non-current assets IEmEEERE 259,546 173,871
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments for leasehold land FHE T HIE N RIE 9 443,330 234,623
Properties held or under development FER S AR
for sale EWE 10 5,104,128 3,890,921
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R H b JE YR IE AN
prepayments AR RIA 11 299,183 312,340
Prepaid income taxes BT FTSEL 55,119 43,218
Contract assets ERIEE 4,005 3,942
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEF BB AR
profit or loss W REE 12 181 190
Restricted cash 2 PR %2R & 13(b) 115,740 125,928
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEY 13(a) 245,157 419,502
Total current assets RN EEARE 6,266,843 5,030,664
Total assets BEE 6,526,389 5,204,535
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As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt AREFT AT T

EQUITY ER
Share capital fi& s 14 10,645 10,645
Share premium & 0% (B 14 299,188 299,188
Retained earnings {REE EF| 15 752,291 549,035
Other reserves H bk 16 153,824 118,821
Equity attributable to owners of the RAREE NEEER
Company 1,215,948 977,689
Non-controlling interests JEFE R R 37 17,551 19,826
Total equity BEER 1,233,499 997,515
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITHER 17 - 29,000
Other long-term borrowings H R EAE R 18 432,348 574,170
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE 21 13,139 19,266
Lease liabilities HEEE 6(b) 16,223 =
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B ERRE 461,710 622,436

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARAR
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e PRI R

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt AREFT AT T

Current liabilities Ny =R
Bank borrowings RITIEK 17 291,000 196,000
Current portion of other long-term H = B (& SR EY
borrowings BIHAZR 5> 18 342,752 271,340
Contract liabilities AREE 19 2,702,327 2,030,488
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E b FIE 20 1,114,038 874,404
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS R & fE 377,855 212,352
Lease liabilities HEAE 6(b) 3,208 -
Total current liabilities mEIBERE 4,831,180 3,584,584
Total liabilities HWEE 5,292,890 4,207,020
Total equity and liabilities HEZRERE 6,526,389 5,204,535

The consolidated financial statements on page 115 to 282 were F115F282 B 4R & MR B 7020204
approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 March SABOHEARLRRESESHE - BREUEK
2020 and the consolidated statement of financial position was MARE TIATREZEE -

signed on its behalf by:

Li Xiaobing Wang Zhenfeng
/oK iR
Director Director
5= o2

The above consolidated statement of financial position should At aR & BA TSR 5 3R FE B BE FY 4R & B 7S 3R
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the FHIFE—OHBIRE -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEmR

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HILEFEE

2019 2018
2019%F 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR¥TT AR FT
Revenue WA 22 1,974,060 1,883,603
Cost of sales SHE A 24 (1,208,771) (1,253,721)
Gross profit EF 765,289 629,882
Fair value gains on investment properties & #2382 FE M 7 4,484 1,410
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSGHEEMS 24 (63,502) (43,985)
Administrative expenses 1THASX 24 (90,558) (99,988)
Net impairment losses on financial assets & §t& &R EE 1% 24 (44,771) (10,704)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hibe /(BE)— F8E 23 19,581 (6,574)
Operating profit &7 590,523 470,041
Finance income BRI A 25 1,230 993
Finance costs B 755 Ak 2N 25 (73,861) (45,271)
Finance costs - net B AS — R ER (72,631) (44,278)
Share of results of an investment FE(E TR A AT BRAY
accounted for using the equity method & ¥4 8 (548) -
Profit before income tax BR Fr 15 %% A A5 517,344 425,763
Income tax expense PRS T X 28 (226,579) (195,902)
Profit for the year FRFHE 290,765 229,861

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kt ARE T ARETT

Attributable to: THI% TR
Owners of the Company PIN/NGIEZZEWN 293,040 224,505
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A (2,275) 5,356
290,765 229,861

Earnings per share attributable to the XA REE AEEERER

owners of the Company (expressed (LULAR¥RERTR)

in RMB)
- Basic and diluted earnings per share  — G ARELAN #4582 7| 29 0.24 0.24

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read FiliR & 18 25 7% FE ELRE M AR & B 75 R 3R B
in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated FE—OHBIRE o
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeEEZHEWER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEFEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR T T

Profit for the year FRFE 290,765 229,861
Other comprehensive income HipZ2mEmUWBA
— [tem that will not be reclassified — TERBEEHFIEZRmD
subsequently to profit or loss #)IE 5
— Revaluation surplus upon transfer - EITERAMEEER
of an owner-occupied property to REMERHEG R
investment property, net of tax ($0BREREIE) 7,459 -

Total comprehensive income for the year, £ A2 E UK A 258 (HRFIIE)

net of tax 298,224 229,861
Attributable to: TH| &7 E
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A 300,499 224,505
Non-controlling interests AR (2,275) 5,356
298,224 229,861
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income Fiisr A 2w S 3R FE B RS MY 4 A B AR R
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the RMTEF—HEE o

consolidated financial statements.

1 20 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARAEEAEL
Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital premium earnings reserves Sub-total interests equity

Bx  RGEE REEN HitREE N OEEREER 0 48R
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wit ARBFr ARBTT ARBTZ ARBTZ ARETZ ARETRZ ARETR

At 1 January 2018

®20181A1A 1 - 338,807 104,544 443,352 14,470 457,822

Comprehensive income  2E KA

Profit for the year

FRNE = - 224505 - 224,505 5356 229,861

Transactions with owners E#E AN 5
Issuance of ordinary shares {7 L3@R 14 2,661 307,171 - - 309,832 - 309,832

Capitalisation Issue

BEAMEELT 14 7,983 (7,983) = = - - -

Appropriation to statutory — EEZE AT FEE

reserves 16 = = (14,277) 14,277 - - -
Total transactions with  BEEFANR S
owners k] 10,644 299,188 (14,277) 14,277 309,832 - 309,832
At 31 December 2018  A2018%
12A31H 10,645 299,188 549,035 118,821 977,689 19,826 997,515
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SEREZBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATEE AES
Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital premium earnings reserves Sub-total interests equity
BRA  RORE REEN HtRE Nt FERER HiER
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i AEETFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETn
At 1 January 2019 R2019F181H 10,645 299,188 549,035 118,821 977,689 19,826 997,515
Comprehensive income  2EHRA
Profit for the year ERFIE - - 293,040 - 293,040 2,275) 290,765
Other comprehensive incomeE % EIUA - - - 7,459 7,459 - 7,459
Total comprehensive FREHEKALE
income for the year - - 293,040 7,459 300,499 (2,275) 298,224
Transactions with owners EHE AN S
2018 Final dividend 018FREKE 30 - - (62,240) - (62,240) - (62,240)
Appropriation to statutory ~ EEZEEEEE
reserves 16 - - (27,544) 27,544 - - -
Total transactions with  EEEANRS
owners “am = - (89,784) 27,544 (62,240) - (62,240)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F
12A831H 10,645 299,188 752,291 153,824 1,215,948 17,551 1,233,499
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should Al AR & e B B 3K E HARE M 4R & B IS R

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the

consolidated financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December

HZ12H31HLEEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARET T

Cash flows from operating activities RETEMBSRERE
Net cash generated from operations EIBEAH TR

(Note 31(a)) (H1:£31(a)) 45,591 825,461
Interest paid S (55,479) (95,241)
PRC income tax paid B EAMSH (96,849) (64,808)
PRC land appreciation tax paid 2 - A B+ 3 (E F (30,099) (96,027)
Net cash(used in)/generated from LeESTEE) (),

operating activities EXHRE T (136,836) 569,385
Cash flows from investing activities RETEMBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BENEE (6,167) (7,325)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and &9 « BE & 25 #5208

equipment (Note 31(c)) (K15#31(c)) 48 166
Repayments received from related parties B B 5 S B 2 =K

(Note 34(b)) (F3£34(b)) - 6,948
Investment in an associate HERE RN T (24,000) -
Cash proceeds from disposal of an associate H &4 A T HIR & 15708 24,000 -
Interest received B Y F B 1,230 993
Restricted cash deposits ZREIRESEFER 10,188 (70,428)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEHEE

investing activities (FrA) e 5,299 (69,646)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities RMEETHMEBEESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEKFTE IR 342,000 226,000
Repayments of bank borrowings EBIRITHER (276,000) (571,000)
Proceeds from borrowings from non-financial K 8 3E& RIS E XA FT5 2I8
institutions 71,412 -
Repayments of borrowings from non-financial (2% 3E& RIS E X
institutions (141,822) (201,722)
Repayments to related parties (Note 34(b)) M) BB 5 i3k (M1a#34(b)) - (12,486)
Repayments to third parties ME=HER (3,321) (3,119)
Advance from a subsidiary’s minority I EE NG & i
shareholder 30,900 -
Payments of lease liabilities SNHEARE (3,662) -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERNARRESB ARE (62,315) -
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIR D P15 B - 317,056
Net cash used in financing activities RMETHMAREFEHE (42,808) (245,271)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RERHEELZEY (R ),
equivalents 120 (174,345) 254,468
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FYRE MBS EEY
year 419,502 165,034
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year £RBERBLSZEEY (f:713)
(Note 13) 245,157 419,502
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read LFitir &R &R 8 R IEEEM AR S B 15w

in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited (Cayman
Islands Company Number: 313570, the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 July 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 November 2018 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

() Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and disclosure requirements
of the HKCO (Cap. 622).

e SRR MR

—REHR

BEEE (ER ERAA (S
SRR 313570  [RAAR]) ®
20167 H22BE A = B S M B 32
REBREER DA - HeT Ml EEi
#iF ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

ARB/—RREEBRE - KAF]
REWBAR (EAIAERE]) X
EEPEAREME ([FE]) #E2Y

ARARKHR2018F11 A12BRES
A SARAT ([BZAT]) TR
Em(TEm])e

BRIERBHER REMBBERTIAA
RETITZ27 -

EXETHBEREE

A EHIRBEZETHE AP BRRE
FIRANEIESFER - KRB FHH
Sh FEBRERABZIFREER
FEH °

2.1 RBEE

() BYEEHBHRE LA
TEBHBREEA D) R
EEADRS (BEEAT
61 WEEER

REVEREREBRBERBH
RS AR R BB R BHED
FO22EM I RRERE ©
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
followings:

e financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss — measured at fair value through profit or
loss, and

* investment properties — measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(ili) New standard, amendments and interpretation
of HKFRSs effective in 2019

The Group has applied the following new standard,
amendments and interpretation for the first time for
its annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2019:

. HKFRS 16 “Leases”

e Amendments to HKFRS 9 - regarding prepayment
features with negative compensation

e Amendments to HKAS 28 - regarding long-term
interests in associates and joint ventures

e Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2015 - 2017 Cycle

e Amendments to HKAS 19 - regarding plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement

e HK (IFRIC) Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments”

The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 16 is
disclosed in Note 2.2. The other amendments and
interpretation described above are either currently
not relevant to the Group or had no material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

e SRR MR

2 EXRSEEEGE (&)

2.1 REUEE (F)

(iii) R2019FE MW E BB I

BEERZHET - LB
EARRE

AEBEE B HE B2019F1 A
1HREBENFEEREHES
RIER AT 2R« (B5] &

o FHEWBHEEAF6
5% [HE

s FRMBHMEEAF
BEITAR)-ABA
1B AR B 3R 1

« B @ie 8 Hoe
CHESES S 1Ny
RABOEy RIS

o 2015%F Z20174 A Hj
BB SRR F
[

o FH BT ERFIOR
(BETAS) — 5HEHERT -
R

o T (BRMBEHmER
BZBE) 2EF23%
[T 15 752 B 32 &Y S i
1%

RNE B RS 2RI ZE16
A ERK 2.2 8 o
FtE B R K2 e B A
REEER  HHAEEN
BREMBRRITEERNY

o .
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New standard and amendments of HKFRSs

2.1 RAUEE (F)

2 EXSEEGE (&)

(iv) HRERANEEYHR

not yet adopted

The following new standard and amendments
have been published but are not mandatory for the
financial year beginning on 1 January 2019 and have
not been early adopted by the Group. These new
standard and amendments are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements
when they become effective.

Standard/Amendments Key requirements
R BT BEER

R 2 H A R RASET

AT R RIEFTE &K
B - MEI R 20191 A
18 558 & B B S 58 il A&
R B RN 5 B 4R B R
WM o IR RIS E] AT
A U S S N B Y B
MEBREATE -

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RUTHEHS 2%
FRNFEERBER

e HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” Requires adopting a current

1 January 2021

BRU B MEERE175 [RR

=El

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKAS 8 — regarding definition of

material

BEGEAFIRLBE SR

RIS (BF]) — EAMER

Amendments to HKFRS 3 -

regarding definition of a business

FREMGHRELEFEINR (&
7l)— EBHER

s

Revised conceptual framework

for financial reporting

RIBRTR R E B SAESR

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

measurement model where estimates
are re-measured in each reporting
period.

ZXRAENERE  EREREER
B3R & B AR T E AT = ©

Regarding using a consistent definition
of materiality and incorporate some
of the guidance in HKAS 1 about
immaterial information.

BN —BNERZ EEIMAETE
S ERIEIRAMIEEAEERNE
TH5 °

The amended definition of a business
requires an acquisition to include an
input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

RIETEB 2 EERETWBREE A
BAR—EAEENRE - mELESH
EIEELRENBEERNER -

Regarding a standard-setting decisions
in determining the accounting policies
for transactions, events or conditions.

FREER S - BHSGEEN SRR
ARSI EIRR ©

(but likely to
be extended)

20211 H1H
(MERTREXETR )

1 January 2020

20201 H1H

1 January 2020

202051 H1H

1 January 2020

202051 H1H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRSEEEGE (&)

22 SR BERNEE

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 “Leases” on the Group’s financial statements that have
been applied from 1 January 2019.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases”
retrospectively from 1 January 2019, but has not restated
comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted
under the specific transition provisions in the standard.
The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening
financial position on 1 January 2019. The new accounting
policies are disclosed in Note 2.27.

(i) Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has used the following practical expedients permitted
by the standard:

e applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics,

° relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to
performing an impairment review — there were
no onerous contracts as at 1 January 2019,

K ERRER AV B REERE
165% [ &1 52019F1 818 &
AN ST BRE NS BT
WMRHTE o

REBH2019F1 A1 H BB P
RABE BB mEERF165% [
El  BRBRBEANPHEE
B MR 2 R RE2018 5 s
HMEII L RE T - Bt - 377
MERBFEI B EF 5B KA
FEHR2019F1 A1 8 89 EAF B4 B Ak
TR AR RER o BT e ETBUR T EE
22THHFE o

() FFERWNTTREERZ

REREREEMBREE
A 165570 - ANEEER N
TZEAFRAFOATHER
Vabz

o HWAAAEMBLUEHRN
HEMREGFERAE /R
&

o (KMBEMBNEERS
BEOTE - (ERETT
BEEMHNBERAE -
M2019F1 A1H I &
BEEAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i) Practical expedients applied (continued)

e  accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1
January 2019 as short-term leases,

e  excluding initial direct costs for the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application, and

e using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend
or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into
before the transition date the Group relied on its
assessment made applying HKAS 17 “Leases” and
HK (IFRIC) Interpretation 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease”.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
(i) Measurement of lease liabilities

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had
previously been classified as ‘operating leases’
under the principles of HKAS 17 “Leases”. These
liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January
2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1
January 2019 was 5.57%.

2 EXRSEEEGE (&)

2.2 SR BERNEE (&)

(i) HESENE

REBB BB RE 2R E
165% @ ANEER 2 AIRIESR

BE RS

1757 [1H & |

MERAFATEEHE] Eﬁ
HERRBEEARF &%

BEAFKEENS ﬁ%%ﬁ
201941 18 & fl A &Y
EEERNERBRRAEE
£ R2019F1A1H - #
E B &3 e & A niEF

IR E BN

RE55.57% °

2019
20194
RMB’000
AREFT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at R2018F12 431 HFEEA]

31 December 2018 ST B AR 19,060
Future interest charges RERFEFAX (4,812)
Lease liabilities recognised as at R2019F1 A1 EBERNEE

1 January 2019 =L 14,248
Of which are: Hep

Current lease liabilities BNHAFHE B E 2,995

Non-current lease liabilities JERNEIHEEE 11,253

14,248
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount
equal to the respective lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that
would have required an adjustment to the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application.

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the

following type of assets:

2 EXSEEGE (&)

2.2 B HRENES (&)
(iii) FRAEEENSE

fEAEEERER N EEHE
EBENSETE - Wik
MR2018F12H31H 42 & B
BAR R P ERA T EERE
B E I B A5 sk B 5T A BT K
R EREELFAE - RNERE
BB  MEEHFEREE
EETHAENEBMERL -

ERRHERAEEEENT
KRB AR

31 December 1 January

2019 2019

2019F12H31H 201991 A1H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Properties ES 19,214 14,688
Total right-of-use assets FEREEESRE 19,214 14,688
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
(iv) Adjustments recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 January
2019
The change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the consolidated statement of

financial position on 1 January 2019:

° Right-of-use assets - increased by
RMB14,688,000

° Prepayments — decreased by RMB440,000

° Lease liabilities — increased by RMB14,248,000

(v) Lessor accounting

e The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held
as lessor under operating leases as a result of
the adoption of HKFRS 16.

e ISR

2 EXRSEEEGE (&)

2.2 SR BERNEE (&)

(iv) R2019F1B1B E&SH
BRRRABERNFRE

SR E B ¥2019F1 8
1HERE MR IR AR
THEEEATE

e EHBEEE-HEMA
R #14,688,0007T

o BRNHKE-EBIAR
#440,0007T

e HEBEBE-HEMAR
#14,248,0007C

(v) HEASTER

s REMBEMBREE
AIE165R1& - AEEH
ARRBEEHEER
HEARFAEEENS
BRIR{E LT FE -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Subsidiaries

2.3.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 MIBATR (#&)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)

231 Z#ARE (&)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost. Under the equity method of
accounting, the investments are initially recognised
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive
income.

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
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liability resulting from a contingent consideration 22 Bk EE A W) (] & EE 3k
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and BENRAFE - EEE
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a A PHBEFR T ER ]

business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 WEBAR (&)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued) 231 Z#ARE (&)

(@) EHEG (&)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred REBEK TEENEM
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the FARBRUEE B B
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the NEERER - HRIEE
fair value of the contingent consideration that is EXEENHARER

deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previously held equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

()

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions - that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded
in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to
its fair value at the date when control is lost, with
the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. It means the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specifically
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
Since the majority of the assets and operations
of the Group are located in the PRC, the financial
information is presented in Renminbi (“‘RMB”), which
is the functional currency of the Company and the
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, within “Finance income or expenses”. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within
“Other gains/(loss) — net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position are translated at the closing
rate;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rate;
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM”). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as executive directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement
of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

— Motor vehicles 4 years
— Furniture, fittings and 5 years
equipment
— Electronic devices 3-5 years
— Buildings 20 years
— Leasehold improvements the shorter of lease

terms or useful lives

The assets’ residual value and useful life are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised as “Other gains/(losses) — net” in the statement
of profit or loss.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 FFHESRBHGEWE

2.7 Properties held or under development for sale

Properties held or under development for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Development
cost of properties comprises cost of land use rights
(including land auction price, other demolition cost to
acquire land and resettlement housing construction
costs after deducting related government grants),
construction costs and borrowing costs incurred during
the construction period. Upon completion, the properties
under development are transferred to properties held for
sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion.

Properties held or under development for sale are
classified as current assets unless the construction period
of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond normal operating cycle.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group. It also includes properties that
are being constructed or developed for future use as
investment properties. Land held under operating leases
are accounted for as investment properties when the rest
of the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined by
management of the Group at each reporting date taking
into account of any available valuation results performed
by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in
fair values are recorded in the statement of profit or loss
as a separate line item.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Land use rights

Land in mainland China is state-owned and no individual
land ownership right exists. The Group acquired the rights
to certain land, and the premiums paid for such rights are
recorded as land use rights. Land use rights are classified
and accounted for in accordance with the intended use
of respective properties as erected on the land.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

MR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

210 Land use rights (continued)

2.11

For properties that are held for own use, corresponding
land use rights are regarded as right-of-use assets, and
are stated at cost and amortised over the use terms using
the straight-line method.

For properties that are under development and held for
sale, corresponding land use rights are accounted for as
part of the development costs, and are accounted for in
accordance with the policy stated in Note 2.7.

For properties that are held as investment properties,
corresponding land use rights are accounted for as part
of the costs, and are accounted for in accordance with
the policy stated in Note 2.8.

Investments and other financial assets

2.11.1Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value

(either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

211 RERHMESHEE (&)

211 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.11.1Classification (continued) 211058 (&)
The classification depends on the entity’s business AEFAREREECME
model for managing the financial assets and the ENEEEAUARBESRE

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business model
in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
2.11.2Recognition and measurement
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. The Group classified its debt instruments
into the following measurement category:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at amortised cost
and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised
or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

211 RERHMESHEE (&)

211 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.11.2Recognition and measurement (continued) 2N2MERMETE (&)
Equity instruments #m T A
The Group subsequently measures all equity REBEBIRAFETERN
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s BRERRE - MAEETEE
management has elected to present fair value BEEREMEEBATIR

gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established. Changes in the
fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in other gains/(losses)
— net in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.11.3Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost and financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk, Note 3.1(b) details how the Group
determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses (i.e the present value of all
cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
assets. The provision matrix is determined based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the contract assets and trade receivables with
similar credit risk characteristics and is adjusted for
forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

211 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
2.11.3lmpairment of financial assets (continued)

Impairment on other receivables are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.

2.12 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in statements of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the relevant company or the
counterparty.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13

2.14

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for properties sold, leasing of properties or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Contract assets and liabilities and cost for
obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods
or services to the customer. The combination of those
rights and performance obligations gives rise to a net
asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised as
contract asset if the measure of the remaining conditional
rights to consideration exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure
of the remaining rights. Costs such as stamp duty
and sales commissions incurred directly attributable to
obtaining a contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and
recorded in contract assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Contract assets and liabilities and cost for
obtaining contracts (continued)

For contracts where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised property is
different, the transaction price is adjusted for the effects
of a financing component, if significant.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts. In the consolidated and Company’s
statements of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

217 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18

2.19

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their

intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowings costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

220 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHEBEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

220 ENHIRIEEEFRISHL (&)

220 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) JEFEFTISB

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill, and the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

220 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXRSEEEGE (&)

220 ENHIRIEEEFRISHL (&)

220 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

221 Employee benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post-retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administrated funds managed by the PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22

2.23

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Financial guarantee liabilities
Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised in respect

of the financial guarantee provided by the Group to the
banks for the property purchasers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23

2.24

Financial guarantee liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After
initial recognition, such contracts are measured at the
higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less cumulative amortisation of income
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15. The fair value
of financial guarantees is determined as the present
value of the difference in net cash flows between the
contractual payments under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the
consolidated statements of financial position when, and
only when, the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged or cancelled or expired.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of properties and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is shown, net of discounts and after eliminating
sales with the Group companies. The Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

(@) Sales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset
is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

e creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e do not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period
as a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Sales of properties (continued)

For property development and sales contract for
which the control of the property is transferred at
a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
property is accepted by the customer, or deemed
as accepted according to the contract, which is the
point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the property, and
the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

Rental income

Rental income from properties being let under

operating leases is recognised on a straight line
basis over the lease terms.

2.25 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis

using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26

2.21

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to properties held or under
development for sales are presented in the statement
of financial position by deducting the grants in arriving
at the assets’ carrying amounts and are credited to
the statement of profit or loss upon the sales of the
properties.

Leases

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group is the
lessee. The new policy is described below and the impact
of the change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 December 2018, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were not
transferred to the Group as lessee were classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) were
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEASHHEBRE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

221 #HE (&)

227 Leases (continued)

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based
on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected
not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

e variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group

is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

227 Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

e  makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEASHHEBRE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

221 #HE (&)

227 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

e any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally amortised over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
motor vehicles.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

229 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other
than ordinary shares

° by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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e SRR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEASHHEBRE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

229 SRER (&)

229 Earnings per share (continued)

(ii) Diluted earnings per share (continued)

Where the number of ordinary shares outstanding
increases as a result of a capitalisation, bonus issue
or share split, or decreases as a result of a reverse
share split, the calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share for all periods presented will be
adjusted retrospectively.

2.30 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
also required in accordance with Note 2.9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks comprising market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group is engaged in the development, sale
and management of properties solely in the
PRC with almost all transactions denominated
in RMB. In addition, the majority of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB.
Accordingly, the Group is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk, except for
certain bank deposits denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HKD”).

Fluctuation of the exchange rates for HKD
against RMB will affect the Group’s result of
operations. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management closely monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will take actions when
necessary.
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)

(1)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, if HKD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against RMB,
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit
of the Group for the year 2019 would have been
lower/higher by RMB127,000 (2018: post-tax
profit lower/higher by RMB1,764,000), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange loss/gain from
bank deposits denominated in HKD.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Except for bank deposits
with stable interest rates, the Group has no
other significant interest-bearing assets.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
from banks and non-bank third party lenders.
Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group has not hedged
its cash flow or fair value interest rate risk.
The interest rates and terms of repayments of
borrowings are disclosed in Note 17 and Note
18.
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +“REREE (#&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 eREKEZE (&)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) THEEBS (&)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) HELEERADFEF
(continued) FmEpg (&)
Management does not anticipate significant R TEETR1T A F
impact to interest-bearing assets resulting from RIAeHRERNEL
changes in interest rates, as the interest rates B bt B TR TR ER R R
of bank deposits are not expected to change B HE BEEEEK
significantly. BERATE o
The Group’s profit or loss are sensitive to REBEZZHEREEF
higher/lower interest expenses from borrowings 5| k8 &Y% B & A B
at floating rates as a result of changes in MR o

interest rates.

Impact on post-tax profit

HB A ENEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Interest rates — increase by FR — FFB01EES,

50 basis points (1,069) (745)
Interest rates — decrease by FZ — TFER501EE 2,

50 basis points 1,069 745
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +“REREIE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 eREKREE (&)

(b) Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of bank deposits, trade
and other receivables, contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts included in the consolidated
statements of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

(i)  Bank deposits

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-
quality financial institutions. The table below
shows the bank deposit balances as at 31
December 2019 and 2018:

(b) EER

AEBYEBEREEETE
(o RITHER - BHREM
MR - EREERME
BRARNEKEFBAREK
MEEESASEEHAES
REENRSEERR -

(i) RiTFEH

ReRFGERREE
2. SEESREE -
T X 8 = 1R2019F &
201812 H31H H iR
TR EERR

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AE¥TFT

Counterparty HFH
— Deposits in the four major state- — FAH E P AR A RTT
owned banks of the PRC EOPET N 195,407 308,851
— Deposits in other listed banks of — AHRBEEM FHIRTT
the PRC EORER S 101,842 139,950
— Deposits in other banks — REAMBITHER 63,163 96,059
360,412 544,860

Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance of these counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial guarantees

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales are made to purchasers with an
appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments. The Group has
arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan
during the guarantee period, the bank holding
the guarantee may demand the Group to
repay the outstanding principal of the loan
and any interest accrued thereon. Under such
circumstances, the Group is entitled to take
over the legal title and possession of the related
properties after the relevant legal procedures to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. In this regard, the directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach
to providing for expected losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected losses provision for all trade
receivables and contract assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The Group reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of each individual trade receivables
and contract assets to ensure the adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amount. Credit is only granted to tenants with
sufficient financial strength. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
Therefore, credit risks of the Group from sales
of properties and lease of properties are limited.

The loss allowance provision for those balance
was not material for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)

The Group closely monitors these other
receivables to ensure actions are taken to
recover these balances in the case of any risk
of default.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. The
Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting
credit risk and expected loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

e internal credit rating

e external credit rating

e actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligations

e Qgctual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the borrower
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +“REREIE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 eREKREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERB (&)

(iv) B EWRZXE (T E

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable) ZHET B E RN 0E
(continued) LAR AT B 12 EF )
(%)
e  significant increases in credit risk on other o [RI—EBHARHEHA
financial instruments of the same debtor PRTANEER
iy ?ﬁﬁi\%i'a‘ pill
e significant changes in the expected o EBHAMTEERR
performance and behavior of the debtor, MITREBEAEERE
including changes in the payment status it BIEAEEE
of debtor in the Group and changes in the T A SRR
operating results of the debtor LA RBEBARLE
FEMEL

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
within 365 days of when they fall due.

The Group uses four categories for other
receivables (excluding prepaid tax and
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are
aligned to external credit ratings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

3 ERERER (F)

TREREE ()

(b) EERR (&)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and (iv) H e fE W 5 E (T €
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable) 1ETE T F B R B 0 B
(continued) LR AJ e B (B )

(#&)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning SR ¥ NS CIFEY Zf)f
the Group’s expected credit loss model is as BEANREZHBEN
follows: T s

Basis for recognition of
Category Group definition of category expected credit loss provision
55l HRINARRE BRARHCEBRBENESE
Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a 12 months expected losses.

strong capacity to meet contractual cash flow ~ Where the expected lifetime of

an asset is less than 12 months,

expected losses are measured at

its expected lifetime.
& BRE VEAEREERRERE EIH2EAREE - WEERNTEHR

Underperforming

BE

Non-performing

TR

Write-off

s

EPENR
WEN

Receivables for which there is a significant
increase in credit risk; as significant increase in
credit risk presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are more than 30 days past due

FEWHIRS KO EERBREZ LN : RS
&/ SR e BT aRBAR30REASERBRA
BB

Interest and/or principal repayments are more
than 365 days past due
FIBR /A& ETEEBIARIER

Interest and/or principal repayments are

more than 2 years past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery

FIER /A ERSHEARSF  YEAERE
Bl

FHIR12(EA
RHFHEHE -

- RIFEHEEIZE

Lifetime expected losses

BEFHRNEHRER

Lifetime expected losses

BEFHRHNESRER

Asset is written-off
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +%“REREE (&)

3.1 SEEARREER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERBS (&)

(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and (iv) F &YW E (T 6
surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable) 72 E AT E R0 E
(continued) LA R BT Bl 8 1 1 7 )

(%)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected losses
on a timely basis. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic
data.

The Group writes off those receivables, in whole
or in part, when it has exhausted all practical
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include ceasing enforcement activity.
The Group has no written off for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: RMBO).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iv) Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax and

surcharges and value-added-tax recoverable)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loss
allowance provision was determined as follows:

3 ERERER (F)
3.1 EEARREER (&)
(b) FEREM (&)
(iv) A ERXE (T E
1EEN R R 0 E
AR TR 5] 69 12 E 7 )
(%)

MR2019%F &2018%F12
H31H @ BEREET

I
As at 31 December 2019 As at 31 December 2018
20195127318 R2018512A31R
Carrying Carrying
amount amount
Gross (net of Gross (net of
Expected Carrying  impairment Carrying impairment
Loss Rate Amount provision) Amount provision)
KEfE HHfE
il BEAE (MBRAEERE) RELE (MHREER)
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT NEETT
Current ke 0.1% 201,077 200,876 216,036 215,820
More than 30 days past due AT ER N 0.5% 30,328 30,131 1,856 1,847
More than 365 days past due AL RN 20.0% 1,652 1,322 55,857 44,685
More than 2 years past due ke 100.0% 55,440 - - -
297,497 241,329 273,749 262,352

The allowance recognised in profit or loss for
impairment provision of other receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
are disclosed in Note 24.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 ERERER (F)

3.1 EREAREER (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBEZRK
Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient AEEERESESERANT
cash through internally generated sales proceeds and HEMSRIBE R R AE
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities FEERBEREEEHIRS U
to meet its operation needs and commitments in MEEMFEBENEETK
respect of property projects. MAGE °
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERDBREREEREZSR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on FEA B BV FIEREARE - RAE
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the HHAN T AEE SR E
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed E-RABBENEBRER
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash REGRBRRE ©
flows.
Between Between
Within 1and 2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
15/ 152% 2555 SEML it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETR ABETL  AEEFT  AREFR
As at 31 December 2019 R2019512831H
Bank borrowings iHIEE S 291,000 - - - 291,000
Interest payments on bank borrowings 8775 2X¢0% & (13 10,423 - - - 10,423
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 988,260 - - - 988,260
Other long-term borrowings Hfh REER 342,752 11,128 261,220 - 715,100
Interest payments on other long-term ~~ Eft REHEEIFIS 13
borrowings 46,548 16,861 21,419 - 84,828
Lease liabilities HERRE 4,221 3,982 8,629 6,533 23,31
1,683,210 191,971 291,268 6,533 2,172,982
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 ERERER (F)

3.1 EREAREER (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) "BESR (&)
Between Between
Within 1and?2 2and5 QOver
1 year years years 5 years Total
15 150F 255 SEIE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEETE  ARKFr ARETT  AREFrT AEETR
As at 31 December 2018 R201851231H
Bank horrowings Fitaat 196,000 29,000 - - 225,000
Interest payments on bank borrowings FOERAASHF 11,765 504 - - 12,269
Trade and other payables A REMENTE 815,750 - - - 815,750
Other long-term borrowings Hth REET 271,340 262,960 250,210 61,000 845,510
Interest payments on other At RBEIOFISAH
long-term borrowings 48,437 23,062 25,411 1,720 98,630
1,343,292 315,526 275,621 62,720 1,997,159
Note: Interests on bank borrowings and long-term Fiat : RITERERRHAERD

borrowings are calculated based on borrowings held
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Floating-rate interests are estimated using the
prevailing interest rates as at 31 December 2019
and 2018, respectively.
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e SRR MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +“REREIE (&)

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXRERER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings,
including interest bearing borrowings from related parties
and third parties, lease liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity, as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position,
plus net debt.

AREEERNEEN B RRHEERA
SEERELE  URBIREX
B - I 455 REEAREBAR

REFRNABEARRE - A5E
AN TRRORE SR
BOTHBOREEEEARDE
i% o

AEBEAER L R GEEERE
BN o L RIZEFF R IAE
REFEFE - MERFELER
mE(ERREEBTNE=7
MEFEER HEAE) FRER
ERACEFEMAE  BXER
AlRER B ISR R D AR A0 #E 21
RN LERFREETE -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3

3.2 Capital risk management (continued)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were

as follows:

TREREE ()
3.2 EXEARERE (&)

R2019%F 201812 A31 BHyE
B RINT -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT AEBTFT

Borrowings (Note 17) B (HZE17) 291,000 225,000
Other long-term borrowings (Note 18) HEREER (H2E18) 775,100 845,510
Lease liabilities (Note 6(b)) HMEBE (Kz6m) 19,431 -
Total borrowings ER Gk 1,085,531 1,070,510
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IREeERIReEEY

(Note 13) (H1a£13) (245,157) (419,502)
Net debt B F 5 840,374 651,008
Total equity B 1,233,499 997,515
Total capital BN 4B %R 2,073,873 1,648,523
Gearing ratio EIRE = 40.52% 39.49%

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy
as follows:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

See Note 7 for disclosures of the investment properties
that are measured at fair value.

e SRR MR

3 TEEREE (&)
3.3 D FEfF

TREQFEFENBERIMA
R ABURR B R DT AR B
NFEABRNEBTE - AR
AR TSR T XAt w5 35 A
NHERBAN=EER :

~ FAEAERERRERDS
(B Gk ) (1
@) -

— HABIENREAG R
B S R 0 B A
W THREE (DEE %
BB (BN 6T 4 & (B 1) (2
B) -

- FERABENSEHENE
ER B EHABE (AR
BRBAZE) (F3E) -

BRAFEFENREMEORE
BE2RMEET -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E %E2/E #E3E #met
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETIT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets at fair value BRATEHERER

through profit or loss ARNESREE
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 181 - - 181
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A31H 190 - - 190
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 ERERER (F)

3.3 DV EMF (&)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E E2fE £3E et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Investment properties BEYHE
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H

- 96,700 96,700

At 31 December 2018 R2018F12H31H

= 75,250 75,250

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 +“REREIE (&)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A EME (&)
As the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss HRAEERENEA T EER
held by the Group are security assets traded in active Eam ARNeREERMLEEM
market whose fair value is based on quoted market price BEENZHEE HAATE
at reporting date. Therefore, they are included in level 1. TR BRI E B B M is R ER

B o E - KA ABE -

The investment properties are not traded in active markets KEMENIEAEEEMSE BN
nor does the fair value determined by using valuation BBAEANEEEAUSEEMSH
techniques that maximise the use of observable market BHEERMNEE LN FE-
data. Therefore, they are included in level 3. bt - EFtAFEIE o

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EBEEEFTRHE
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are mEt RAE S BTG - WABE
based on historical experience and other factors including KB REMERERER  BFETH
expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable BB FREE AR EHNASETE -

under the circumstances.

The management makes estimates and assumptions IR B ORRE L L 5T RREK o RS
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates M T2 m L E A REAENER
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. HRER - 2ERTETBFEANE
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk ERBEREEFHEAFENEX
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of R R ET BRI HAT ©

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined
below.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over time
when the Group’s performance do not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date; otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. The Group may not change or substitute the
property unit or redirect the property unit for another use
due to the contractual restrictions with the customer and
thus the property unit does not have an alternative use
to the Group. However, whether there is an enforceable
right to payment depends on the terms of sales contract
and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply
to the contract.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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4 EEGEFRAM (&)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1

4.2

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognises property development revenue
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation at the reporting
date. The progress is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up
to the end of reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each property unit in the contract.
The Group calculated the cost allocation based on type
of properties, gross and saleable floor areas. Significant
judgements and estimations are required in determining
the completeness of the estimated total costs and the
accuracy of progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation at the reporting date. The Group
has a standard cost budgeting and estimate completion
process in which management reviews and approves the
development progress and execution of the performance
obligations. As part of this process, management reviews
and approves information including but not limited to,
the cost to achieve the schedule and variations to the
project budgeted costs. Changes in cost estimates in
future periods can have effect on the Group’s revenue
recognised. In making the above estimations, the Group
relies on past experience and work of contractors and, if
appropriate, surveyors.

Development costs directly attributable to
property development activities

The Group estimates property construction costs upon
recognition of respective costs of sales. Such estimates
are substantiated by detailed budgetary information as
developed by the management, and will be assessed
periodically, as the constructions progress. Should these
estimates depart from their actual finalised costs, such
differences would affect the accuracy of costs of sales
recognised.

4 EEGEFRAM (&)

4.1

4.2

WA (&)

AEEBESENBRSEH=E
BITEMNEENEE - BER R
RYMEFREWA - ZERTIIRE
ARERETRAOBETMELD
ZHFEA - BBRLEHERS
HRMEENERAAERER
PEMEEMBBITRANE D
LETTRIE - AEBERBEVMER
B BmREEE R EmETHE
RADE - REEERS AT
EETENE EMERGAEHEK
REY SRR R E ) R
FEELEARHME RES - K
BEARENRATRE kAT
ORI - BEEE R REILELD
BEENEREERRITER © 1F
RZBEN—E D EEEEMN
LEYR (BREFRR) TXE
TEANBEERERREEKAKRIR
BRERABENER - KRB
RGO E B Al e @ AN K
BFERHRAEETE - EF
B AT - NREEKEBE
RElABEAR (WER) &
BT -

VERBEE E RGN R
B AR

AEBRERE BHEXARMG
AIMERERAN BRAMGAE
EEWENFAREESEER
b ¥ B i AR 2 1T E BT AR o
ERE T EEERRRRAR
=2 AEBERRTECHER
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.3

4.4

Provision for impairment of properties held or
under development for sale

The management makes provision for impairment of
properties held or under development for sale based
on the estimate of the net realisable amount of the
properties. Determination of net realisable amount of the
properties involved critical accounting estimates on the
selling price, variable selling expenses and the estimated
costs to completion. Management estimated the selling
price based on the prevailing market conditions; the
variable selling expenses based on certain percentage
of selling price; and the costs to completion based on
the project budget approved by management. Given the
volatility of the property market in the PRC, the actual
net realisable amount may be higher or lower than the
estimate made as at the end of the reporting period. Any
increase or decrease in the provision would affect the
Group’s operating performance in future years.

Land appreciation tax of the PRC

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the
PRC. However, since the implementation and settlement
of the tax varies among various tax jurisdictions in
cities of the PRC, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of the land appreciation
tax. The Group recognises the land appreciation tax
based on management’s best estimates according to
its understanding of the interpretation of tax rules and
latest practice of local tax jurisdictions in the cities where
the Group’s projects are located. The final tax outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and these differences will impact the current
income tax and the deferred income tax provision in the
periods in which such taxes have been finalised with local
tax authorities.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.5

4.6

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income tax in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for corporate income tax. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that we initially recorded, such difference will
impact the current income tax and deferred tax provision
in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary

differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of

their actual utilisation may be different.

Fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for the properties with similar lease and
other contracts. In the absence of such information, the
management determines the amount within a range of
reasonable fair value estimates. In making its estimation,
the management considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(a) Current prices in an active market for properties of
different nature, condition or location (or subject to
different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect
those differences;

4 EEGEFRAM (&)

4.5

4.6

ERRIEEFEH

AEEBHATBRERMEN
HEETELEMENMNBRERAE
HERHAE ERAFEEKBERE
T ZEXGRFAETATEE
BORBEHEE X PTEM IR © Wk
FREMNZER A ERIEETH
REBMEZE AHEEREY
EETHRAMROBAHREN R
AETER TR A o

HETHRREZENNABERR
MIEERBEE - AIEEEER
7% B1R A FE AR A B ] 4K 3
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.6 Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(0)

Recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and,

Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the term
of any existing lease and other contract and (where
possible) from external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessment of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The Group assesses the fair value of its investment

properties based on valuations determined by independent

professional qualified valuers, which were based on

income approach and by reference to comparable price

in an active market.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the key assumptions
used by the valuer in determining fair value were as

4 EEGEFRAM (&)

4.6 REMENDVE (&)

(o)

BNERMSRERUY
XA HIER (REREE
HIAE  ARBRBERZEE
TR 5 ) B B LB
SR ERIEE) © &

REBEHARARASREETH
A SEfAETMIBRIMRLE IR &
ME - MxFRATLERE
MBREAHEOEELME R
iRk K (WRFE AT BE1B R T)
SMERRE (N B KRR AR
RBBELUYEEEHEM
&) YERARARBRE K
MEHELIEENERARE
mE SRR REETHEN
REREKFH -

AEERBBYEXSERMEE
B ER WAL RS E BT 5
AR ERMEENHENGEE
REMEHNRTE -

F2019%F 2018F12 A31H » 41&
MREEAFERERNETER

follows: HaAE
As at 31 December
A12H831H
2019 2018
20194 20184
Term yield F H [B] 2R K 3.5%-7.00% 4%-7.00%
Reversionary vield 18 BR[O R =& 4%-7.50% 4%-7.50%
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the CODM.
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the executive directors, which are
used to allocate resources and assess performance.

The Group is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. The CODM reviews the operating results of the
business as one segment to make decision about resources
to be allocated. Revenue and profit after income tax are the
measures reported to the executive directors for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment.

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in the
PRC. All of the Group’s revenue are derived in the PRC for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all of non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC.

There was no revenue derived from a single external customer
that accounts for 10% or more of the Group’s revenues for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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e SRR MR

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 W%k BMERRKE
Furniture,
Motor Electronic ~ fittingsand ~ Assets under Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices equipment  construction  improvements Total
il E
¥ E ETHE Rkt EREE BEEE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFT  NEEFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFr
At 1 January 2018 120185151
Cost A 21,945 28,426 6,100 2,715 8,600 - 67,786
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (3,578) (23,058) (4,287) (1,916) - - (32,839)
Net book amount BEFE 18,367 5,368 1,813 799 8,600 - 34,947
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ22018F12AALERE
Opening net book amount ENRATE 18,367 5,368 1,813 799 8,600 - 34,947
Additions HE 193 657 1,177 319 8,617 - 10,963
Transfers upon completion TR e - - - - (17,217) 17,217 -
Disposals e = @) (151) (17) - - (172)
Depreciation charge (Note 24) REER (Wito4) (911) (1,462) (815) (255) - (1,264) 4,707)
Closing net book amount EXRERE 17,649 4,559 2,024 846 - 15,953 41,031
At 31 December 2018 12018%12A31A
Cost RE 22,138 29,079 7,126 3,017 - 17,217 78,577
Accumulated depreciation 25tiE (4,489) (24,520) (5,102) 217) - (1,264) (37,546)
Net book amount BEFE 17,649 4,559 2,024 846 - 15,953 41,031
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e SRR MR

6 WX BENRRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Motor Electronic fittings and Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices  equipment improvements Total
B #B
2 RE ETRHE Rkt HEZE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR  AREFT AEETT ARETT AREFT  AREFR
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE2019512A31HLLFE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 17,649 4,559 2,024 846 15,953 41,031
Additions NE 10 1,642 1,370 354 2,791 6,167
Transfer to investment properties ERERENE (WE7)

(Note 7(b)) (155) - - - - (155)
Disposals e - (46) 2 - - (48)
Depreciation charge (Note 24) FEER (Wit24) (917) (1,897) (1,104) (288) (2,104) 6,310)
Closing net book amount FEREAFE 16,587 4,258 2,288 912 16,640 40,685
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12831A
Cost BA 21,993 30,675 8,494 3,31 20,008 84,541
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (5,406) (26,417 (6,206) (2,459) (3,368) (43,856)
Net book amount REFE 16,587 4,258 2,288 912 16,640 40,685

Depreciation charge of the Group has been included in
administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

No buildings were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
RMB155,000) (Note 17).

#H E20194F K2018F12A31H |k 4
B AEEMITEZRET ATTHA
i o

R2019F12A31H » M EIEFE A
R G T LA R LAES R R B A 18 5K
(2018412 A31H : A K #155,000
gL) (BE&E17) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

V% - BERRE (F)

(CONTINUED)
6(b) Leases 6(b) HE
() Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) RESHBMRRRERN
statement of finance position k|
As at As at
31 December 1 January
2019 2019*
H2019%F 20194
12A31H 1H18*
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR For
Right-of-use assets FEHEEE
Buildings == 19,214 14,688
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current BN ER 3,208 2,995
Non-current JEBNER 16,223 11,253
19,431 14,248

*

For adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS

16 on 1 January 2019, please refer to Note 2.2

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2019 were RMB7,884,000.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

* B RARN2019F1 A1 H HHN
BB RS LR FE 1655
RERNAZE - F268K
iF2.2

R & =2019F12H31H 1
FEANBEFERAEEEARK
7,884,0007T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6 PROPERTY,
(CONTINUED)

6(b) Leases (continued)

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e ISR

6 WX BENRRE (&)

6(b) HE (&)

(i) RREEEREIANSHE

Notes 2019 2018
Hiat 20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFT
Amortisation of FEREESE®RN
right-of-use assets
Buildings BF 24 (3,358) -
2019
20194
RMB’000
ARETFT
Interest expenses (included in finance costs) |25 (5 AR Z) 25 961
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHMEERRANRX
(included in administrative expenses) (FEATTEA) 24 74
Expenses relating to leases of low-value Hi | 0K A5G ER
assets that are not shown above as HENRKEEEE
short-term leases (included in HEBBAMNFZ
administrative expenses) (FFATTERFAX) 24 15
The total cash outflows for leases in 2019 was 2019F M EIR &M 4258

RMB3,662,000.

A AR 662,0007T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 V¥ BMERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

6(b) Leases (continued) 6(b) HE (&)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group’s leases are mainly for offices. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1
to 10 years. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing

(i) AEMPEEEZHROE

AT AR

AEENHETERNHIA
= HEARKNMETEHRE
BEEIE10F - HE W=
I e HER R s - R
ARENHEEEANER
Bz HEEETSH

pUrposes. {EfE R E R M@ ©
7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 7 BREWME
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLFE
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fx ARETT
Opening balance F YR 75,250 73,840
Transfer from properties held or under R Sl F A
development for sale (a) FEYE(a) 8,600 -
Transfer from property, plant and EE YR - HE K& (D)
equipment (b) 10,100 -
Net gain from fair value adjustment AT ERBN W FEE 2,750 1,410
Closing balance FREEER 96,700 75,250

1 98 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

On 1 July 2019, a property was transferred from properties
held or under development for sale to investment properties.
On the date of transfer, the net book value of the property
was approximately RMB6,866,000 and the fair value was
RMB8,600,000.The difference of approximately RMB1,734,000
was recognised as fair value gains on investment properties by
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 31 March 2019, a property was transferred from property,
plant and equipment to investment properties. On the date of
transfer, the net book value of the property was approximately
RMB155,000 and the fair value was RMB10,100,000. The
difference of approximately RMB7,458,000 (after deducting
deferred income tax liabilities of approximately RMB2,486,000)
was recognised as other comprehensive income by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (Note 6).

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment
properties

e SRR MR

7 REWE (&)

HaE -

(@)

R2019F7A1H » —HEMERFE
HEXAZERGENEEREREY
¥ NERBH - ZWENKREDFE
#5 N R #6,866,0007T M A FE A
AR #8,600,0007T ° ZHEH AR
1,734,0007T FA 28 & B 7 & 220194
12A31B L FERRARENENR
FERE -

R20194E3A318  —EYWEBEY
¥ BERIEEREZHREWE-
RERBH ZWENRDEED
B AR 155,000t K A FE B A
R #10,100,0007C © Z B H AR
7,458,0007T (KL HBRELEFMERE
&4 A R#2,486,0007T18) B A &=
B R E 20195128318 |- F E 7
RAEEMEEBA (HE6)

Year ended 31 December
HBZE12A318LLEE

2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Net gain from fair value adjustment AT ERZRMH W EFEE 2,750 1,410
Fair value gains resulting from transfer from m¥F{EH Sl SR FEYE
properties held or under development for B3 2 15 & 1) 3 2 4 1Y
sale to investment properties A ERE 1,734 -
Total fair value gains on investment REMFEN AT BB
properties 4,484 1,410
Rental income arising from investment WEMENHAS KA
properties 2,877 1,679
7,361 3,089
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy

Fair value measurement at 31 December 2019 and 2018
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) are investment
properties located in the PRC, amounting to RMB96,700,000
and RMB75,250,000, respectively.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31
December 2019 by an independent professionally qualified
valuers, Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (“Vincorn”)
who hold recognised relevant professional qualification and
have recent experience in the locations and segments of the
investment properties valued. For all investment properties,
their current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31
December 2018 by an independent professionally qualified
valuers, Unicorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (“Unicorn”),
who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and
have recent experience in the locations and segments of the
investment properties valued. For all investment properties,
their current use equates to the highest and best use.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

REWE (&)
DFEER

20194 K2018F12HA31B K A &
ATAI B R ASE (£3E) HumnN
HEMREMEETHATETED
5l B A K #96,700,0007T & A R #
75,250,0007T °

AEEBRSNEREHENFHHIB
REBHEPRRBNTEERBEANE
4o

#H E20194F K2018F12A318 |k &
€ %1 2R3EZHWEmAITELR

rEBNEHERF

REBRIEEYER2019F12 318
HBY EXE AR MEEMLR R R
FHMEBRAR ([Bhsm]) EITEE - #Z
HEMBFEERATNEEEEEER
BEMEEREMFEMEME RS H
BT EAEER - FREREMETISEE
AR A MM ESTNER -

REBRIEEYHER2018F12H31H
BBV EXE AR MEMFZEZAR
EARAR ([HE]) BEITHEE - Z
HEMSERRTMEEEXEER
BEAEEREMEMTANERDF
BT ERACER - FTAIREMEIBER
AREREREARES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Valuation techniques

The Group has six investment properties for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: four), all of which are located in Henan
Province, the PRC.

The valuation of investment properties was determined using
the income approach (term and reversionary method) which
was based on capitalisation of net rental income derived from
the existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

7

e SRR MR

REWE (&)
R {E i

AREENEE2019F 12031 B ILEE
HHNEREYE (2018F : UE) -
2 EMI AR BAREE -

BREWMENEETIDRBRACE (51
REFZE) RESRABOMEES
WAFBEEMCRBEE S RMENE

BUWNENETE -

# £20194F K20185F12A31H Ik F
B EEXMLEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 7 REWE (&)
B B R2019%F &2018F12HA31H
EREXRTABEG ARE (83
[B) AR EFENESR :

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3):

Relationship of

202

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
TABE TABRHA TABRHAZE
SR RTISIBHENATE (EERE BARE YigEE HEAVENBR
Property | 31 December 2019:  Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 7% (2018: The higher the term yield,
M- RMB3,400,000 (term and FHE = 7%), taking into account  the lower the fair value
2019124310 : reversionary of yield generated from FHEmEYS - AIRT
AK#3,400,000r  method) comparable properties and  {E#IE
31 December 2018: W A% adjustment to reflect the
RMB3,250,000 (FHRERZE) certainty of term income
201812 H31H : secured and to be received.
AR H#3,250,0007T FHEHET% (2018F :
7%) A RAILBYEE
A RIEIRE R R 2 S
R R A B A e B 1
fELRE -
Reversionary Reversionary rate of 7.5%  The higher the
yield (2018: 7.5%), taking reversionary yield, the
EllEkR into account annual unit lower the fair value

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARAR

market rental income and
unit market value of the
comparable properties.
EHEHRET.5% (20185
7.5%) @ T RATHLEME
WEEBUMEHESRAR
BUHE -

EROHEHS  BIAF
EE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

Description Fair value as at

Valuation Unobservable

technique(s) inputs
AABE

B BAHE

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FERAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Range of
unobservable inputs
FABEEGA
YEEE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FURRBARE
BN FENER

HE RT5BHNATLE
Property I 31 December 2019:
mE= RMB21,400,000

201912 A31H :
AR%21,400,0007T
31 December 2018:
RMB20,900,000
2018%F12H31H :
AR#%20,900,0007T

Market unit rent
of individual unit
BRI EAL T 45

Bfg
Income approach  Term yield
(term and FHEHRE
reversionary
method)
L ONTS

(FHRERE)

Market unit rent is RMB8.2
(2018: RMB8) per square
meter per month, using
direct market comparable
and taking into account of

location and other individual

factors, such as road
frontage, size of property
and facilities.
mEENEEEAETK

ARB.2TT (20185 : AR

%er)  EREETELR
R85t AL E R Eofth {E Bl R
% - flniee - MERER
Term yield of 6.5% (2018:
6.5%), taking into account
of yield generated from
comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income

secured and to be received.

FHEIHEE.5% (20184 :
6.5%) * &5t KAL) E
EENERE R REER
B REMMEHRANTEE
HIEH A% -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher the
fair value
mEELReHR AR
HESS

The higher the term yield,
the lower the fair value
FHOHREES  BAT
E#E
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e SRR MR

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FRAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
TABE TABEHA FABREARE
15 RTISIBENATE EERM BAHE YEHEE BN FENER
Reversionary Reversionary rate of The higher the
yield 7% (2018: 7%), taking reversionary yield, the

204 BEEE (ZR) ARAR

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BT RE

Market unit rent
of individual unit
(&Rl & fiz BT 35
Bfg

into account annual unit
market rental income and
unit market value of the
comparable properties.
BEHERHRET% (20185
7%) + G R AT BRI RE
FREUMSEEBRARE
ffE o

Market unit rent is RMB48
(2018: RMB41) per square
meter per month, using
direct market comparable
and taking into account of

location and other individual

factors, such as road
frontage, size of property
and facilities.
mEENEEEAE K

AREEASTT (201845 : AR
BaiL)  FREETSLR

Rf&st R E R A fERIA
% PImGE  DERER

i

lower the fair value
ERORELE - HAT
B

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher the
fair value
mEELReHR AR
HEES
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e SRR MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FERAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
AABE TABEHA FUERBARE
L] RTISIBENATE (EER BAHE YEHEE BN FENER
Property Il 31 December 2019:  Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 4% (2018: The higher the term yield,
mE= RMBS8,300,000 (term and FHE % 4%), taking into account  the lower the fair value
2019F12 4310 : reversionary of yield generated from FHEFEYS - QAT
AR#8,300,000L  method) comparable properties and  EHIE
31 December 2018: W A% adjustment to reflect the
RMBS, 100,000 (FHRESE) certainty of term income
201812318 : secured and to be received.
AR #%8,100,0007T FHEHRE4% (20184 :
4%) @ I RA LR EE
BB R KA R IR BS
R HOER S EA U A B REE 1
fELRE -
Reversionary Reversionary rate of The higher the
yield 4% (2018: 4%), taking reversionary yield, the
EHEnE into account annual unit lower the fair value

market rental income and
unit market value of the
comparable properties.
BREHERL% (2018F :
4%) + 18T R AT LR E
EEBEUmEHERARE
fumfE o

EREREYR  ARF
EBE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

Valuation
Description Fair value as at technique(s)

Bk RTSIBMONAFE fAERE

Unobservable
inputs
TABE
WAHE

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FRAERTTEHEW AHE (%3

) AFEFENESR : (&)

Range of
unobservable inputs
FABEEGA
YEEE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FURRBARE
BN FENER

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

Market unit rent
of individual unit
BBl & fiz 77 555
B

Market unit rent is RMB65
(2018: RMB64) per square

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher the

meter per month, using fair value
direct market comparable  MHBEUALHE - BID
and taking into account of ~ F{E#S

location and other individual
factors, such as road
frontage, size of property
and facilities.
mEENEEE AT
ARH65T (20185 : AR
#edm)  EREEMELR
R85t RALE K Bt {8 IR
% - flntee - MERER
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e SRR MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FERAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
AABE TABE@HA FURRBARE
L] RTISIBENATE EER BAHE YEHEE BN FENER
Property IV 31 December 2019:  Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 4.5% (2018:  The higher the term yield,
v EJ RMB44,500,000 (term and FHE = 4.5%), taking into account  the lower the fair value
2019F12 4310 : reversionary of yield generated from FHEHEYS  AIAF
AR%44,500,0000t  method) comparable properties and  EH/E
31 December 2018: W A& adjustment to reflect the
RMB43,000,000 (FHRESE) certainty of term income
2018F12A318 : secured and to be received.
AR #%43,000,0007T FHEHE4.5% (20184 :
4.5%) * &5 RATLBME
B E B3R T R BR 2 B
FRGHERE AR BTE
AR A -
Reversionary Reversionary rate of The higher the
yield 5% (2018: 5%), taking reversionary yield, the
EHEmE into account annual unit lower the fair value

market rental income and
unit market value of the
comparable properties.
EHERES% (2018F :
5%) * Bt RAT LR MER
FEEMmSHERAKRE
I o

EBERELE - AT
(5
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e SRR MR

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 7 REWE ()
Information about fair value measurements as B B R20194F K2018F12H31H
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant FERAEAFTTERE AHE (3
unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued) [B) AFEFENER - (&)

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
TABE TABEHA FABREARE
15 RTISIBENATE EERM BAHE YEHEE BN FENER

Market unit rent  Market unit rent is RMB20  The higher the market
of individual unit  (2018: RMB19) per square  unit rent, the higher the

{ERIEAETE  meter per month, using fair value
Bufe direct market comparable ~ MHBEUALHE - BID

and taking into account of ~ FEHS
location and other individual

factors, such as road

frontage, size of property

and facilities.

mEENHEEE AT
ARH#207 (20185 : AR

®197)  EREETELR

R et BB E R Bt R

% - flnesE - MERER
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e SRR MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

7 REWE (&)

B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FERAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Relationship of

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
AABE TABE@HA FURERBARE
L] RTISIBENATE EER BAHE YEHEE BN FENER
Property V 31 December 2019:  Income approach ~ Term yield Term yield of 5.5%, taking  The higher the term yield,
MER RMB10,400,000 (term and E3 i ERES into account of yield the lower the fair value
2019%12A318 ©  (oyarsionary generated from comparable FHIBIREHE - BIAT
AK#10,400,0007T method) properties and adjustment  E#IE
W E to reflect the certainty of
(EHREEE) term income secured and to
be received.
FHEHRES5.5%  E5H KA
SCERM R EE M ERE Rt
R BT R AR E Hl
ARRETE MBI 3R o
Reversionary Reversionary rate of 6%, The higher the
yield taking into account annual  reversionary yield, the
(ElolEkR unit market rental income  lower the fair value

Market unit rent
of individual unit
EpE kiR
Bffe

and unit market value of the

comparable properties.

EREmEC% KRN

EYENFRENTEES
WA R EfIE -

Market unit rent is RMB22.3

per square meter per
month, using direct market
comparable and taking into
account of location and
other individual factors,
such as road frontage, size
of property and facilities.
MEENEEE AT
AR#22.31 - ERAEED
SR RIS R E R EAM
EREE - flinERE - W%
MR R R ©

EREREME - AT
B

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher the
fair value
misEAeHEs - AR
TEES
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e SRR MR

7 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 7 REWE ()
B B R20194F K2018F12H31H
FERAEAFTTERE AHE (3
B) A EFENER : (&)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

Relationship of

210

Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description Fair value as at technique(s) inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
TABE FABREA FURRBARE
L] RTISIBENATE EER BAHE YEHEE BN FENER
Property VI 31 December 2019:  Income approach  Term yield Term yield of 3.5%, taking  The higher the term yield,
VEIN RMB8,700,000 (term and FHE % into account of yield the lower the fair value
20194128318 :  reversionary generated from comparable FHIEREMS + BIAF
AR%8,700,000t  method) properties and adjustment  EH/E
W% to reflect the certainty of
(FHRERZE) term income secured and to
be received.
FEHE|REI 5% « &ET KA
B R EENERE Rt
RIRE G AR E Hl
ARHEE M REE -
Reversionary Reversionary rate of 4%, The higher the
yield taking into account annual  reversionary yield, the
BRERE unit market rental income  lower the fair value

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARAR

and unit market value of the

comparable properties.

EREHE% - EHRAL

ENENERENTEES
WA R EfIE -

EROFREYS  BAT
EHIE
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3): (continued)

Valuation
Description Fair value as at technique(s)

B RTSIRMOAFE fAERE

Unobservable
inputs
AABE
WAHE

e SRR MR

7 REWE (#)
B B M2019F K2018%F12H31H
FERAERTTEHEW AHE (%3
B) AFEFENER - (#F)

Relationship of

Range of unobservable inputs
unobservable inputs to fair value
FABEEAA FURRBARE
YEEE BN FENER

Market unit rent
of individual unit
(BRI & fiz 19T 35
BffE

Market unit rent is RMB17.6  The higher the market

(2018: RMB19) per square unit rent, the higher the

meter per month, using fair value
direct market comparable ~ MHREMALHS - BIA
and taking into account of ~ FE#S

location and other individual
factors, such as road
frontage, size of property
and facilities.
mEENEEE AT
AR#17.670 (20185 : A
R¥197T) - RREEDSL
BREHRAE REMER
RE - fIwiGE - MERE
KR
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

If the reversionary vyield increase or decrease by 10% from
the parameter used by the qualified valuer, the fair value of
the investment properties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018
would have been as follows:

7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

REWE (&)

WEHEHRERIRE BB GEERMEAN
SEETE MR A 10% @ 720194
201812 A31 B E M A F1E
LUNNi 7

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AREFoT

Investment properties increase/(decrease) REMEL M /OF)

— 10 percent increase in reversionary yield — 18 §FETFH=EIEH110% (4,898) (3,886)
- 10 percent decrease in reversionary vield — 18 & Bl %R = 7 4> 10% 5,662 4,485

There will be no significant change for the fair value of the
investment properties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 if the
term vyield increase or decrease by 10% from the parameter
used by the qualified valuer.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had no
unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and
maintenance. Operating expenses relating to unlet investment
properties are immaterial to the Group.

The Group measured deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties by adopting the tax
rates and the tax bases that are consistent with the expected
manner of recovery of these investment properties (Note 21).

No investment properties were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2019 (31 December
2018: RMB20,900,000).

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

fis] FF HR B 3 R 42 & B R (A E M KA &
DHETE ISR 2 10% © R20194F
K2018F 12 A31 B EME L FE
I S K o

20194 K2018%12H31H + KA &
I G B R R AR S R A e R R B
EREMF - AEREHEEEYENLK
ERIEAEBMS W TERK °

ANEBBBHEANS B WO ZEHR
EMEAANTEERENFEEMZ
EREYEMENZENETRE
(fizE21) °

R2019F12A831H » MEERE WX
EEAKFREEMALDREAEE
B & 7 (201812 831H : A R #&
20,900,0007T) °
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e SRR MR

8 AN INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING 8 FRAEREARNRKRE
THE EQUITY METHOD

Year ended
31 December

#B=12A31H
HFEE

2019

20194
RMB’000
ARE T

Opening balance FAFES -

Addition (a) NE(a) 24,000

Share of results FEIERME (548)

Disposal (b) HE (b) (23,452)

Ending balance FREES -

(@ On 25 January 2019, the Group set up an associate, (@) M201941A25H + 7 & & B —
Yanling Henghui Real Estate Company Limited (“Yanling LB B = kST BN B ERRE
Henghui®), with an independent third party. The Group BEERMESRE QA ([BEE
contributed an initial investment of RMB24,000,000 by ¥ ) o REBUBE SR EEL Y
cash consideration in return of 40% shares holding of H158 AR ¥24,000,0007T * A
Yanling Henghui. As a consequence, the Group obtained BN 3% 75 BB b 18 48 140 % A% #E o
significant influence over Yanling Henghui and Yanling At - AEBERBYHEREEESY
Henghui was classified as an associate. BEATE  MESSEERBAIE S A

REERT] -

(b) On 23 December 2019, the Group disposed its all equity (b) M20194F 128238 + A&~ &= & I/
interests in Yanling Henghui with a consideration of £ B A R #24,000,0007C ) &
RMB24,000,000. The Group recognised the gain from HNERRE BB 2 SPR%kE o AR
the disposal amounting to RMB548,000 as other gain in BRoAESERREIARGHE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Bz (fEBEMIkS) AR

548,0007T °
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9 PREPAYMENTS FOR LEASEHOLD LAND

The Group incurred costs for demolition and resettlement

arrangement of certain leasehold land on which the Group

intends to develop properties totalling approximately
RMB443,330,000 as at 31 December 2019 (31 December
2018: RMB234,623,000). Such costs will be transferred
to properties under development for sale upon receipt of

ownership certificates of the land use rights.

FOR SALE

10 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Balances of properties held or under development for sale are

as follows:

10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

HE L FEA IR

R2019F 12318 » AEBFALEE
STEIRE FRBEMENSE THE T
WIFBREELTHEENKAE L
A AN R #443,330,0005T (2018512
A31H : AR #234,623,0007T) ° #%
LR S AU+ b 5 R AE B BT A A
BEEBREREPSEDE -

FEHERRBERGEYE
RELEIRERFEDELHKT
T

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFTT ARMFor
Properties under development for sale HERFEYE 3,822,341 2,080,386
Properties held for sale HELREYE 1,312,323 1,815,411
5,134,664 3,895,797

Less: Provision for decline in values of B BEHEYERRERE

properties held for sale (30,536) (4,876)
5,104,128 3,890,921

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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e ISR

10 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT 10 BEHERHABRFISTEYE

FOR SALE (CONTINUED) (#&)
Properties held or under development for sale comprise: BIERE AR FEMERE
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2019 2018
201945 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARMF T
Land use rights and demolition and TR HIBR 4B B I 47 Bh 18 9 b
resettlement costs after deducting FERERFEMZEER
related government grants 2,161,778 1,777,922
Construction costs and capitalised BERARENMEAX
expenditures 2,703,402 1,860,246
Interest capitalised (a) EARF B () 269,484 257,629
5,134,664 3,895,797
Less: Provision for decline in values of B R ER S MER R E RS
properties held for sale (30,536) (4,876)
5,104,128 3,890,921
Note: Hiaz -
(@) Interest rate of capitalised borrowings for the year ended 31 (a) ELZE2019F12A31BIEFE - BEXR
December 2019 was 5.63% (2018: 5.83%) per annum. b 1& K& F| & 55.63% (20184 :
5.83%) °

2019 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

10 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Movements of properties held or under development for sale
are as follows:

10 FELHEIAFBRPTSEWHE
(4)

HIEHERHBEREENEE BN
T

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE

2019 2018

2019% 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT

At beginning of the year F 1) 3,895,797 3,681,678

Additions NE 2,428,844 1,468,650

Costs of properties recognised in fEIB S P IER M YRR

profit or loss (1,183,111) (1,254,531)
Transfer to investment properties RS EME (Kit7(@)

(Note 7(a)) (6,866) -

At end of the year FR 5,134,664 3,895,797

Movements on the provision for decline in values of properties
held for sale are as follows:

BRI R R R B
B

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Fr AREFT

At beginning of the year FH) 4,876 5,686
Provision for decline in values of FHEH EYERRERE

properties held for sale 25,763 =

Provision realised upon sales & 12 R M e (103) (810)

At end of the year FR 30,536 4,876

21 6 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 PROPERTIES HELD OR UNDER DEVELOPMENT

FOR SALE (CONTINUED)

Management expects that the amounts of these properties
held or under development for sale as of 31 December 2019
and 2018 will be recognised as cost from sales of properties
during the following periods:

e SRR MR

10 FELHEIFBRNSEWHE

(&)

EREEGZERIEHERRAEREF
B W) % B £2019%F Kk20184F 12 A31
BRSERBRA T HRER A ENS
BEHIBLA -

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETFor

Amounts are expected to be recovered: TEER SR B £ BE ¢
Within 12 months 1218 A AR 578,005 676,689
Beyond 12 months EBiE121E A 4,556,659 3,219,108
5,134,664 3,895,797

The properties held or under development for sale are all
located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s properties held
or under development for sale amounting to RMB 897,117,000
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank borrowings
(Note 17) and other long-term borrowings (Note 18).

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s properties
held or under development for sale amounting to RMB
305,574,000 were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank
borrowings (Note 17).

FEHESFRBEFRFEMERIURF
o

R2019F12A31H » AEEHFETAR
#897,117,0007T K 5 /E tH & =k [ 8
REEYED ERER R EER LA
FAEEMRITER (FHFE17) RE
fib REAfE R (FIsE18) °

R2018F12A31H » AEEHRETAR
#305,574,0007T K 5 /E & =k %
REEYED ERER R EER LA
FARSEMRITER (MEE17) °
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e SRR MR

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

11 ESREMBERRENRAMRK

PREPAYMENTS S|
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F ARETFT
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE - -
Prepayments of construction costs (a) FREERK ARTE FIE(a) 24,241 23,344
Costs relating to demolition and A B B U [ Y B2 47 28 A
resettlement activities recoverable ZEB/EEA B (D)
from government (b) 211,783 183,757
Receivable from project service (c) 15 B BR7% FE W FRIE (C) 55,440 55,440
Tender deposits (d) HiEZ % (d) 23,460 23,777
Prepaid tax and surcharges (e) SELRE R EY S IE-{C) 16,861 11,699
Value-added-tax recoverable Al Uk o] 185 Bt 16,752 14,945
Deposits paid for property development ENMEREZS 4,277 8,502
Others Hib 2,537 2,273
331,110 300,393
Total of trade and other receivables and B 5 K EH b fE UL FRIE FN
prepayments TEf SRIE AR 355,351 323,737
Less: Allowance for impairment of other B E b FE U SR TR (B B
receivables (56,168) (11,397)
299,183 312,340

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Prepayments of construction costs represent the prepaid
construction costs, which will be transferred to properties under
development for sale.

The balances represent demolition and resettlement costs paid
on behalf of and recoverable from the government.

Receivable from project service represent the outstanding
balance recoverable from customer for the construction costs
and project management fees incurred. The Group manages the
construction projects on behalf of certain customers, and earns
a pre-determined service fee for the services provided.

The balance represents tender deposits for bidding of land use
rights, which will be subsequently refunded or transferred to
prepayments for leasehold land upon successful bidding.

Prepaid tax and surcharges are levied when the Group receives
advances from customers and the prepaid taxes are recorded
as prepayments before the relevant revenue is recognised.

e SRR MR

11 EZRHEMEBUREMEMNRK

" (%)
HisE
@) BERAEMNREEENRERE -

ZEFRAREBRERBERFEDE

ZEBEARBAX NN FRBNZE
BRI A B BT E Y FOR -

T8 B IR R MR TR 45 L EE A AV IR EE K
ARIBBEEERT B R KE A
RO - AEBRKRETERPE
I8 32 3R IR B I BRERTR ST E MY AT ER A
ARFGH) AR E o

% kS BA IR AR T (5 R M R IR IR
& ZEFEBRARPREE@SK
EBREME T IMFERNKIE -

ANBIELMINE DR AEERE S
WER B RS U - T TR BIR AR
W AN ETE R AT RE 8 R TR FRIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 11 EFRHEMEKRKEBNMNFESR

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The loss allowance provision for other receivables as at 31

" (&)

R20194F K20185F12A31H @ H 1t

December 2019 and 2018 are reconciled to the opening loss JE UG SR IB B 5 1B E R B X BB A
allowance for that provision as follows: BV B EEEERAT
Other
receivables
HL A FE U FR1E
RMB’000
AR For
At 1 January 2018 1201841 H1H 693
Provision for loss allowance recognised in RIE S R RE SRR B 1R X B A
profit or loss (Note 24) (Hfat24) 10,704
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12 A31H 11,397
At 1 January 2019 201941 H1H 11,397
Provision for loss allowance recognised in RIBR P RER R BB RS
profit or loss (Note 24) (H1et24) 44,771
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 56,168
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each REREAHAEREAIHNZAEE
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables [R.B& 7% Lt & K FE GRIB R BRI (A o
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral REEW B\EFE(AEA G -
security.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair value of trade MR20194F 201812 A31H * EH5 %
and other receivables and prepayments approximates their H i el RIBMFE A RIER A F(EH
carrying amounts. HEREEEE ©
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts R2019F 201812 831H * E5 K
of trade and other receivables and prepayments are all HEian e WHIEMENKIENERES

denominated in RMB.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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e ISR

12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 12 BRAVFEEEBEARNESH
PROFIT OR LOSS BE

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARKTFTT ARETT

Listed securities — held-for-trading EWES - HEEE
Equity securities — PRC [EARES — 181 190
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent BMATESEBERSARNESMEERE
shares listed in the PRC for trading purpose. ERE ETRER S B BRI GD °
13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 13 HERBITEE
(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) ReRBELEEY
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FoT ARET T
Cash at banks IRITER 244,672 418,932
Cash on hand FERH S 485 570
Cash and cash equivalents HE RIBSZEEY 245,157 419,502

2019 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

13 RERRTEER (F)

(a) RERBEEEY (&)

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Cash at banks and on hand RITHERNFERS

— denominated in RMB —UAR®EEAE 242,609 372,772
— denominated in HKD — OB TTEHE 2,548 46,730
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIEELEEY 245,157 419,502

The Group’s bank balances consist of bank deposits

carrying interests at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

(b) Restricted cash

AEBETEBOFRERSH
$RITIE R E R FBFIL 210
RITIER -

(b) EZREIFE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AEBTFT

Deposits as security for customers’

REPIRBERIERERN

mortgage loans (a) T (a) 115,740 125,928
Note: Htat -
(a) These bank deposits are restricted to secure the bank (a) ZERTERABRARNEEE

loans taken by certain customers of the Group pursuant
to the local regulations of certain cities. Such deposits
will be released upon the issuance of property ownership
certificates.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

TEPREE TH MM TR
i 42 BUA IR 1T B SRR L
& ZEFRBREHDEM
B RERE RS T LARRRR ©
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e ISR

14 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 14 BARKRGD&EE
Authorised shares JEE R AT
Number of
authorised Authorised
shares share capital
EERMGEE EER A
HKD
BT
At 31 December 2018 and 2019 R2018%F M2019%F 12 A31H  2,400,000,000 24,000,000
Issued shares ERTRA
Number of
ordinary Share Share
shares capital premium Total
ZERHE [LEN B4 e st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARETT

At 31 December 2018 and 2019 72018%F &

201912H31H 1,200,000,000 10,645 299,188 309,833
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14 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(CONTINUED)

Issued shares (continued)

Notes:

As at the date of incorporation, the Company had issued 10,000
ordinary shares and further increased to 100,000 ordinary shares
during 2016.

On 12 November 2018, the Company issued 300,000,000 new
ordinary shares at par value of HKDO0.01 per share for cash
consideration of HKD1.24 each, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HKD372,000,000 (equivalent to RMB329,994,000), in
connection with its global offering and commencement of the listing
of its shares on the Stock Exchange on the same date. The excess
over the par value of RMB2,661,000 for the 300,000,000 shares
issued, net of the transaction costs of approximately RMB20,162,000
was credited to share premium with an amount of RMB307,171,000.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution dated 22 October 2018, the
directors were authorised to capitalise HKD8,999,000 (approximately
RMB7,983,000) upon listing, standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company by applying such sum in paying
up in full at par 899,900,000 shares for allotment and issue to
shareholders of the Company(the “Capitalisation Issue”) to their then
shareholdings in the Company.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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e SRR MR

14 BRAERRGEE (&)

ERITR®G (&)
HiaE -

RaEftiZB8H - AARHEADHET
10,000/ E @A + WHN2016F #—H =
100,000/ & @Ak °

M2018F 11 8128 + R A Al gh H & Bk %%
ERERORFBEB IR ETRE
A% M {50.017% JT % 7 7 300,000,0000% %7
TEAR - RIS REE 248 TR G
1B S & P15 53X IE 4§ 49372,000,000
Bt (B E R AR#329,094,0007T) ° Bt
300,000,000 E# T M= @ BB E
BErE S AR 2,661,0007T (1% X 5
FX 7K £920,162,0007T) E it A BEA R
307,171,000 C I BR 1D 5 & ©

1B & B H 52018F10H22H & % &
BR OEEERERLEMEBADGRK
19 3 18 BR #8,999,0007 7t (1 A R &
7,983,0007T) FERB R ER « WEAZ
£ IB R IR A2 899,900,000/% % {5
AR A A BB R IZ R S E BN AR R A
AR bb BB 3 R BEATAR 1D ([ EAMEEEIT]) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

15 RETAINED EARNINGS 15 REREF
RMB’000
AR For
At 1 January 2018 R20184F1 A1 H 338,807
Profit for the year FRFE 224,505
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserves (Note 16(c)) RSN TE ARG
(Hzt16(c)) (14,277)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R2018F12A31H &
20191 H1H 549,035
Profit for the year FRFE 293,040
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserves (Note 16(c)) R T B
(Hizt16(c)) (27,544)
Dividend paid BT R (62,240)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31H 752,291
OTHER RESERVES 16 Hftbf#E
Statutory Asset
Capital Merger surplus revaluation
reserve reserve  reserves reserve Total
EXGRE  AERE LTRHRE SEEGREE @ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2018 n2018F1H1H 16,224 4,774 79,519 4,027 104,544
Appropriation to statutory B R R TE BB
surplus reserves (c) - - 14,277 - 14,277
At 31 December 2018 and  A20185F12831H K
1 January 2019 20191 81H 16,224 4,774 93,796 4,027 118,821
Appropriation to statutory R ETRABREEC)
surplus reserves (c) - - 27,644 - 27,544
Transfer of property, plant ME - BENREEEE
and equipment to investment  HEME (FBFHIE)
properties, net of tax - - - 7,459 7,459
At 31 December 2019 72019F12A31H 16,224 4,774 121,340 11,486 153,824

2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e

MR MR

16 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Capital reserve as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 represents
the difference of aggregate consideration paid by the Group for
acquisition of non-controlling interest of existing subsidiaries and
the aggregate carrying amount of those non-controlling interest,
after elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

Merger reserve as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 represents
the difference of aggregate consideration paid by the Group for
the acquisition of subsidiaries and the aggregate capital of the
subsidiaries acquired during the Group’s reorganisation for the
Listing.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries, these subsidiaries
registered in the PRC shall appropriate 10% of its annual
statutory profit (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the
statutory surplus reserve (“SSR”) account. When the balance of
SSR reaches 50% of the registered capital/share capital of these
subsidiaries, any further appropriation is optional. The SSR can
be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase paid-in
capital. However, SSR shall be maintained at a minimum of 25%
of registered capital/share capital after such utilisation.

The SSR are non-distributable for cash dividends except in the

event of liquidation and are subject to certain restrictions set

out in the relevant PRC regulations.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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16 Hftbf#E (&)

(@)

BRIBERIN -
KRS

2019%F 201812 A31H 1) & 7 f
BEASENKEREME QTR
Be i 2 2 (N B0 B (B B 52 S R TR AR
= AR AR B SR BT B A Al iR &
BH)=FE o

20194 %2018 12 A31H W & #f
EEENASE A ETmEITEAE
M- ANEE B UREER B A RTS8
R EEPTI SN B A & RN AR
R o

R B R BDA K BB 8~ Al A A
SRMA ZEEDREMOHE R
A B FAREEAENE (BEHEEMA
BEFEBER) N10%EAETE
whiEE (DEERRFERD RP - &
EEBBRERGEHEINZSHBRA
& A IR A #50%1% - Bl AT i
BROE - FEE  AERBRFEER
AR HBEFE BRI NE SR
Ko A - EFRERRR - BRZX
EBRBBEREATOREMER BRA
#925% ©

AEBBRFEBETAIARD
I % 2E T HEET B

FLPPR )
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17 BANK BORROWINGS

e ISR

17 RITERX

As at 31 December

M12831H
2019 2018
201945 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Long-term borrowings
— Banks, secured (a)
Less: Current portion of long-term

RGER
—iR17 - HE(a) 181,000 59,000
B REME TR B R 5

borrowings
- Banks, secured (a) —R17 - BEMA () (181,000) (30,000)
Subtotal /INat - 29,000
Current borrowings BB
— Banks, secured (a) —#R17 - BEH(a) 110,000 166,000
110,000 166,000

Add: Current portion of long-term

o REMESKEBNE R

borrowings
- Banks, secured (a) — iR17 - BEM(a) 181,000 30,000

Subtotal /et 291,000 196,000

Total MBET 291,000 225,000

Note: Biat -

(@) As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank borrowings are (a) M2018F12A31H + AEEEITE
secured by property, plant and equipment (Note 6), investment RAREBRYZE - BB R&f (M
properties (Note 7) and properties held or under development 736)  WEWFE (7)) REIED
for sale (Note 10) of the Group. As at 31 December 2019, only B RAERFEWE (M710) ER
properties held or under development for sale (Note 10) of the A o N20195F12H31H @ A&

Group is pledged for the bank borrowings.

B EHERAERFEYE (M
10) BLERTTEFUETTHEIR
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e SRR MR

17 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the non-current portion of
the Group’s long-term bank borrowings were repayable as

follows:

17 S|ITER (&)

R20194F K2018%F12A31H @ AN &
B RARITERPRELSERT
HIRFEERE

As at 31 December

A12H831H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years

- 29,000

- 29,000

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

20194 K&20184 12 A31 H &Y N &
FHEREFELDT ¢

As at 31 December

Bank borrowings

M12H31H

2019 2018
20195 20184
7.08% 7.67%

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e SRR MR

17 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 17 RITER (&)

The exposure of the Group’s long-term bank borrowings to
interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates or
maturity whichever is the earlier date is as follows:

AREERHPRITEFON RS HE R
MEREHEEAXIHAR (AKRF
ERE)MT

6 months 6-12 1-5
or less months years Total
6AZUA  6ZE12fHA 1255 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Amounts included in FTAERB A ERNFRE
non-current liabilities:
As at 31 December 2019 ®2019%12A31H - - - -
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H = = 29,000 29,000
Amounts included in STAREN B ERIFUR -
current liabilities:
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 145,500 145,500 - 291,000
As at 31 December 2018 ®2018%12A31RH 116,000 80,000 = 196,000

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair values of bank
borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all bank borrowings are
denominated in RMB.

MN2019F K 2018512 A310 » $R1TERK
AT EEHREERS -

R20194 F2018512A31H » FT AR
ITEFAAREE -
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e SRR MR

18 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 18

Hit REER

As at 31 December

MA12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR F T
Other long-term borrowings H i REIER
- Non-financial institutions, secured (a) — e mEE - 5@ 211,500 245,000
— Non-financial institutions, unsecured — JEe RS - B 563,600 600,510
775,100 845,510
Less: Current portion of other long-term B B REAE A BIERER
borrowings
— Non-financial institutions, secured (a) — S EkE - AR (116,500) (110,000)
- Non-financial institutions, unsecured — RIS - mIEHR (226,252) (161,340)
(342,752) (271,340)
432,348 574,170

Note:

(@ The Group’s other long-term borrowings are secured by certain
land use rights and properties held or under development for

sale (Note 10) of the Group.

Other long-term borrowings mainly represent borrowings

relating to projects under various urban redevelopment

schemes. The non-financial institutions are designated by the

local governments, who get funding directly from banks and

then use the funding to finance project developers under such

schemes.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Tt A R AR B &5
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BRI BAEE  HEERRRTE
BEE NEBZETREHEFEN
FEHRERERES



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

18 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 18 HibRHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the non-current portion of 20194 &2018F12H31H + A% H
the Group’s other long-term borrowings were repayable as R E M REERR RIS BN TS
follows: FrfEl(EAE -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AE¥TFT

Between 1 and 2 years 15824 171,128 262,960
Between 2 and 5 years 2&54F 261,220 250,210
Over 5 years 5% A F - 61,000

432,348 574,170
The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 20194 K&2018F12A31H Yy AN #E
December 2019 and 2018 were as follows: FHERMERLDT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2019 2018
2019% 20184
Other long-term borrowings H i REAE R 5.18% 5.08%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

18 OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS 18 HitRHIER (&)

(CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group’s other long-term borrowings to
interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates or
maturity whichever is the earlier date is as follows:

RREE M EEROFEED AR
RARENTHEAKHBE AR

6 months 6-12 1-5
or less months years Total
AR  6ZE12fEA 1255 #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABETFT AREFT AEETT AREFT
Amounts included in FTAEREBRERFIE -
non-current liabilities:
At 31 December 2019 72019124318 337,348 = 95,000 432,348
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 432,330 - 141,840 574,170
Amounts included in STAREN B ERFUR -
current liabilities:
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12 A31H 99,794 242,958 - 342,752
At 31 December 2018 201856 12A31H 168,780 102,560 - 271,340

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair value of other
long-term borrowings approximates their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all other long-term
borrowings are denominated in RMB.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

e ISR

19 EE&E

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018

20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Contract liabilities ARAEE

2,702,327 2,030,488

The Group receives payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in contracts. Payments are
usually received in advance of the performance under the
contracts which are mainly from sales of properties. The
change in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly attributable
to the increase of the proceeds received from the Group’s
contracted sales.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
during 2018 and 2019 relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

AEEZARMATENNRLZHRET
FRBMZR - BRENFABETRIZRA
RIEARKER  mMzEFaRERRA
MHEHE - R2019F A RARBEM
EHTIELHNBAREEREER
B ETISFRIAB FTIR R AAER -

TRINRNK2018F R2019F jLi5ES
REEmEROBALEE -

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HILEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Revenue recognised that was included in st AE¥AR A&

the contract liabilities balance at BRI
the beginning of the year

1,299,649 1,145,255
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

19 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 19 SRIAE (&)
Management expects that the contract amounts allocated FIEETEH - B 220194 K2018F 128
to unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31 December SIHAEEREXNBHNEEHNERE
2019 and 2018 will be recognised as revenue from sales of HRN T BEEREMEHENS
properties during the following periods: P NE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AEBTFT

Expected to be recognised within one year &I —F AR 1,001,249 996,328
Expected to be recognised after one year FEEIR —F 12 1R 2,095,657 1,514,927
3,096,906 2,511,255
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 ESZREMENSRIE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2019 2018
201945 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Trade payables B S RIE 765,417 658,763

Value-added-tax and other taxes payable (a) 32 {E %7 & £ b fE 7 TH () 90,799 26,585

Construction deposits from suppliers HEEERIRS 82,962 39,997

Deposits received from customers EREFIZES 59,257 34,000

Interest payable FERHF B, 41,461 57,171

Amounts due to a minority shareholder JE <t > SR R% B kI 30,900 —

Construction deposits from related parties BB 72854

(Note 34(c)(i) (H1aE34(c)()) 16,876 18,304

Accrued payroll BT E 16,811 18,319

Temporary funding payables (b) PR & & BN FRIE (D) 8,449 11,770

Maintenance fees collected on behalf RIMREE 522 805

Others HAith 584 8,690

1,114,038 874,404

Notes: Biat -

(@) The standard value-added-tax (“VAT”) rate was 11% which has (@ ZERER ([EER]) /1%
been reduced to 10% since 1 May 2018 and has been further B2018F5 A1 HEFABMEI0% * KB
reduced to 9% since 1 April 2019. Certain sales of properties 2019F4 A1 HRBE — P FARMEI% °
and rental income of the Group are qualified for the simplified REBERETYXHEEBERESHBA
tax rate of 5% but the input VAT is not deductible. A A% LB =K - {8 i TH g

BRI,

(o) Temporary funding payables are non-interest bearing payables (o) ERRESEMNKIBERENE=FTE
to third parties. BIRIE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the ageing analysis of trade

payables based on invoice date are as follows:

20 ESREMENRIER ()

R20194F K2018%12A31H » A3
SZHEME S ENFIERERE D T0
—|T :

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT
Less than 1 year 1R 694,164 594,542
Between 1 and 2 years 1226 41,572 35,784
Between 2 and 3 years 2F34F 23,397 19,647
Over 3 years 3FE 6,284 8,790
765,417 658,763

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair value of trade and
other payables approximates their carrying amounts.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of

trade and other payables were all denominated in RMB.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 21 EEMESH

As at 31 December

M12831H
2019 2018
201945 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Deferred tax assets: FEERIAEE ¢
— To be recovered after more than — R a1 21E B & U E
12 months 21,974 27,553
— To be recovered within 12 months — B 12{8 A Rk 80,973 30,037
102,947 57,590
Deferred tax liabilities: ELEFRIEEE
— To be settled after more than 12 months — ¥ %1121 B 12 & (2,131) (5,609)
— To be settled within 12 months — #R12(8 A AER (11,008) (13,657)
(13,139) (19,266)
Deferred tax assets, net EIERIAE EEF AR 89,808 38,324
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 21

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is

as follows:

EAEFREB (&)

JEIEFT S BLE B 0 R B B 15 R 85I
m -

Year ended 31 December
BZE12831HILFEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

At beginning of the year F4) 38,324 38,049
Credited to the consolidated statement of it A& Bk (f1:28)

profit or loss (Note 28) 50,859 275
Withholding tax paid B TENE 3,111 =
Charged to other comprehensive income 18 &2 FE W A (2,486) -
At end of the year FR 89,808 38,324

As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets and deferred

tax liabilities amounting to approximately RMB11,172,000 (31
December 2018: RMB9,567,000) were offset.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 21 EEFREH (&)
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 20195 K20185F 12 ABTHIEFE -
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 without taking into REBEEERABENES (WK
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax MR =T Rl EE R AR AR SE)
jurisdiction, is as follows: wmR
Deferred tax assets EEMREEE
Provision for
impairment Temporary
of properties differences
held for recognition
sale and Land  of revenue

other appreciation and cost of

Tax losses receivables tax sales Accruals Others Total
RELENR
BER BRUAR
EftRbE HERKH

RER# Bff  tBER EREER  EIRE it it
RVB000  RMB'O00  AMB'000  AMB'000  RMB'O00  AMBO00  RMB'000
ABRTT  ARRTT  ARRTT ARETT  ARETT ARETT  ARETT

At 1 January 2018 20181 A 1H 251 1,421 11,295 39,932 3,604 851 57,354
Credited/(charged) to the A/ (H8)

consolidated statement of e

profit or loss 378 2,570 3,273 6,624 (2,269) (778) 9,803
At 31 December 2018 201812310 629 3,991 14,568 46,556 1,335 78 67,157
At 1 January 2019 120191 A1H 629 3,991 14,568 46,556 1,335 78 67,157
Credited/(charged) to the A/ (ME)

consolidated statement of GRERR

profit or loss 1,145 17,555 15,890 13,404 (1,331) 299 46,962
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H 1,774 21,546 30,458 59,960 4 311 114,119
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

21 EEFRES (&)

Deferred tax liabilities EAEBIHE B
Temporary
Temporary differences on
differences on recognition Undistributed
recognition of fair value profits of
of revenue Land gains on PRC
and cost of appreciation investment  subsidiaries
sales tax properties (Note 28) Total
BRARAR BARENE TENBAR
HERKH ATEREN  WARDRAE
TR#ER TiEEH OR#HEER (H1:228) H)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT  AREFT  AREFT  AEETT  ARETT
At 1 January 2018 201851 A1H 10,844 2,028 6,433 - 19,305
(Credited)/charged to the (GtA)/ MEREBER
consolidated statement
of profit or loss (2,525) (619) 3583 12,319 9,528
At 31 December 2018 12018E12H31H 8,319 1,409 6,786 12,319 28,833
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1R 8,319 1,409 6,786 12,319 28,833
Credited to the TAZABRER
consolidated statement
of profit or loss (1,792) (1,409) (696) - (3,897)
Withholding tax paid BAENH - - - (3,111) (3,111)
Charged to other MEEMm2EKA
comprehensive income (Hizt7)
(Note 7 (b)) - - 2,486 - 2,486
At 31 December 2019 12019512 H31H 6,527 - 8,576 9,208 24,311
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses
could be carried forward for a period of five years to offset
against its future taxable profits. Deferred tax relating to
unutilised tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
RMB5,591,000 (31 December 2018: RMB6,329,000) in respect
of tax losses amounting to approximately RMB22,365,000 as
at 31 December 2019 (81 December 2018: RMB25,317,000).
All these tax losses will expire within five years from the end
of the respective years they arose.

REVENUE

e SRR MR

21 EEEFRES (&)

EEBEEE ()

RIEFEDAEER - ARNTFHEE
2 T TR B 18 DA PR O 4K S EL R PR B RR AR
FE - BRPARBEREHENEL
RLIR TH 0 A] BE B fE A 8 SR A5 A1 R AT i
BRZELERAEERER

MR2019F12A31H + AEBE W EEFIIR
&5 18 4 A R #22,365,0007T (2018412
A318 : AR ¥25317,0007T) ¥ RiE
EFTIS T & = A R ¥5,591,0007T (2018
F12H31H : A K #6,329,0007T) © AT
EZEVEEESESEEFERE
FERNINE -

22 WA

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2019 2018

201945 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT AREFT

Sales of properties METHE 1,971,020 1,881,364
— Recognised at a point in time — A HE B RER 1,907,952 1,376,710
— Recognised over time — R —EREHEAER 63,068 504,654
Rental income He WA 3,040 2,239
1,974,060 1,883,603
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

23 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET

23 Hft s

(B8) — #H

Year ended 31 December
BZE12831HILFEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT
Waiver of the interest payable to A0 FE AR5 e A Y I B (a)

Mr. Lin Peiging (a) 20,128 -
Gain on disposal of an associate (Note 8)  HERL A RIMUES (H#1:38) 548 =
Penalties, fines and compensations for BT YEMNES - S

late delivery of properties K EfE 64 (72)
Exchange gains/(losses) B Wzs (E18) 62 (2,810)
Donations B (1,388) (5,002)
Fair value losses on financial assets at BEAFEEBIERARDN

fair value through profit or loss SRMEEMNAFERE 9) (32)
Listing rewards from local government b 75 R A _E T AR - 1,300
Losses on disposal of property, plant and  HEWE - BEREENEE

equipment - (6)
Others HAftb 176 48

19,581 (6,574)
Note: et -
(@ On 20 March 2019, the Group signed an agreement with Mr. Lin (a) 2019437208 - ANEBEMIEE

Peiging, under which Mr. Lin Peiging agreed to waive the interest
payable due to him of approximately RMB20,128,000. The
Group recognised the waiver as other gain in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24 EXPENSES BY NATURE

e SRR MR

24 EMEBEESTHNER

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing STAHERA - HERTISEER
expenses, administrative expenses and net impairment losses X THRAZEReRMEERNREBEERE

on financial assets are analysed as follows:

FENBERSMAT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2019 2018
2019%F 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE®FR AREF
Costs of properties recognised in profit or loss RERHERATIEKA
- Land use rights and demolition and — R R B BT R B AR
resettlement costs, after deducting THERERRBNZEER
related government grants 321,577 324,850
- Construction costs and capitalised expenditures - BERARBEAMES 773,574 835,680
— Net provision for decline in values of properties - BEHENENREREFE
held for sale (Note 10) (Hiz#10) 25,660 (810)
- Interest capitalised - BAHE 74,526 78,386
Tax and surcharges HERMINE 7,081 8,857
Staff costs (Note 26) BIKA (fi726) 66,254 59,454
Net impairment losses on financial CREENREBRRR
assets (Note 17) () (H:t11) () 44,771 10,704
Advertising and publicity costs BEREBKA 25,084 19,421
Professional fees (b) EXBH(©b) 14,688 9,757
Office and meeting expenses MAEREZER 14,482 12,938
Entertainment expenses BEE 12,324 9,615
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BELREETER
and amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 6) FREEES#E (WiH6) 9,668 4,707
Stamp duty and other taxes ENTER R B 08 9,644 8,911
Sales agent commission HERERS 4,005 2,967
Travelling expenses ERE 1,028 2,219
Rental expenses HeEH 89 2,711
Bank charges R H 272 72
Listing expenses (b) % (o) - 14,555
Other expenses EMER 2,875 3,404
Total cost of sales, selling and marketing HERK « BERTISHERRSI AR
expenses, administrative expenses and net TR BBENER
impairment losses on financial assets BEREERETE 1,407,602 1,408,398
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

MR MR

24 EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Net impairment losses on financial assets of RMB10,704,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was reclassified from
administrative expenses to conform with the presentation for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Listing expenses for 2018 included auditor’s remuneration
of approximately RMB2.1 million for their listing services as
reporting accountant. Professional fees for 2019 included
auditor’s remuneration of RMB2.2 million (2018: RMB1.6 million)
for their annual audit services.

In addition, an amount of RMBO0.7 million for auditor’s listing
services was charged to share premium account upon listing of
the Company in 2018. There was no amount incurred for non-
audit services of auditor during 2019 and 2018.
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24 ZMHEEINER (HF)

HiaE -

(@)

BHFABE E2019F12A31B LFE
2% 5 & ZE2018F12A31H
IEFENSREEREBRFEAR
#10,704,0007T B 17 B X & ¥

2018F M X BIERZHAEA
EH ¥R SHAN IR 4 T AR A T 2+ A%
HEMEHARE21HE T - 2019
FHEXEERAOERFTFERZRS
SN ZEMMe ARE225E T
(2018%F : ARB16EET) °

BEo - B R SRR £ AR IS HI R IBA
R¥0.7ABITNR2018FEARAT £
% 8 IR 7 % BRI - R2019F &
20185 HAM - AR phAZ BRAT BY FEAR 2R
AR TS EE A AR FE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

25 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS) 25 BIFUWA S (BRA)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Finance income EUp Y ON
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITHFRF B UA 1,230 993
Finance costs B RS R AN
— Interest on bank borrowings and — IRITIER R E M KR
other long-term borrowings BEREFE (59,897) (98,466)
— Interest on pre-sale deposits received —BEERESHFE (99,384) (41,628)
— Interest charges on lease liabilities —HEEENERAX (961) -
(160,242) (140,094)
Amount capitalised BEARSFE 86,381 94,823
Finance costs expensed B SHA B ISR AR (73,861) (45,271)
Finance costs — net BTSN — 558 (72,631) (44,278)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

26 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 26 EIRAX (BIEESHE)
EMOLUMENTS)

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETTT

Wages and salaries TERF® 52,544 48,033
Pension RIS 8,496 7,052
Other welfare benefit expenses HiptaFE A 5,214 4,369
66,254 59,454
A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was KRB RERN2018F10H22B L EE
approved and conditionally adopted by the shareholders of the SRR A E R KRR ER
Company by way of a written resolution on 22 October 2018 R E ([ERkERED  ZZ8MAR
for the primary purpose of recognising and acknowledging RAaMRAESE  BEERHAKEEE
the contribution of the directors, employees and other eligible EERRNEMEERSHED
parties who have made valuable contribution to the Group. R o
As of the date of issue of these financial statements, no option HEAYBREBAMBE - HERE
has been granted, agreed to be granted, exercised, cancelled BRE SR EERESRERD
or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. 1718~ S R AR RS R EL IR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments of the Company’s directors paid/payable
by the companies comprising the Group are set out

e SRR MR

27 EX  IEREHFMALIHNE
AREZEREREEEHE
(a) EERBETHRABNME

AEBEETERRENERAA
NAEFNMEHINOT

below:
Salaries Retirement Other
and other  Discretionary scheme social
Name of director Fees allowances bonus  contributions welfares Total
ESt? e FoRHEMEE KERAL  BAHEER EfieRd &3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETE  AREFR ARETR AEETE  AREFT  AREFR
Year ended BE2019%
31 December 2019 12A3ALEE
Executive directors HEE
Mr Li Xiao Bing ZINKESE - 480 300 49 21 850
Ms Qi Chun Feng E&ELL - 480 300 55 21 856
Mr Wang Quan s - 360 144 43 2 568
Mr Wang Zhen Feng ThRELE - 480 300 59 21 860
- 1,800 1,044 206 84 3,134
Independent non-executive ~ BU#HTEZ
directors
Mr, Lee Kwok Lun TEBLE 212 - - - - 212
Mr. Fang Cheng AERE 212 - - - - 212
Mr. Wel Jian iy 212 - - - - 212
636 - - - - 636
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e SRR MR

27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

27 EX - AERGHFMALHNE
AREEREREEENS
(%)

(a)

EERBRETRAENME

(continued) (%)
Salaries Retirement Other
and other Discretionary scheme social
Name of director Fees  allowances bonus contributions welfares Total
EELLE He FeREtEl META  RIGHEMER  AtaegEi i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AEEFL ARETT NEETT  AREFT  ARETE
Vear ended HE018F12A3 ALLEE
31 December 2018
Executive directors HIEE
Mr Li Xiao Bing Tkks - 360 300 80 20 660
Ms Qi Chun Feng EERLL - 360 300 103 20 783
Mr Wang Quan TEE - 282 144 7 20 523
Mr Wang Zhen Feng ety - 390 300 114 20 824
- 1,392 1,044 368 80 2,190
Independent non-executive BUHARZE
directors
Mr. Lee Kiwok Lun it 46 - - - - 46
Mr. Fang Cheng Atk 46 - - - - 46
M. We Jian Ralka 4 - - - - 46
138 - - - - 138

No inducement fees, employer’s contribution to pension
schemes or compensation for loss of office as directors
were given to any of the directors for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR

27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

There was no chief executive who was not also a director
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 include three directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two individuals
are as follows for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018:

27 EX  IEREHFMALIHNE
AREEREREEENS
(&)

(a)

(b)

EERRETRAENME
(&)

H 220194 K2018F12 A31 H ILE
B EEWEREEM L HEME
K FRENEMNSE -

H E20195F K2018F12 A31 H 1L
B BETRANAEENRST
BAB -

TEBREHFMAL

HZE2019F K2018%F12A31H 1E
FE - AEENRER=ETHA
TEE=Z2FE FEOBEE
R EZI DT R o B ZE20194F
N2018F12 A31H I & E » Bt
BT A AT RIH 540
e @

Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AR Fr
Basic salaries, housing allowances, AR EEELM -
other allowances and other HAth 2B R EYF
benefits in kind 1,619 1,438
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e SRR MR

27 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS,

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The annual emoluments fell within the following bands:

27 EX  IEBREHFMALIHNE

AREEREREEENS
(%)

(b) EEBREHFMAL (&)
NFTINREHFEMS

Year ended 31 December
BZE128310ILFE

2019 2018
20194 20184

Annual emoluments bands FEMNE R
HKD Nil to HKD1,000,000 0% t2 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2

(c) For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
director or any of the five highest paid individuals received

any emolument from the Group as an inducement to

join, upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

(d) Senior management’s emolument

The senior management’s annual emoluments (excluding

directors) fell within the following bands:

(c) B=2019F %2018F12A31H 1k
FE UEEEIEANAEES
A L B KB REEA B £
ERIMAIMAREB RN RS
HIERBERAE -

(d EREZEME

it

aREEEFEME (TERERE
) WREMT

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LLEFE

2019 2018
20195 20184

Annual emoluments bands FENE =M
HKD Nil to HKD1,000,000 078752 1,000,000/ 7T 2 2
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e ISR

28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

28 FREBIFX

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT

Current income tax BVERFTIS AR
— PRC land appreciation tax — B I E R 115,386 83,701
- PRC corporate income tax — RS 162,052 112,476
277,438 196,177
Deferred income tax (Note 21) BIEFRSHR (MFE21) (50,859) (279)
Total income tax charged for the year FRAEH S LA 226,579 195,902
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e SRR MR

28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 28 FriSPiEX (&)
The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs HAREEM RS BIAES BaFr
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted BRIARARKAAREBEE TS AR
tax rate of the home country of the companies within the FEEHNEBEMHEGT SRR
Group as follows: BHAFBHT :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILFEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT

Profit before income tax & BT 1S A4 BT A1) 517,344 425,763
PRC land appreciation tax B £ iR (E Y (115,386) (83,701)
401,958 342,062
Income tax calculated at statutory A TE TR 2% T E W FT1SHL
rate of 25% 100,490 85,516
Effect of expenses not deductible for TR ARSI
income tax purposes (Note) SEHE) 9,920 13,573
Tax losses not recognised as deferred REREBELEHRIBEEDN
tax assets FRIEE R 783 793
PRC withholding tax (Note 21) R TEHRL (AVaE21) - 12,319
PRC land appreciation tax o B £ Hh 3B (E R 115,386 83,701
Total income tax expense PS5 X 4858 226,579 195,902
Note: Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes mainly HiaE - TORRNBRAEHNFAZ EEHE
represent entertainment expenses in excess of the prescribed BAEE LROBAEE - DA HA,
cap, non-deductible donations, and interest expenses without MEEREEERZENFNERAX
proper invoices etc. =30
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28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

PRC corporate income tax

Under the Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT”) Law of the PRC,
the CIT rate applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries located in
the PRC from 1 January 2008 is 25%.

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a withholding
tax at 10% for dividends distributed by a PRC-resident
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the
PRC for earnings generated beginning 1 January 2008
and undistributed earnings generated prior to 1 January
2008 are exempted from such withholding tax. A lower 5%
withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate
holding companies are established in Hong Kong according to
the tax treaty arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong.

No deferred PRC withholding income tax was recognised
on the accumulated unremitted distributable profits up to
31 December 2017, which were generated by the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries and are attributable to the investors outside
the PRC. The Group controls the dividend policies of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that the accumulated
unremitted distributable profits up to 31 December 2017 will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Based on the management’s best estimation, deferred income
tax liabilities of RMB12,319,000 as at 31 December 2018
have been recognised for the PRC withholding tax that would
be payable upon remittance, in respect of a portion of the
unremitted distributable profits of certain PRC subsidiaries
attributable to the investors outside the PRC.

During 2019, withholding tax of RMB3,111,111 has been
paid by the Group upon the payment of dividend (Note 30).
No additional deferred income tax charge during the year
ended 31 December 2019 has been recognised for the PRC
withholding tax.

e SRR MR

28 FEHiFE (&)

HEIEERER

BIE(REARLMBECEREFE)
([EEFRBFIA] + K2008F1H1H
HE 3 F B AN £ B A R B A BT B 2 )
TSR E B25% o

REMREBREREEBMARE - +
HERMCERE2008F1A1HEESE
&AM ER AP BRI B ER A
AR E RS - BIE10%M TR R 8 78
I - MHR2008F1 A1 H ZATEER
R IERBFEARZBNT o BIE+E
HEBRITNMBHELE - EEE
ERABREBKIL - 7] #EAREL
5%TAFITI ALK o

AEBWRBEAEE R ERFE
B FRBIBRIMEE E BIEHEZE2017
F12 A31H 2R E 7] 2 R A E
RIEEF BRTENAEH - NEBZEH
ZEMBRARMNKREBEE  BREE
Z2017F12 A1 AWM R REH A 5
EFER AR RTF IR

EREREMSEMT - 3L BRI
WEEREETHRENB AR D
7K B H 7] 5 R A B i 72018412 8
31 A i IE 1 1% & - FR B T8 H1 35 i s A6
RIEFTISTRAE A AR12,319,000
=

M20194F « AEBRIKS R ERFEH
FIEM AR S,111,11170 (M &
30) °» A2019F 128318 * W EHF
BITEE RN IR LTS A -
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28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

PRC corporate income tax (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, deferred PRC withholding income
tax liabilities of RMB82,178,000 (31 December 2018:
RMB62,159,000) have not been recognised on the remaining
unremitted distributable profits of RMB821,776,000 (31
December 2018: RMB621,591,000) of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries.

Land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including lease charges for land use rights and all property
development expenditures, and is included in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss as income tax expense.

Hong Kong profits tax

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the
Group’s companies located in Hong Kong did not have
assessable income subject to Hong Kong profits tax for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Overseas corporate income tax

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands as they were not subject to any tax during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e SRR MR

28 FEHiFE (&)

HEEEREH ()

2019F12A31H » I K 5t A &£ B
R T A B AR T R BE AT R A
B A R #821,776,0007T (2018412
A31H : A R #621,591,0007T)
RECHEBBNASHABEEARKE
82,178,0007T (2018412 A31H = A
R#62,159,0007T) °

+ R E

B £ 3R (B B T R FRB0% E60%H)
REB G LR EREU - i
B8R E WS 3RR A R R
X (BRI wEREEHES L MAE
MEERFAX)  UREEBERAT
TEFBHAX °

BEBNES

HRAMNEBFERE X B16.5% °
E £20194F &20184 128318 Ik 4
B BRAEEREBHN A AN EE
BRBMBETEHOERBBKA
R EEL B BFSHBME

ISR

# =20194F N&2018412H31H 1k F
B r-BHREHSHEREBLAR R
SEE R AvA: J/NCTE s FF E R
I8 - S Z S A R R T IE R o
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e SRR MR

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE 29 BERER

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s BFRREREF ThiRFE AR R B RER
profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company by the BEABEARSBE R BERAD BTE
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during AR INEF DG E - RET2018
the year. In determining the weighted average number of FHNEBRITROMEFESEHE B
shares in issue during 2018, the 899,900,000 shares issued 2018F11A12A L E BB AR
and allotted through capitalisation of the share premium AR % B BR B AN i 2 1T S &Y
account of the Company upon Listing on 12 November 2018 899,900,000/% % 17 # 1% & E 82018
were deemed to have been in issue since 1 January 2018. F1H1HBETT -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
The Group’s profit attributable to owners of 72 &1#E A A FE(L 25 & B 78
the Company (RMB’000) (AR®T ) 293,040 224,505
Weighted average number of ordinary BT S MR N T &
shares in issue ('000) (FA%) 1,200,000 940,274
Basic and diluted earnings per share SR E AR & #SEZ T
(expressed in RMB) (KAARBABEAR) 0.24 0.24
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, diluted #H £20194F K2018F12H318 Ik F
earnings per share was equal to the basic earnings per share B BRBIEEERD - WEREE
as there were no dilutive shares. BNEERTRERZF -
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30 DIVIDENDS

30 kB

Year ended 31 December
BZE128310ILFE

2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETFT
(i) Dividend payable at the end of the () RIREEBRERSRE
reporting period - -
(i) Dividend paid in cash during the years (i) & 220194 K£20184F12
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 AS1BELEFEURSINHH
AR B 62,240 -
(i) Dividend not recognised at the end of (i) ¥R BAZR R FER R IR S
the reporting period (Note) (H:z) - 60,000

Note: On 28 March 2019, the directors have recommended the

HiaE -

payment of a final dividend of HK5.9 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB5.0 cents) per fully paid ordinary share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018. Such proposed

dividend is not recognised as a liability at 2018 year end. The

dividend was approved at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 24 May 2019, and fully paid out by 30 June

2019.

No dividend was declared or proposed for the year ended 31

December 2019.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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MR201943H28H * EEEEZ 5
HZE2018F 12 A31H ILFEIR{F R
AR B TR R E @ Aks.978 L (48
ERHARES.0D) - ZEBRE
R2018F R A ERBBEE - K
B EER201995 248 £ 17K
ARIREAF RS FEBE - W
201946 A30H AIBEURST ©
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Kk ZREREMBS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

31 RERERERMEE

(a) Net cash generated from operations (a) RETHELHESFE
2019 2018
2019% 2018%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Profit before income tax B P45 350 A A1 517,344 425,763
Adjustments for: BRI S IEEL FHEE -
— Depreciation of property, plant and  — % - E RSB EFTENU R
equipment and amortisation of CPREEERE (Ait24)
right-of-use assets (Note 24) 9,668 4,707
— Interest expenses (Note 25) — FBRX (#1:225) 73,861 45,271
— Waiver of the interest payable to — B IE MR IB Se R B
Mr. Lin Peiging (Note 23) (H1:23) (20,128) -
— Losses on disposal of property, plant — HEY¥ - FE R EEE
and equipment (Note 23) (H1:223) - 6
— Allowance for impairment of — EWERIBE R B E (fiF24)
receivables (Note 24) 44,771 10,704
— Net provision for decline in values of — ${EHE W2 MR E
properties held for sale (Note 10) BT (faE10) 25,660 -
— Interest income (Note 25) — FBWA (#:225) (1,230) (993)
— Fair value gains on investment — REMEN A FERZE
properties (Note 7) (MaE7) (4,484) (1,410)
— Fair value losses on financial assets — IR AFEFEBIERARNS
at fair value through profit or loss MEENAFEEE
(Note 23) (K1it23) 9 32
Changes in working capital LEEGEE
— Prepayments for leasehold land — MHE T TE T FRIE (208,707) (165,122)
— Properties held or under development — 33 {EH & sf 53 1 E ¥ 2
for sale (1,159,352) (192,908)
— Trade and other receivables and — B 5 NE M EWFIAF A
prepayments A (32,054) 38,682
— Contract assets —aREE (63) (721)
— Contract liabilities —EAREE 572,455 622,867
— Trade and other payables — B 5 KEMENKIE 227,841 38,583
Net cash generated from operations A& & EEE AR & F5E 45,591 825,461
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MR MR

31 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Major non-cash transactions

(c)

On 20 March 2019, the Group signed an agreement
with Mr. Lin Peiging, under which Mr. Lin agreed to
waive the interest payable due to him of approximately
RMB20,128,000 (Note 23(a)).

On 21 December 2018, the Group signed a series of
settlement agreements with a non-financial institution and
the local government, under which the local government
repaid the Group’s borrowing due to the non-financial
institution amounting to RMB247,346,000 on behalf of
the Group for settlement of the Group’s receivables due
from the local government of the same amount.

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

31 RERTRERME (F)

(b) EEFRERS

(c)

201943 A20H + A& BE HE M
BEEEEMFE - Bt - Mk
EREZREENEMNSHELA
R#20,128,0007T (M{zE23(a)) °

201812 A218 » /K & [F
L RBER EHBTRET — &
HIFIERHhas - BB UL - S IR
EAEEEEASEEMNES
b8 18 XA R #247,346,000
T ARBEEREBERE X
FIHE R & BB 8 FEULFRIR ©

HEWHE BERREREN
H

EGAaRERERT HEY
¥ BELRREREFAEBE

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE

2019 2018

2019%F 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARETT

Net book value (Note 6) BREVFE (Ki26) 48 172
Losses on disposal of property, plant  HE¥E - BE &KX EEIE

and equipment (Note 23) ze)) - (6)

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDE  BENEE
plant and equipment FT1S 5078 48 166
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31 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

arising from financing activities, including both cash

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing

31 RERTRERME (F)

(d) MEFBFREENEEHIR

TRAVBMEEBMEENALE

BaENEHIFR

BERE R

FRSE MERDFELN
BEARAKREGARERER
PR BRERSAELNE
ERENBEXRKESRE -

activities.
Temporary
funding
payable
(included Advance
Other Other in trade froma
Bank  long-term current  and other Lease minority
borrowings  borrowings  borrowings payables) liabilities  shareholder Total
BRESE
Qe
RS  EfERE  (GABRR L2 |
RER 3 B EfEAFE) BERE  RRBR it
AMB'000 RMB000 AMB'000 ARMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT  \EETR  AREFL AREFT ARETT ABETT ARETR
At 1 January 2018 201851518 570000 1,224,670 66,902 21,375 - - 1888847
Financing net cash flows HEFRERE (345,000 (185,660) (16,062) (15,605 - - (562,327)
Non-cash changes Fhreky - (198,400 (0,840) - - - (4t 240)
At 31 December 2018 142018%1231R 225,000 845,510 - 1,770 - - 1,082280
Recognised on adoption of HlieS S Sy ]|
HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) E1654RR (h22) - - - - 14,048 - 14,018
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1A1A 225,000 845,510 - 1,710 14,248 - 1,096,528
Financing net cash flows BEENENE 66,000 (70,410) - (3,321) (3,662) 30,900 19,507
Non-cash changes HasE - - - - 8,845 - 8,845
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12831R 291,000 775,100 - 8,449 19,431 30000 1,124,880
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32 COMMITMENTS 32 AEE
(a) Property development expenditure commitments (a) YRR RIE
Property development expenditure committed at 31 20194 2018412 431 H E &
December 2019 and 2018 but not vyet incurred is as MR E LMY FEERF W
follows: i
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR F T
Contracted but not provided for BRI 4B REE 1,032,545 627,756
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e SRR MR

32 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 32 &iE ()

(b) Operating lease commitments (b) KEHERE

The Group leases a building under a non-cancellable
operating lease agreement. The future aggregate minimum
lease payments under the non-cancellable operating lease
are as follows:

AEERBETAIHELEHE D
HEA—RET - TAIHELE
MEE TR ARREEE S 58
BEIIT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Within 1 year 1F A - 2,816
1-5 years =55 - 8,800
Over 5 years 5F A - 7,444
- 19,060

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties held under leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The
Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 January
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these
leases (see Note 2.2). From 1 January 2019 onwards,
future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the statement of financial position in accordance
with the policies set out in Note 2.2. Accordingly, as
at 31 December 2019, there was no operating lease
commitment not already accrued for in the consolidated
financial statements.

AEBEAREHERENETY
EHAFEBAAN  ZEHELRBE
BB ENEITHROEALE
HE - REBEEVZRALBEE]
BB EERE ST B HmESE
BIZE16%E - fEUL A AT - AEE
R201951 A1 B AR A4 54 A
BREZZHEEEANHEA R
(2 R KM 5E2.2) - B201941 H 1
Hit - RRBENRETBMR
KPIRIEH 2. 2P S BUERER A
MEAE - ALt - R2019612H
318 - &R & BT ik I £ H R
TR AS & T EAIE o
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33 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

33 ERMERRIARERE

As at 31 December

M12H31H

2019 2018

2019%F 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F ARETFT
Guarantees in respect of mortgage BMAEENETEEEN
facilities for certain purchasers of the ZI8 R E B MR ()

Group’s properties (a) 3,133,547 2,098,954

3,133,547 2,098,954

Note:

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of these purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees
will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance and transfer of
the real estate ownership certificate, or (i) the satisfaction of
mortgage loans by the purchasers of the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal together
with accrued interest owed by the defaulting purchasers to the
banks and the Group is entitled to take over the legal title and
possession of the related properties after the relevant legal
procedures. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the date
of grant of mortgage. The directors consider that the likelihood of
default of payments by the purchasers is minimal and therefore
the financial guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Hit -

(@)

AEEERAKRENETEEERY
RITEE  IRERNERE RS
BR ZFERERNELREER
WERBRE ; S()ERFEENRS
ER (ARFELE) BRIE -

REBEFRGER  EZFBEEEHBRR
BENRE  AREARRRRTEER
ENBEERRORBASER B
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BRABZERRYENAIAZELAN
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common
control. Members of key management and their close
family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.

Name

mE A8

e SRR MR

34 LRSS
(a) RBREERIH T HIBIE

AN EERIMEES S
=77 HEFH R REERE
REHZ—TELEERTEN
B Rl - WES T RH
RIS - B IR4% 4R S48 B R R -
AEETZ2EEEXE RREFEI
BIMEALAERARE TS ©

Relationship with the Group
BEAKEHEEFR

Mr Li Xiao Bing (Z/)\ik)
/NGRS A

Mr Lin Peiging (#£:%3)
ESE S

Ms Li Man (Z£)
e+

Ms Lin Wei (#k28)
MRIE &2 £+

Mr Wang Zhen Feng (E & &)
TiRIE 5 E

Mr Wang Quan (E#)
FHRESEAE

Ms Qi Chun Feng (&)
mERZ L

Mr Zhang Jun Feng (3R1Z1£)
SRIBIE S

Mr Li Shi Xun (Z=ttt )
i B A

Controlling shareholder of the Company

AR B AR

Member of Mr Li Xiao Bing’s family
FNKFERRIER B

Member of Mr Li Xiao Bing’s family
FINKFEENRIEKE

Member of Mr Li Xiao Bing’s family
FNKFEENRIEKE

Director of the Company

ARARES

Director of the Company

RRAES

Director of the Company

ZAUNCIF-- 2

Family member of Ms Qi Chun Feng
EERLLTOREKE

Key management of the Company

ARBEBEEEAR
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties
(continued)

Name

rE BB

34 BMARS (&)

(a) BRKEERB S HNEER ()

Relationship with the Group
BEAEE R

Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited
(“Ever Enrichment”)

EBEERERAR ([MEH])

Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited
(“Ever Enhancement”)

BALEARAR (EF])

Henan Hengda Investment Company Limited
(“Hengda Investment”) (Note)
MEEERERRAR (MBEKRE]) (#:t)

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Company Limited*

FrEEEYMEEIE AR AR (‘Hengda Property
Management”) (Note)
HEEEVMEEREARAR ([EEZWMEER]) (K:F)

Xuchang City Second Construction (Group)
Company Limited* FFEM S —EE (£E) BRAR)
(“Xuchang Erjian”)

FFEMRE_REE (KE) BRAR) ([FFEZ&D)

Xuchang Hengjiu Industrial Development Company Limited*

(FEBABEZERABRAR]) (“‘Hengjiu Industrial”)
AEBAEXZERERAR ([BAEE])
* English name for identification only
Note:
Mr. Li Dong Fa disposed of his direct/indirect equity interest in

Hengda Investment and Hengda Property Management to Mr. Li
Xiao Bing in June 2018.
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Shareholder of the Company

/NG S

Shareholder of the Company

EN/NGI S

Controlled by Mr Li Xiao Bing

F 2=/ NIk S A PR

Controlled by Mr Li Xiao Bing

H 25/ Kk 5T AR

Controlled by Mr Li Dong Fa

B 2 BROR SE AR

Controlled by Ms Qi Chun Feng

F 75 A R 2 2

Y RXAEERER

Hitt -

FRIE L ER20185F6 A [ ZF /N k 5t & &)
WEEREREBENXEENER BERE -
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 34 BAE(A X3 (4&)

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEEBLHRS
The following is a summary of the significant transactions AEEEAEB S ETHEARAR
carried out between the Group and its related parties: SBEWT :
(1) Discontinued transactions with related (1) EEBINERLRS
parties
(i)  Repayment of temporary funding from related () KEEH T IEEN
parties HEE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AE¥TFT

— Xuchang Erjian —HFE_# - 6,910
— Ever Enrichment — 188 - 19
— Ever Enhancement — 187 - 18
— Mr Li Xiao Bing — /NGRS - 1

- 6,948
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e MR

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(1) Discontinued transactions with related
parties (continued)

(i) Temporary funding repaid to related parties

34 AR (&)

(b) EHREABLNRS (&)

(1) EEBEINERLERS
(&)
(i) 1E1S T BB ) i b5

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AREF T

— Mr Li Xiao Bing — kA - 12,486

(i) Construction services provided by related
parties

(i) [ B ke 7 i i AR
7

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A318LLFE

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREF T

— Hengjiu Industrial —BAEE - 3,801
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(1) Discontinued transactions with

parties (continued)

related

(iv) Sales of properties to related parties

e ISR

34 AR (&)

(b) EREBLINRS (&)

K

(1) EEBINERLERS
(&)

(iv) 5] B8 77 (F i /9 ) %
HE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HILEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AR FT

- Ms Lin Wei — M+ 16,127 5
- Ms Qi Chun Feng - BERERZ L 5,788 -
- Mr Wang Zhen Feng — FiRIE 4 2,543 660
— Mr Wang Quan — FRERE 1,294 v
— Mr Zhang Jun Feng — REEFLE - 65
- Ms Li Man —FERE - 4,050
25,752 4,787
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 34 BAE(A X3 (4&)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(2) Continuing transactions with related parties

(i) Services provided by related parties

(b) EHREABLNRS (&)

(2) EERBLSNFEXRS

() B IR ARTE
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARET T

— Xuchang Erjian —HFEI& - 41,348
- Hengda Property Management — EEYEESIE 6,401 4,560
6,401 45,908

(i) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and senior
management staff. The compensation paid
or payable to key management for employee
services is shown below:

(1)

FEEEABHE

S

TEEBANEBREES

SREEAS - BilE
BRBENIERNEE
ERABNBMETIRM
B

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLLEFEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Salaries and other short-term e M H 5T Hp
employee benefits BEERF 4,367 3,647
Post-employment benefits RORIE A 386 579
4,753 4,226

268 Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 34 BAE(A X3 (4&)

(c) Related-party balances

The Group has the following balances with related parties:

(i) Construction deposits from related parties

(c) BAERR &tk
RERE A A T RaR 7 4585 -
() REBBIHEEES

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

— Xuchang Erjian —GFE-F 15,727 16,821
- Hengda Property Management — [EEYEEE 31 31
- Hengjiu Industrial —[BAEE 1,118 1,452

16,876 18,304
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e SRR MR

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Related-party balances (continued)

The Group has the following balances with related parties:

(i)

(iii)

Trade payables due to related parties

34 BMARS (&)

(c) ML &ER (&)
REREEA AT BB T7 8

(i) ENEABINEZESRK
H

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018
2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT

- Xuchang Erjian —HFE_&#

17,704 35,067

Trade payables due to related parties arose from
purchase transactions. The payables bear no
interest.

Interest payable due to related parties

FETBREE T MY & 5 FE 5 5UOR
KEBERS - ZERMAK
BTER »

(iii) FEEAEE T K BN RIS

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARET T

Mr Lin Peiging (Note 23 (a)) MEEB ST
(#2223 (a)

- 20,128

Interest payable due to related parties arose from
temporary funding from related parties. These
balance are due on demand.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

e ISR

35 ARAWHBRRRKFER

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY )
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HieE AEB¥For ARETFr
ASSETS BE
Other receivable H b e U 5018 255,241 259,611
Dividend receivable &S IR B, 76,960 104,960
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREEEY 2,186 46,648
Total assets HEE 334,387 411,219
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of 72 F#EA AEGREZS
the Company
Share capital N 14 10,645 10,645
Share premium WeAn (B 14,(a) 299,188 299,188
(Accumulated losses)/Retained (2HEEHE),REAEF (a)
earnings (2,449) 65,316
Total equity BRER 307,384 375,149
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables 2B 5 R HEH M FERNRIE 27,003 36,070
Total liabilities HWEE 27,003 36,070
Total equity and liabilities HERRERE 334,387 411,219
The statement of financial position of the Company was AR A B & AR 2R B 78202043 30

approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 and

was signed on its behalf by:

Li Xiao Bing Z/)\ik
Director %

H

2

HEZFSHERAATALIRAER

Wang

Zhen Feng T iRlE

Director &%
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Note:

(@) Reserve movements of the Company

B (&)

Hat

(@) ADFNFERE

35 ARAWHBRRRKFES

(Accumulated

losses)/
Share retained
premium earnings
(R&tE|),
B AR R B REER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFr AR®TFT
Balance at 1 January 2018 M2018F1 51 B AR = (13,636)
Comprehensive income ZEIKEA
Profit for the year F A F = 78,952
Total comprehensive income for FRE2AEBALLE
the year - 78,952
Transactions with owners HEBANRS
Issuance of ordinary shares BITEBR 307,171 -
Capitalisation Issue BEARLEEAT (7,983) -
Total transactions with owners HEBANRZHE 299,188 =
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F12 431 H K45 &R 299,188 65,316
Balance at 1 January 2019 201941 A1 B K& &R 299,188 65,316
Comprehensive losses 2HEEE
Loss for the year FRAEE - (5,525)
Total comprehensive losses for the year FRE2HEEEEE - (5,525)
Transactions with owners HEBANRS
2018 final dividend 2018F REAME B - (62,240)
Total transactions with owners HEFANTZHE - (62,240)
Balance at 31 December 2019 MR2019F12 531 H &5 &k 299,188 (2,449)
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36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 are set out below:

Subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI

Date of
incorporation/
Company name establishment Issued
EMRL,
NGRS M BH E#1T

e ISR

36 MEBLRFE

20194 2018412 A31 H A& B M
BARKFEIFEIIAT ¢

T B BB 4 T S BF B R A B SZ B B B

A

Percentage of attributable
equity interest as at
31 December

R12B31BELEREB DL

2019 2018  Principal activities

20195 2018F EEEK

Dadi Development Limited 10 June 2013 USD1
RiERBR DA 201836108 1%L

100% 100% Investment holding
100% 100% KREER

Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong

Date of
incorporation/
Company name establishment Issued
B3 A
NGIECE RA=R- 21T

RE B MR LAY E 2 F

Percentage of attributable
equity interest as at
31 December
M12A31BEGERER L

2019 2018 Principal activities

20195 2018F FEE

Dadi (Hong Kong) Enterprise 14 March 2012  HKD100
Co., Limited
Kih (%) ©EBRAR 20126838148 10087

100% 100% Investment holding

100% 100% IREZER
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36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC

36 MEBARFHE (F)

R SRR KB A

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest as at
31 December

Date of Place of M2A31 B R RE
incorporation/  incorporation and MEDL
Company name establishment  kind of legal entity Registered 2019 2018  Principal activities
B3l AR A3t 2
AREH JA=p: REAREER it 2019 2018 EEEK
'000
Fr
Henan Dadi Property 29 July 1992 The PRC, domestic USD2,500 100% 100%  Investment holding in
Development Company company with the PRC
Limited (“Henan Dadi”) limited liability,
wholly foreign
owned enterprise
AEAMEHEREARAR 1992577208 +ERNEERES 2,500% 7T 100% 100% RPEHNREER
(DA ]) RAl - SEBERE
Xuchang Hengda Property 3 June 1998 The PRC, domestic RMB60,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Group Company Limited company with development and
(“Xuchang Hengda”) limited liability house renting in the
PRC
EEERMEREARAR 1998F6A3H  FENEEREALA ARE 100% 100% RPENFEHERER
([FFrefEE]) 60,0007C FERE
Xuchang Songji Dadi 7 November 2007  The PRC, domestic RMB50,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Property Company Limited company with development and
(“Songji Dadi”)(a) limited liability house renting in the
PRC
HEREAMEEXERAR  2007F11A7TE REREEREAAH ARE 100% 100% RPESFEHERER
(TREX)) (@) 50,0007 FERE
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e SRR MR

36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

36 MELARFHE (&)

RPBEFEMRIOKBQR (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest as at

31 December

Date of Place of M2A31 B R RE
incorporation/  incorporation and MEDLE
Company name establishment  kind of legal entity Registered 2019 2018  Principal activities
Bl e AR A3t 2
NCET A=p: REAREESR it 2019 2018 FEEK
’000
Fr
Xinyang Hengda Property 5 March 2008 The PRC, domestic RMB30,000 88.88% 88.88%  Real estate
Development Company company with development
Limited (“Xinyang Hengda”) limited liability in the PRC
EREEFEHERREARAR 2008F3A58  HENEERELLA ARE  88.88%  88.88% MPEMEMERE
(I=REE]) 30,0007C
Yuzhou City Hengda Property 4 September 2009 The PRC, domestic ~ RMB100,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Gompany Limited (“Yuzhou company with development and
Hengda’) limited liability house renting in the
PRC
BINMEERMEEREELR 2009F9A4H  FERNEEREALA ARH 100% 100% RePEHFEHERER
Al ([BMEE]) 100,0007 FEHE
Changge City Hengda 15 May 2011 The PRC, domestic RMB60,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Property Company Limited company with development and
(“Changge Hengda”) limited liability house renting in the
PRC
REMEEEMERBLAR 2011558158  HEARNEEREAAR AE® 100% 100% RPENEHERER
((REE\E]) 60,0007C FEHE
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36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

36 MEBARFHE (F)

RPBEFZEMRINKHBLR (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest as at
31 December

Date of Place of M2A31 B R RE
incorporation/  incorporation and MEDL
Company name establishment  kind of legal entity Registered 2019 2018  Principal activities
Bl e A AR A3t 2
ARER B B REAREER i 2019 20185 FEEK
'000
Fr

Xuchang Jiari Baocheng 2 June 2011 The PRC, domestic RMB50,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Property Company Limited company with development
(“Jiari Baocheng”) limited liability in the PRC

STERPEZEXEBAR 2011F6A28 HEREBREAAR AR® 100% 100% RePBENEHERE
(MREEZ)) 50,0007C

Xuchang City Jian’an District 25 January 2016 The PRC, domestic RMB10,000 51% 51%  Real estate
Hengmu Property Company company with development
Limited (formerly known limited liability in the PRC
as Xuchang County
Hengmu Property Co., Ltd.)

(“Xuchang Hengmu”)

FEMERREARMES 2016518258  HENEEREALA AE® 51% 51% RAHENFEHERS
BT (R4« FEHER 10,0007T
BHEERAR) ([FFEE
A1)

Yuzhou City Hengnuo 13 December 2018 The PRC, domestic USD38,000 100% 100%  Real estate
Property Company Limited company with development and
(“Yuzhou Hengnuo”) limited liability, sino- house renting in the

foreign owned PRC
enterprise

ENTEXEHERZERL 2018512A38 +EREEAREAL 38,000%7T 100% 100% RPESFEHERER
Al ([&MfEs]) Ral - pMRERE FEHRE
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36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (continued)

e SRR MR

36 MELARFHE (&)

RPBEFEMRIOKBQR (&)

Percentage of
attributable equity
interest as at
31 December

Date of Place of M2A31 B R RE
incorporation/  incorporation and WEDLL
Company name establishment  kind of legal entity ~ Registered 2019 2018  Principal activities
Bl e AR L3t 2
NCET A=p: REARBESR it 2019% 2018 FEEK
'000
T

Hennan Damai Property 3 March 2019 The PRC, domestic RMB8,000 100% Real estate brokerage
Marketing planning company with services/Rental
Company Limited (“Henan limited liability agency services/Real
Damai”) estate information

consultation and
housing sales service

MHEREHEZEREER 201963A38  FEANEEREMFAT ARH 100% BHELLRYE /HE
RE (FAmEEE]) 8,0007C RERS / FHER

B REEHER
%

Xuchang Weiheng Property 30 October 2019 The PRC, domestic ~ RMB120,000 100% Real estate
Development Company company with development and
Limited (“Xuchang limited liability house renting in the
Weiheng”) (b) PRC

SERERMEREARAF 2019F10A%08 FENEEREALA AE® 100% RPEREHERER
(TFFEFRE]) () 120,0007C FEHE

Xuchang Yuanda Property 18 January 2019  The PRC, domestic RMB1,400 70% Real estate
Company Limited* company with development in the
(“Xuchang Yuanda”) limited liability PRC

TEREEEXARAR (8 201918188 +FEREFRELLR ARH 70% R BN EERE
BE]) 1,4007C

* English name for identification only

Y EXERERRR
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36 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries incorporated in PRC (Continued)

(@)

Songji Dadi owned a project (“Songji Dadi — Mingmen Shangju”)
which was developed together with a third party investor.
In accordance with co-development agreement and its
supplemental agreement dated 30 January 2010 and 9 February
2010 respectively, the third party investor owns 49% interest in
this project and therefore is considered a non-controlling interest
of the Group.

On 30 October 2019, Xuchang Hengda set up a subsidiary
Xuchang Weiheng, with a third party, Xuchang Weidu Investment
Company Limited (“Xuchang Weidu”). Xuchang Weiheng was
owned as to 58.33% by Xuchang Hengda and 41.67% by
Xuchang Weidu. The total contribution of Xuchang Weidu to
Xuchang Weiheng amounted to approximately RMB40,000,000.

In accordance with the supplementary agreement which was
entered between Xuchang Hengda and Xuchang Weidu on 10
January 2020, Xuchang Weidu’s equity interest to Xuchang
Weiheng is required to be repurchased by Xuchang Hengda in
the future. The repurchase prices of the equity interests reflect
the fixed returns, and the investment is regarded as a debt.
Xuchang Weiheng is therefore recognised as a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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36 MEBLARFHE (F)

RPBEFZEMRIINKBLR (&)

(@)

RERMHES —EEE ([REKRM —
ZPEED  ZBEBDE-FZE=
FREEHFRE - REBHMDHR
201041 A30H k20102 A9H B &
EREHEREMRGE  ZFE=7
REENZIAB T HE49% &
UL HRAR A 7R SR B ) — TR SE PR i 2

MR20194E10H30H + #F & 18 &= &
—RE=ZHHERBEEFRAR
(TRFE240)) B — KB R ARF
ERE- FEHERFEEEREE
58.83% =  FTEEREMEH41.67%
o TERBETERELTELD
AR #40,000,0007T °

R IR AT & 1852 E5F 5 3 #02020%F
1108 T SZ A0 FE 1h o - 7T & BHAD
REFERER B/ R AR EEE
BB o fRE DB I B A% 8 R R [E] 5 (2]
o MEMKEARERER - 575
REAGRERR/AEENZEMN B

A -
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37 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 were approximately RMB17,551,000 and
RMB19,826,000 respectively. Set out below is summarised
financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed
for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

37

BREEAFEREZNNELQ

AN BEERHE

R20194F &2018%F 12 431 H R FE4E %
= BEDRNAR ARK17,551,000
7T & A R #19,826,0007T ° | X #71)
BEHASEBEAMNIFIERERL
MEBRARIMMBEREE - H 5B
NAEFTHRERH & 818 A Bl 5 8 ATy

SF o
Summarised statement of financial position BB R R E
Songji Dadi-Mingmen
Xuchang Hengmu Xinyang Hengda Shangju
HEER EhHiEE REAH# - B E
As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December
M12A31H R12A31H R12A31H
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019% 2018% 2019% 2018% 2019% 20185
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFL ANEEFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Current; e :
Assets EE 89,460 34,736 70,710 72,010 66,761 142,445
Liabilities A& (84,320 (26,891) (1,169) (2,169) (56,572) (130,178)
Total current net assets RYEEFELE 5,140 7,845 69,541 69,841 10,189 12,267
Non-current; FERE
Assets BE 1,103 480 20 353 8 266
Liabilities A& - - - (130) -
Total non-current net assets FRYEEFERE 1,103 480 20 223 8 266
Net assets BEFE 6,243 8,325 69,561 70,064 10,197 12,633
Net assets attrioutable to FEREGRGAETE
non- controlling interests 3,060 4,079 7,735 7,791 4,996 6,141
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37 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 37 BEEXRFEREROKELD
ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- AN B EREE (&)
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other EEkEMEEKRZERUE
comprehensive income

Songji Dadi-Mingmen

Xuchang Hengmu Xinyang Hengda Shangju
FEER rhEE REAH - BME B
Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE BZ12A31BLEE BZ12A31BLEE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

20195 2018%F 20195 20184 2019F 20185
RMB'000  RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000  RMB'000

ARRFL ANEETT ARBTnT ARETT ARMFr ARETT

Revenue WA - - 46 14,147 664 3,326
(Lossyprofit before income tax ~~ BRATSHLAT (BE)/FIE  (2,708) (869) (503) 4,321 (2,345) 71
Income tax expense FERAS 623 157 - (7,044) 8 12,184
Post-tax (loss)/profit itk (B18)/ 58 (2,082) (706) (503) (2,723) (2,337) 12,255
Total comprehensive (oss)income 2 (B8),/ RALE (2,082) (706) (503) (2,729) (2,337) 12,255

ot

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 3Hﬁﬂ%§ﬁ?&ﬁ§1£ 20|
attributable to (B8)/ A2

non-controlling interests (1,020) (346) (56) (303) (1,145) 6,005
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37 SUMMARISED FINANCIAL

INFORMATION

ON SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Summarised cash flows

Xuchang Hengmu
FEEX

Years ended

31 December

e SRR MR

37 BEERFERESNNE L

AT BERSRE (&)

REREME
Songji Dadi-Mingmen
Xinyang Hengda Shangju
fEREE REAM - ZMHE

Years ended Years ended

31 December 31 December

BZ12B3ALEE BZ12B3BLEE BZ12B31ALEE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019% 2018% 2019% 20185 2019% 20185
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL  ANRETT AREFIZ ARETT AREFT AREFI
Cash flows from operating BEEHHERLTE
activities:
Cash (used in)/generated 2E (fR)/ELRS
from operations (37,023 79 (1,030) 6,897 178 9,808
Income tax paid BAFMEH (808) (212) (130) (3,331) (332) (477)
Net cash (used in)/generated meEy (FR)/ EE
from operating activities Re R (37,831) (133) (1,160) 3,566 (154) 9,331
Net cash used in investing activities &2 EE)FTAE & /58 - - - (2,000) - (9,363)
Net cash generated from financing Bl & EEIEAR S FE
activities 43,898 = - = - =
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRBESEEMEmM/
and cash equivalents () F8 6,067 (183) (1,160) 1,566 (154) (32)
Cash and cash equivalents at ENNRERREEEY
beginning of the year 154 287 1,997 431 399 431
Cash and cash equivalents at ERARE KA SED
end of the year 6,221 154 837 1,997 245 399
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38 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented
across the country. The Group will pay close attention to
the development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its
impact on the financial position and operating results of the
Group. As at the date on which these financial statements
were authorised for issue, the Group was not aware of any
material adverse effects on the financial statements as a result
of the COVID-19 outbreak.The COVID-19 outbreak is a non-
adjusting subsequent event and its impact will only be taken
into account in the Group’s financial statements subsequent
to 31 December 2019.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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38 MERKER

1E20204F 4 ] /& 201978 M 7k S A
([CoVID-19%15]) & - 2BIEME T
WiGEEE R — RINPIEREE - A%
B =8 ECOVID-19Z IR E
A AT il % 16 3 2N &R B B S AR O I A
FENTE NIt M SRR ERE
FEEE R - AEEHAMAECOVID-19
ZIRH P B MK ENE A ERTH
Z. ATERRSERBHEIEAE
=IH 0 HFZER2019F12A31HE
BRI AN EBMBEmEPER o



Financial Summary

M=

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-—A=+—HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NAEFE ZE-N\F ZE—tF ZT-—RF —T—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFT ANREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue A 1,974,060 1,883,603 1,549,878 930,859 1,038,296
Profit for the year F R A 290,765 229,861 149,409 76,766 72,484
Profit for the year ZIN/NEIE? YN
attributable to JEAE F a Al
owners of the
Company 293,040 224,505 147,794 74,108 67,010
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hE —T-N\F —T—+F —T—FF —T—AHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFRT AREFIT AREFIT AREFT AREFT
Non-current assets EMENE E 259,546 173,871 154,818 71,586 51,317
Current assets mMEEE 6,266,843 5,030,664 4,534,443 4,193,964 4,277,888
Total assets BEHERE 6,526,389 5,204,535 4,689,261 4,265,550 4,329,205
Non-current liabilities ERFEE 461,710 622,436 1,159,742 1,266,990 1,473,391
Current liabilities mBEE 4,831,180 3,584,584 3,071,697 2,694,903 2,545,020
Total liabilities BBz 5,292,890 4,207,020 4,231,439 3,961,893 4,018,411
Total equity SRR 1,233,499 997,515 457,822 303,657 310,794
Total equity ZiN/NCTEZZEN
attributable to JE(L R AR
owners of the
Company 1,215,948 977,689 443,352 295,508 227,367
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Financial Summary

M=

Note 1.  The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the
year ended 31 December 2015 which was extracted from
the prospectus of the Company dated 30 October 2018
(“Prospectus”) have been prepared on a combined basis to
indicate the results of the Group as if the group structure, at the
time when the Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, has been in existence throughout that
year.

Note 2:  The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2017 were extracted from the
Prospectus.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

List of Principal Properties

REWMZR
Interest Approximate
attributable total gross
Properties to the Group floor area Type Lease term
(s9.m.)
L/ rEEEGER BOLEREEE 8 HE
(5K
Hengdali Market 100% 3,596 Commercial 40 years from 7 October
1996 to 6 October 2036
BERImS B 1996F10A7RE
20365 10A6H + AH406F
105 retail units on Level 2, the retail podium of
Hengdali Market, the west of the northern section
of Jiefang Road, Weidu District, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the PRC
H B F A AT & T AR AR AR A 3L B AR
BENTHNEET R 2AEM105EZE B
Xingshu Garden 100% 3,462 Commercial 50 years from 20 December
2002 to 19 December 2052
TEEE GRS 2002612 A208 E
2052612 A198 + AHI50F
20 retail units on Level 2 and Level 3, the retall
podium of Xingshu Garden, the middle section of
Qiyi Road, Weidu District, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the PRC
REI A FETRAE T —ERRER
TEEENTET A2 REM20ETE BN
Longhu Building 100% 428 Residential 70 years from 16 February

AR

Unit 2301 on Level 23 and Level 24, Longhu Building,
No. 9 Shangwu Inner Ring Road, Zhengdong New
District, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC

b B g A BN B R T [ A TS IR BA 0%

B AE23M24E /123018 T

2003 to 15 February 2073
FE 2003F2A16HE
207352R150 + AEI70%
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List of Principal Properties

Interest Approximate
attributable total gross
Properties to the Group floor area Type Lease term
(sq.m.)
L/ AEEEGES BOLEFEEE HA HE
(K
King of the North 100% 13,223 Commercial 40 years from 20 February
2014 to 19 February 2054
pAicY: 2 GRS 201452R208 %
20542 F19H + AH40F
Block 1, King of the North, the junction of
Jingshui Road and Longquan Road, Jian’an District,
Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC
AR TRER R KR &
BERER X OGN E
Xida Jie Office 100% 2,350 Office 70 years from 1 January 1982
to 31 December 2051
BRI AE N 1982F1 B1AE20514F
12A318 « BE705
No. 563, West Avenue, Weidu District,
Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC
HR B B A AT & T AR EDE P A 1375635
Hengda Weiyuan 100% 2,294 Commercial 40 years from 8 September
2017 to 7 September 2057
BERR [ 201749 A8H E20574F

A retail unit on Basement Level 1,

Commercial Block 5 of Hengda Weiyuan,

the Junction of Laodong Road and Remin Road,

Weidu District, Xuchang, Henan Province, the PRC
mEAEETEMRAHRSBREARKRXOEER

RoRERE BN T1ETEEN

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARAR

9R7H & AHl40F



List of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

FREPRY=R
Approximate
total gross
Interest  Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area  development Type completion Progress
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
G
nE rEEELES BOSREER BOREEER  8R FstER A H ERMR
(FAXK) (FAxX)
NAPA Xidi 100% 88,920 91,650 Residential and December 2020 Under construction
commercial
NAPAZt, € B 2020%12R TRR#EH
Located at the south of
Xindong Street and the
east of Xingye Road, Weidu
District, Xuchang City,
Henan Province, the PRC
BT E T EmREE
MR REREIAR
Jinhui Plaza 100% 33,430 174,280  Commercial June 2023 Under construction

properties and
offices premises

tEES GEIS N 20236 A

Located at the north of Bayi
Road and the east of
Beiguan Avenue, Weidu
District, Xuchang City,
Henan Province,
the PRC

e BB A E M AR
N—B& A R BRI R

TRRETH
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List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross

Interest  Approximate floor area

attributable total gross under

Properties to the Group site area  development
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)

GG

nE AEEEGES BOABEERE BOAEEER

(F7K) (FhX)

Estimated

date of
Type completion
5 At TR AH

Progress

ERAR

King of the North 100% 271,114 193,351

bR

Located at the south of
Xinyuan Avenue and the
east of Binhe Road, Jian’an
District, Xuchang City,
Henan Province, the PRC

R E R E S ETRE R
AT RBIAR B EIAR

Mingmen Xijun 100% 63,507 265,376

2l

Located at the east of Wuyi
Road and the south of
Yunlianghe Street, Weidu
District, Xuchang City,
Henan Province, the PRC

e BB A EmE AR
h—BRRA - ERWaEA

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

Residential and December 2023
commercial
FE BE 2023127

Residential and June 2021
commercial
e B 202146 7

Under construction

TR+

Under construction

TR



List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross
Interest  Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area  development Type completion Progress
(sa.m.) (sq.m.)
G
nE FEEEGES BOLBEEE HOLRZEE E FstTR A ERMR

(FhK) (FhK)

Changge Sunshine City 100% 255,379 392,936  Residential and December 2023 Under construction
commercial
REGLH € B% 2023%12R TiRgfH

Located at the south of
Getian Avenue and the
west of HuangdJie Road,
Changge City, Xuchang,
Henan Province, the PRC

R E R EFERENE

RABAR RERE AR
Hengda Binhefu Project 100% 143,330 518,266  Residential and December 2024 Under construction
commercial
EEIARNGEE € B% 202412 TR+

Located at the south of
Binhe Avenue and east of
Xuanyuan Avenue, Yuzhou
City, Xuchang, Henan
Province, the PRC

fr B A T EBMTE
AREAERERAEAR
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List of Principal Properties

Approximate

total gross
Interest  Approximate floor area Estimated
attributable total gross under date of
Properties to the Group site area  development Type completion
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
GG
nE rEEELES BOOREER HOREEER  EH iR A

(F7K) (FhX)

Progress

ERAR

Yuzhou Sunshine GCity 100% 502,535 1,263,007  Residential and March 2025
commercial
SME (BRSO 202553

Located at the north of
Yuwang Boulevard,
south of Binhe Boulevard
and west of Xuanyuan
Boulevard, Yuzhou City,
Xuchang, Henan Province,
the PRC

e B A 2R T &
TRBLALL - BARENE
RERAENE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Under construction

TR+



Board
By

Ever Reach or the Company
BEE RS ARE

Group
REE

Henan Dadi

ABAL

Hengda Investment

Hengda Property Management

IPO
BRAREE

*

Glossary

Board of directors of the Company

EEEBRNESFE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEEGER)ERAR]

Ever Reach and its subsidiaries
BEEREENB AT

Henan Dadi Property Development Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
AEAMEMEREERAR - ARFZHEZERB AR

Henan Hengda Investment Company Limited®, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 17 October 2007 owned approximately by
Mr. Li Xiaobing as to 67.1833%, Mr. Wang Zhenfeng as to 3.3833%,
Ms. Qi Chunfeng as to 18.65%, Mr. Li Shixun as to 2.3833% and Ms.
Chun Xiaojun as to 1.15% (all of whom being connected persons) and
two independent third parties as to the remaining 7.25%, and hence a
connected person of our Company

MEEEREBRAR - —RKN2007F10A17TBERBEKRIHER AR » 9
AlEBZFENKESE s FRELESE BERLZL: FHBEEREREERT (3
AEEANT) % B #967.1833% * 3.3833% * 18.65% * 2.3833% & 1.15%
HARBMBELE = THEEHRT7.25%Esn - Rt AXRQARNEEAL

Xuchang Hengda Property Management Company Limited*, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 1999 wholly owned by
Hengda Investment, and hence a connected person of our Company
HEEEMEEEARAT - —RMN1999F7 ASAEFBIK I HER AT -
HEERELZEHE  AURAARNEEAL

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEEEEY

Initial public offering of Ever Reach
BEZERERAFMEES

English name for identification purpose only
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Glossary

Stock Exchange

B 2P

Listing Rules
ETRA

Model Code
RS ]

PRC

T
RMB
AR

SFO
& 7 M B E Rl

Songji Dadi
REK
Xuchang Hengda

# &l

EB<3

Yuzhou Hengda

RN 1EE

*

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) BRLA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMARHERRAR

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Bz prag s E AR A

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
ETRRIMIEE10M ETBITAEZETES X SHIERESTE

People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report and
except where the context requires otherwise, references to PRC do not
include Taiwan, the Hong Kong Special Administration Region, the Macao
Special Administration Region, of the People’s Republic of China
REARKNME  IRAFRNE  RIEXEBZEME TAUFREETE
FEeE  FEEITHERRPEARAMBEIRFIFRITTHR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR hBUEEER

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
EHFMHEGRD (FEEHIFEST1E)

Xuchang Songji Dadi Property Company Limited*, being an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

HEREAMERERAT  AAAZHERANBAR

Xuchang Hengda Property Group Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
HEEERMESBEEGRAR ARmzRAELZEHEBLAR

Yuzhou City Hengda Property Company Limited*, being an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BMNmEEEHEAREEIAR  ARARZEEZENB AR

English name for identification purpose only
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